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CORPORATE OBJECTIVE
EXER

To become a technologically advanced and
innovative company in Asia and the preferred
partner by providing comprehensive electronics
solutions and building a pet health ecosystem.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman)

Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Lee Kam Hung
Prof. Luk Wing Ching

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven

Mr. Chan Kit Wang

Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Zeng Zhi

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven
Mr. Chan Kit Wang
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants and Registered PIE Auditor

LEGAL ADVISER
MinterEllison LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Citibank, N.A.

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

MUFG Bank, Ltd.

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS

22nd Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre

1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay
Kowloon, Hong Kong

BERMUDA PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
MUFG Fund Service (Bermuda) Limited

26 Burnaby Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PUBLIC RELATIONS CONSULTANT
Strategic Financial Relations Limited

24th Floor, Admiralty Centre |

18 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

CONTACTS

Telephone: (852) 2953 0383
Facsimile: (852) 2953 1523

Website: www.suga.com.hk
Stock code: 912
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBREE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EZZ T —F
FHT TFAET
OPERATING RESULTS SRS
For the year ended 31 March HE=ZA=+—HILEE
Revenue Wz 1,855,875 2,101,573
Gross profit EH 257,733 286,634
Operating profit gEmA 75,933 102,083
Profit attributable to owners of the Company KABHEE AEEF 56,465 79,274
Earnings per share — Basic (HK cents) BREFN — BEX& GBI 19.83 27.96
Interim dividend, paid, per ordinary share (HK cents) SREEREMFHER
(B 6.0 6.0
Final dividend, proposed, per ordinary share (HK cents) EBREEREIRKRERE
(B 6.0 8.0
Special dividend, proposed, per ordinary share (HK cents) SR ZEREIRITHIRE
(B - 3.0
FINANCIAL POSITION BRI
As at 31 March W=B=+—H
Total equity AR 809,959 802,168
Net current assets MEVEEFE 398,413 355,422
Net debt BEPE (64,343) (10,760)
Capital expenditure BEARMAXZ 40,925 114,690
Net assets value per share BREEFE 2.844 2.830
FINANCIAL RATIOS X
Current ratio TRENEEE 1.80 1.68
Debt to equity ratio BEERLEE 25.4% 17.5%
Inventory turnover days FEREBR# 91 61
Debtors turnover days FEUN AR R B #8 H & 61 47
Return on average equity S )i ENEIEES 7.1% 10.6%
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REVENUE BY PRODUCT TYPE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHEE

Wiy 2ok #3272 o 28 51 93 A

For the year ended 31 March
BE=H=+—HLEE

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

—EZHE T4

FAT TFAT

Electronic products BEFEm 1,412,953 1,695,367
Pet related products SEVDAERAE & 442,922 406,206
Total 4ast 1,855,875 2,101,573

REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT

Wi 25 F 3th 3B & 35 53 8 3 #

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLZFE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
B HF _EC—F
FHET FETT
The United States of America (the “USA”) ENRERE (MR 1,196,719 1,222,232
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") hEE ARSEME (THE)) 271,799 439,421
Japan HZx 123,014 152,147
Germany =6 65,875 88,629
Australia B 43,428 56,883
France pFE 38,637 47,067
United Kingdom HE 28,000 24,934
Others Hth 88,403 70,260
Total Kast 1,855,875 2,101,573
Revenue by Product Type Revenue by Geographical Segment
Wi EmBR SR Wit IR @R S E S
1.51% ] 4.76%
76.1% —— ———239% United Kingdom 3% 5] \ \ Others H th
Electronic Pet related
products products o
BTES s E S S ‘_ \_14_55%
>~ ‘ PRC HE]
Australia 8 2022 3.55%

64.48%

USA £ E

Germany 1EE

6.63%

Japan Bz
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Suga International Holdings Limited

Headquarter in Hong Kong
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Factory in Dong Guan
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | hereby present the annual
results of Suga International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“SUGA" or the “Group”) for the financial year ended
31 March 2022.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year, the COVID-19 pandemic situation remained volatile,
hindering the complete normalisation of global material supply and
international shipping cycles. The Omicron variant has also quickly
swept across the world since its emergence in the fourth quarter of
2021, leading to a continuous wave in global incidents of infection
and holding back the resumption of global economic activities and
recovery of the operating environment. Subsequently, the Group's
performance was substantially affected in the second half of the year.

The Group's turnover amounted to HK$1,855.9 million for the
year (FY2020/21: HK$2,101.6 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 11.7% against the previous year. This decrease was
mainly due to tightened pandemic prevention and control measures
at the Group’s two major production bases located in Dongguan
and Vietnam which affected production and operations, resumption
of work and recruitment of staff, raw material supply as well as the
logistics of the Group. Gross profit was HK$257.7 million and gross
profit margin rose to 13.9% (FY2020/21: HK$286.6 million and
13.6%), mainly attributable to the increase in production capacity
at the Vietnam plant, plus the continuous effective implemented of
cost control measures. Profit attributable to shareholders declined
to HK$56.5 million (FY2020/21: HK$79.3 million), mainly due to the
drop in revenue as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Net profit
margin was 3.1% (FY2020/21: 3.8%). Basic earnings per share were
HK19.83 cents (FY2020/21: HK27.96 cents).

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHS
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHS

DIVIDEND

The Directors have proposed the payment of a final dividend of HK6.0
cents per share (FY2020/21: final dividend of HK8.0 cents per share
and special dividend of HK3.0 cents per share) to shareholders whose
names appear on the Register of Shareholders of the Company as
at 16 August 2022. Together with the interim dividend of HK6.0
cents per share already paid, the total dividend for the year would be
HK12.0 cents per share (FY2020/21: HK17.0 cents per share). Subject
to approval by shareholders at the 2022 Annual General Meeting, the
proposed final dividend will be paid on or before 25 August 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Electronic Products

The electronic products business remained as the Group’s main source
of revenue, contributing HK$1,413.0 million (FY2020/21: HK$1,695.4
million), down by 16.7% year-on-year and accounting for 76.1% of
total sales.

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to the thriving development of the
“stay-at-home economy” which has driven strong demand from
customers for the Group’s professional audio equipment. However,
the market demand has declined slightly after the peak of the
pandemic. Besides, as the global markets have been affected by
the spread of the Omicron variant of COVID-19 and supply chain
congestion, the Group's orders for these products slowed down in the
second half of the year.

Orders for other products, such as telephones for the hearing-
impaired, smart cards and near-field communication (“NFC") products
as well as telecommunications products for Japanese customers, have
gradually recovered. This has been facilitated by the Group creating
a diversified product portfolio and focusing on developing niche
products. This business development strategy has proven effective,
enabling the Group to withstand the challenging market environment
and continue to steadily progress.

In recent years, the Group has actively expanded the technologies
and applications in the Internet of things (“loT"”). This strategic
advance has been welcomed by existing customers and the Group
has received enquiries from potential new customers as well. During
the year, the Group successfully secured orders from a new customer.
an innovative loT company which targets the European and the US
markets, focusing on manufacturing and providing loT-based products
and solutions, including asset trackers.
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Although the pandemic has posed significant challenges to the global
supply chain of production materials and the shipping and logistics
services, SUGA has maintained close cooperation with its business
partners and actively prospected for suppliers in different regions to
mitigate the adverse effects of the tight supply of raw materials. In
addition, the Group successfully secured more orders from Mainland
China during the year, and more fully utilised the production capacity
of its Dongguan facilities.

Pet Business

The pet business recorded sales of HK$442.9 million (FY2020/21:
HK$406.2 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 9.0%,
accounting for 23.9% of the Group’s total sales. Pet training
equipment, one of the Group’s core products, continued to be an
important revenue source of the pet business, with sales volume
increasing during the year under review.

The Group remains optimistic about the development potential of
the pet food market and will seize the business opportunities in this
sector. Leveraging its excellent experience in building its own pet food
brand “Brabanconne”, the Group has launched a domestic pet food
brand “TeenyTiny"” targeting the mid-range market in Mainland China
at the end of 2020, generating an enthusiastic market response.
Consequently, the brand achieved a satisfactory business performance
in the one and a half years since its launch. Currently, “Brabanconne”
is sold mainly in the Hong Kong and Japanese markets and has
enjoyed a good market response. In view of the strong demand
for pet food in the Mainland China market, the Group believes
that the domestic market remains the pet market with the greatest
development potential. Hence, the Group expects that after the
“Brabanconne” pet food brand resumes its import into the Mainland
China market, the two pet food brands can develop and flourish in
a two-pronged approach and seize greater market share in the mid-
range to high-end market.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRS

BERBAEZXEEYHREBELMEYRR
BHRBEANE BEE—ELAXHFBHRT
RESE BB AE M E R ER - R R
RMEHERREANEEZE LI FEE
REANRNFREZHEANMETE > REKE
ERERUTDER-

RMED

Y EFPIHEEEA442,900,0008 7T (ZE =
T/~ —FEBRERE 406,200,000 7T) 0 BE
FEHAN9.0% » (HAEB AR EFE23.9% « (EA
EEZLERZ —HNRYIEISHBERRY
EBENEBRHRR REIBEEANHERSE
-

FrEBEBEBEETEYEETSENERE
TEEEEK RETEEXREYRERE
MBrabanconne&iHEE W S5 » REER
TEZTFEFREPE AR E TS
MEEsE e AR Bk HED ) EEAIINHHE
> FREBTHEIENERE—F¥ANEER
B F5FRIF o [Brabanconne® 58 IR EE 11
SARAMBATIZHE  MIBERERB - ERHEH
NS HBEMRENRYIER FEERA
BAMmSNAAREERBENNEN TG
It > ANEEEAEE Brabanconne B B 58 T IR 1E &
OFRBEAMTHIEE > MEREYIER REE 85
ENHER TP -BEmEmBONFNEATIS
GEEE

EEBREREEARAT 2021/22 F3] 11



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHS

AWARDS

During the year, SUGA was honoured with the “Annual Supply
Chain Transformation Award — Supply Chain Upgrade and Integrated
Innovation Project” within the Digital Transformation Pioneer List at
the 2021 “Dingge Awards"”co-organised by Harvard Business Review
and SAP China, with academic institutional support from Tsinghua
University’s Global Industry Research Institute. The award recognises
enterprises in Mainland China and Hong Kong that have leapfrogged
competitors focusing on their progress in digital transformation.
Garnering this award acknowledges the Group’s efforts in
digitalisation and testifies to our success in the implementation of SAP
enterprise resource planning solutions.

PROSPECTS

In the second half of 2022, the global economic outlook will
remain uncertain. The international shipping lines and availability of
containers have yet to return to the pre-pandemic normal conditions,
so the supply of raw materials would still be tight. Many countries
in Europe, as well as the US, will unveil interest hikes and the
Russia-Ukraine tension will persist and possibly escalate, increasing
geopolitical risks. However, as many countries have begun easing
their pandemic restrictions, the global economic performance is
expected to gradually improve after the resumption of travelling
freely between countries. Moreover, the Group will closely monitor
the latest trends in the economy and the pandemic. It will also adopt
appropriate strategies in a flexible manner to respond to different
situations and adopt a prudent approach to ensure that the overall
business maintains stable development.

The Group began executing its “China Plus One"” strategy in 2018
and opened an automated factory in Vietnam and coordinating
operations with its factory in China. This has not only enabled the
Group to more optimally allocate production, but has also clarified
for new customers in the electronic business segment the advantage
of factories in two countries, market diversification and reduced
supply chain risks amid the pandemic. We have proactively negotiated
with these customers during the year. Moreover, we believe that
such advantages can be maintained and will help us win more new
customers and attract more new orders. Therefore, we will continue
to flexibly allocate production consignments between the two
countries in the future.

12 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/22
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In the past, the orders of most customers were generally relatively
urgent and short-term. However, amidst the pandemic, due to the
tight supply of raw materials and containers, customers have to
set a mid- to long-term strategy and significantly push back the
time of placing an order beforehand. The changes in the way of
placing an order allow the Group to more flexibly and effectively
plan its resources allocation internally and thus further enhance its
operational efficiency. The Group will continue to maintain good
relations and close communication with customers to ensure that
customers enjoy the best services and logistics arrangements.

Meanwhile, the Huizhou Jiayifu development project, co-developed
by the Group and Guangdong Fuchuan Investment Co., Ltd., is nearly
seventy percent completed. Part of the project has obtained the pre-
sale permit for commercial housing. Due to the erratic impacts of
the pandemic and real estate policies, real estate market in mainland
China faces greater uncertainty. The Group will continue to closely
monitor the development of the property market in Zhongkai
District, Huizhou City, and it will launch the project to the market
at an appropriate time. In fact, SUGA has sufficient cash on hand
and banking facilities, it will look for and seize suitable investment
opportunities in the market, so as to bring long-term value to
shareholders.

APPRECIATION

The haze of the pandemic is not completely over. Despite the
uncertainties in the overall environment, the Group’s business has
maintained stable in the past year, owing to the long-term support
of all business partners and shareholders and the continued vigilance
and steadfast determination of all staff to stay the course during the
pandemic. On behalf of the Group, | would like to extend my sincere
gratitude to all of the aforementioned parties. We will move forward
hand-in-hand with all of these parties and continue to create long-
term and favourable investment value for shareholders.

Chairman
Ng Chi Ho

Hong Kong
27 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$1,855.9 million (FY2020/2021: HK$2,101.6 million), representing
a decrease of 11.7% as compared with previous financial year. The
decrease is primarily due to decline of demand of professional audio
equipment. The COVID-19 pandemic has led to the strong demand
of products of “stay-at-home” market such as professional audio
equipment and pet training equipment, the demand of professional
audio equipment was decline after reaching the peak in previous
financial year. Besides, the global markets have been affected by
the spread of the Omicron variant of COVID-19 and supply chain
congestion, the Group's orders for these products slowed down in the
second half of the year.

On the other hand, orders for telephones for the hearing-impaired,
smart payment products as well as telecommunications products
for Japanese customers, have gradually recovered. This has been
facilitated by the Group creating a diversified product portfolio and
focusing on developing niche products. This business development
strategy has proven effective, enabling the Group to withstand the
challenging market environment and continue to steadily progress.

During the year, the Group successfully secured orders from a new
customer, an innovative loT company focusing on manufacturing and
providing loT-based products and solutions, including asset trackers.

Geographically, for the year ended 31 March 2022, revenue
generated from the top 3 country of destination, the USA, PRC
and Japan, accounted for 85.8% of the Group’s total revenue
(FY2020/2021: 83.9%).

Gross profit for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 was
HK$257.7 million, representing a decrease of HK$28.9 million or
10.1% compared to the HK$286.6 million recorded in the previous
financial year. The Group has continuously implemented various
cost control measurement during the year under review, which
has improved overall cost efficiency. In addition, the increase in
production capacity of Vietnam plant has also improved overall
efficiency. Therefore, gross profit margin was improved from 13.6%
of previously financial year to 13.9% in this year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERE RS

Operating profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 was HK$75.9
million, a decrease of HK$26.2 million or 25.6% as compared to the
previous financial year. The decrease was mainly due to the drop in
revenue caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Total operating expenses
were HK$191.7 million, an increase of HK$1.8 million as compared to
last fiscal year. Distribution and selling expenses decreased by HK$1.2
million mainly due to decrease in staff costs and carriage outward
costs in line with decline in revenue. General and administrative
expenses increased by HK$3.1 million mainly attributable to the
increase in depreciation, legal and professional fee, and computer
expense.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has recorded net
finance costs of HK$2.5 million (FY2020/2021: HK$1.4 million). The
increase of net finance costs was mainly due to increase in average
bank borrowing during the year.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company was HK$56.5
million (2021: HK$79.3 million), representing a decrease of HK$22.8
million or 28.8% comparing to last year. Basic earnings per share for
the year ended 31 March 2022 were HK19.83 cents as compared to
HK27.96 cents in the previous financial year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The chief operation decision-maker has been identified as the
Executive Directors (collectively referred to as the “CODM") that
make strategic decisions. The CODM reviews the internal reporting
of the Group in order to assess performance and allocate resources
and makes relevant decisions based on the entity-wide financial
information.

There are two reportable segments of the Group:

Electronic products - Develop, manufacture and sales of
electronic products (other than pet-related
electronic products)

Pet-related products - Manufacture and distribution of pet-related
products
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Electronic products

Revenue from electronic products segment recorded approximately
HK$1,413.0 million (FY2020/2021: HK$1,695.4 million), representing
76.1% of the Group’s total revenue. Revenue from this segment
was decreased by 16.7% as compared to last year. The decrease
is primarily due to net effect of drop in sales of professional
audio equipment, increase in sales of telephones for the hearing-
impaired and IoT assets tracker. Benefitted from the “stay-at-home”
phenomenon during the COVID-19 pandemic in last financial year,
demand of professional audio equipment was declined after reaching
the peak in second half of previous financial year. Besides, the global
markets have been affected by the spread of the Omicron variant
of COVID-19 and supply chain congestion, the Group's orders for
these products slowed down in the second half of the year. On the
other hand, products such as telephones for the hearing-impaired,
smart payment products, as well as telecommunication products for
Japanese customers, which are severely affected by the COVID-19
pandemic, are resuming productions and deliveries during the year.
In addition, the Group has successfully secured orders from a new
customer of loT asset trackers during the year.

Major products of this segment are: i) professional audio equipment;
i) asset tracker with loT technology; iii) telephones for hearing
impaired; iv) telecommunication products; v) general household

consumer appliances; and vi) smart payment products.

Pet related products

Revenue from pet related products segment recorded approximately
HK$442.9 million (FY2020/2021: HK$406.2 million),
23.9% of the Group's total revenue and an increase of HK$36.7

representing

million or 9.0% as compared to previous financial year. The increase
was mainly driven by the growth in demand of pet training devices of
the “stay-at-home” market during the year under review.

The other products of this segment are the Group’'s own pet food
brand,“Brabanconne”, imported from Belgium, and domestic brand

“TeenyTiny”. Currently, “Brabanconne” is sold mainly in the Hong
Kong and Japanese markets and has enjoyed a good market response.
In view of the strong demand for pet food in the Mainland China
market, the Group believes that the domestic market remains the pet
market with the greatest development potential. Hence, the Group
expects that after the “Brabanconne” pet food brand resumes its
import into the Mainland China market, the two pet food brands can
develop and flourish in a two-pronged approach and seize greater

market share in the mid-range to high-end market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmRDH

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the current assets and current liabilities of
the Group were approximately HK$899.2 million (31 March 2021:
HK$875.2 million) and approximately HK$500.8 million (31 March
2021:
calculated as current assets over current liabilities, was 1.80 times as
at 31 March 2022, as compared to that of 1.68 times as at 31 March
2021.

HK$519.7 million) respectively. The liquidity ratio, which is

The Group generally finances its operations by internally generated
resources and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong. Banking facilities used by the Group include revolving
loans, overdrafts and term loans, which are primarily on floating
interest rates basis. As at 31 March 2022, the Group maintained
cash and bank balances at approximately HK$141.7 million (31
March 2021: HK$127.8 million). The Group’s bank borrowings were
HK$206.0 million as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: HK$138.6
million). Gearing ratio, expressed as a percentage of total bank
borrowings over total equity, was 25.4% (31 March 2021: 17.3%).

The Group's total assets and total liabilities as at 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$1,333.3 million (31 March 2021:
HK$1326.6 million) and HK$523.3 million (31 March 2021: HK$524.4
million) respectively. The debt ratio, which is calculated based on
total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 0.39 times as at
31 March 2022, as compared to that of approximately 0.40 times as
at 31 March 2021.

The net asset value of the Group increased from HK$802.2 million
as at 31 March 2021 to HK$810.0 million as at 31 March 2022, the
increase is mainly attributable by the comprehensive profit of the year
and dividends paid for the financial year 2020/21.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$900.0 million (31 March 2021: HK$710.5 million)
from its principal bankers for overdrafts, loans and trade financing,
with unused facilities of HK$669.4 million (31 March 2021: HK$519.9
million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Group’s total capital expenditures for the year under review
were HK$40.9 million. The capital expenditures were mainly for
the additions of machineries and equipment for PRC and Vietnam
production plants and construction of new factory in Vietnam.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollars, United States dollars and Vietnamese Dong. As Hong Kong
dollars is pegged against United States dollars, the Group mainly
exposed to foreign currency risk with respect to Renminbi and
Vietnamese Dong. The Group monitors foreign currency exchange
exposure and will use forward foreign exchange contracts as
appropriate to hedge the foreign exchange risk in the ordinary course
of business.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge against foreign currency risk. It is the group'’s
policy not to enter into derivative transactions for speculative
purposes.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021,
venture was pledged in favour of a bank to secure facility granted

the Group's interest in a joint

to its joint venture. The Group did not pledge any of its assets
as securities for the banking facilities granted to the Group as at
31 March 2022 and 2021.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a capital commitment of
HK$7.1 million for property, plant and equipment and investment in a
joint venture (31 March 2021: HK$23.0 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmRDH

Corporate guarantees given to banks to secure the borrowings
granted to subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 amounted to HK$206.0
million (31 March 2021: HK$138.6 million). As at 31 March 2022,
the Group provided financial guarantees of HK$10.0 million (2021:
HK$10.0 million) and RMB114.0 million (2021: RMB78.0 million),
which was equivalent to HK$136.8 million (2021: HK$97.5 million)
for banking facilities granted to its associate and joint venture
respectively. As at 31 March 2022, the bank facilities utilised by an
associate and a joint venture was HK$6.1 million (2021: HK$6.5
million) and RMB86.7 million (2021: RMB78.0 million), which was
equivalent to HK$104.0 million (2021: HK$97.5 million) respectively.
The Group assesses the risk of default of an associate and a joint
venture at the end of the reporting period and recognised financial
guarantee liabilities of HK$4,478,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$2,521,000).

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULES 13.20 AND
13.22 OF THE LISTING RULES

At 31 March 2022, the Group had given financial assistance to its
joint venture and associate (collectively “affiliated companies”) as set
out below:

RIEBE-__F=ZB=+—H B AGER
HNEEBIRTIEE R B#EMR206,000,000/8 7T
2T —F=H=+—H :138,600,000%
) cMRIZEZZHF=RA=+—H > KEE®EH
BRAARGELEERTFTHRETEED IR
#£10,000,000% 7t (ZZZ—4 : 10,000,000
B7) R AR®114,000,0000 (Z 2 - —4F ¢
AR #78,000,00070) WA HERFR > HE RN
136,800,000 70 (Z & _—4 : 97,500,000
B) RIBEZZFE=B=1+—H BELT
ReEtEHBNIERITEEDF]A6,100,000
BT (CE - —4F 6,500,000 7T AR
86,700,0005c (ZE = —4 : AR®78,000,000
70) 4B E 104,000,000 7T (T2 - —4F :
97,500,000/ 7T) c AEE P RS AR T EHE
N REELENBYORR TR
— A=+ —HmRAMBEIEREE4L,478,0008 T
—E - —4 12,521,000 7T) °

RiE L HiRAISE13.20513.22(% &
TIEE
RoB-_F=F=4—H5 -FKHEAKS
BOERMEAT (B HEAT) R HMTE
W :

As at As at
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
W= N TEZ—F
=A=+—H =E=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET THET
Amounts due from affiliated companies (Note (a))  FEURES B AT RIE (Hf52(a)) 7,204 521
Guarantees given for affiliated companies in respect £ iR{T R H {5 E@EF A E
of banking and other credit facilities (Note (b)) A B A B IR HIEMR (BaEb)) 146,800 107,500
Commitments to capital injections HESbEZERTAKE
in its joint venture 4,510 4,510
158,514 112,531
Notes BEE -
(a) The advances were non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand. (a BHARE BIKR R EREREER.
(b) As at 31 March 2022, the bank facilities utilised by an associate and a joint  (b) NI ZTHF=A=+—H HE A hkaEtxs

venture was HK$6.1 million (31 March 2021: HK$6.5 million) and RMB86.7
million (31 March 2021: RMB78.0 million) respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pursuant to Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules, a combined statement
of financial position of those affiliated companies with financial

BEEwRS

RELHRAF 13220 - R -"F=1
ST HERSTEEMBEEMNZEHEA

assistance from the Group and the Group's attributable interests in B RAEENRZSHBAINELEETZNS
those affiliated companies as at 31 March 2022 are presented as M FER TR AT :
follows:
Combined
statement of Group's
financial attributable
position interests
=Rk TEE
AR R FE 1 1 25
HK$000 HK$°000
FHAT FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,776 1,341
Current assets mENE E 301,999 150,858
Current liabilities mEasE (306,156) (152,644)
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRHER (1,381) (445)
Non-current liabilities EI =N (1,452) (726)
Net liabilities =R (2,833) (1,171)

The combined statement of financial position of the affiliated
companies was prepared by combining their statements of financial
position, after making adjustments to conform with the Group's
significant accounting policies and re-grouping into significant
classification in the statement of financial position, as at 31 March
2022.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022 the Group has approximately 2,530 employees,
of which 64 were based in Hong Kong while the rest were mainly
in Mainland China and Vietnam. Remuneration policy was reviewed
regularly, making reference to current legislation, market condition
and both the individual and company performance. In addition to
salaries and other usual benefits like annual leave, medical insurance
and various mandatory pension schemes, the Group also provides
educational sponsorship subsidies, discretionary performance bonus

and share options.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. NG Chi Ho, aged 72, was appointed as an executive director
on 1 September 2002, he is the founder, chairman and managing
director and chairman of the corporate governance committee of the
Group. He is responsible for the formulation of corporate strategy,
strategic planning and development, and overall management of the
Group. Dr. NG has over 45 years of management experience in the
electronics industry and has been teaching electronic engineering
at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University for 4 years. Dr. NG holds
a bachelor’s degree in science from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong, a master of philosophy degree in computer engineering from
the University of Hong Kong, and an honorary doctor of engineering
degree from Lincoln University, USA. Dr. NG is a chartered engineer, a
fellow of the Institution of Engineering and Technology, UK, a fellow
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He is an university fellow of
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a honorary life president
of the Development Foundation of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.

In addition, Dr. NG is a founding partner of Hong Kong-Shenzhen
United Investment Fund and Hong Kong Inno Angel Fund, an advisor
of the Technology Development Committee of Federation of Hong
Kong Industries, the chairman of Hong Kong Electronic Industries
Association and honorary chairman of Hong Kong Electronics
Industries Council. Dr. NG is also the Assessment Panel Member under
the Innovation and Technology Fund, Innovation and Technology
Commission, HKSAR Government.

On community services, Dr. NG is chairman of Sir Cecil Clementi
Scholarship Foundation under Education Bureau Association, HKSAR
Government, and a director of Hok Hoi Library.

Dr. NG is the recipient of the Outstanding Entrepreneurship Award
by Enterprise Asia in 2013, and the Hong Kong Electronic Industry
Outstanding Achievement Award by Hong Kong Electronics Industries
Council in 2018.

Dr. NG is the father of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, the executive
director of the Group and Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the CEO of
WePet Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFMEREEANERE

Mr. MA Fung On, aged 64, was appointed as executive director
on 1 April 2004, he is the deputy chairman and a member of the
corporate governance committee of the Group. Mr. MA is responsible
for the formulation of the Group's overall strategic planning and
policies, as well as overseeing the personnel, administration and
logistics of the Group. Mr. MA has worked with the Group for more
than 29 years and has over 40 years of experience in the electronics
industry. He graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a higher diploma in electronic engineering and was conferred
as a Fellowship of Social Enterprise Research Academy. Mr. Ma is vice
chairman of The Hong Kong Enterprise Association of Dongguan
Qingxi and vice chairman of Dongguan Photoelectric Communication
Industry Association.

Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, aged 41,
executive director on 1 May 2015, he is an executive director and

was appointed as an

chief technology officer of the Group and chief executive officer of
Electronics Manufacturing Service (EMS) division. He is responsible
for exploring new business opportunities and overseeing Research
and Development (R&D) of the Group. Dr. NG joined the Group in
2014 and Dr. NG holds Bachelor of Engineering (1st Hon.) degree in
Computing from Imperial College London, Master of Science (S.M.)
and Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) degrees in Electrical Engineering and
Computer Science from Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT).
Prior to joining Suga Group, Dr. NG had worked at IBM, Nokia and
Qualcomm on various chip design research projects.

Dr. NG is keen to promote innovations and technological
advancements in the Hong Kong electronics industry. He is the Vice
Chairman of Hong Kong Electronics Industry Council (Group 5 of
Federation of Hong Kong Industries) and a member of Hong Kong
Applied Science and Technology Research Institute Company Limited
(ASTRI)'s board of directors. To support nurturing local talents, Dr. NG
serves as a member of departmental advisory committees at several
universities such as The Chinese University of Hong Kong (Electronic
Engineering), The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
(Electronic and Computer Engineering), City University of Hong Kong
(Electronic Engineering) and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(Applied Physics). He is also a member of the Electronics and
Telecommunications Training Board of Vocational Training Council.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Dr. NG has won the “Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong
2020" in recognition of his outstanding contribution to Hong Kong's
industrial sector and the society.

He is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the chairman and managing director
of the Group and the brother of Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the
CEO of WePet Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEE Kam Hung, Arthur, aged 64, was appointed as a non-
executive director on 1 September 2009, he is a non-executive
director of the Group. He holds a Master degree of Science in
Engineering Business Management (Co-organized by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and The University of Warwick in the United
Kingdom).

Mr. LEE is the founder, CEO of Kolinker Group of companies since
its inception in 1983. Besides, he is a committee member of Election
of Deputies to the Thirteenth National People’s Congress from the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of
China, a member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Council,
an unofficial member of Committee on Innovation, Technology and
Re-industrialisation, a director of board of ITC Nano and Advanced
Materials Institute Limited (NAMI), an assessment panel member
of ITC Enterprise Support Scheme, Innovation & Technology Fund
(ESS) and a member of Expert Panel of Enhanced Tax Deduction for
R&D - Designated Local Research Institution (DLRI) of ITC.

In addition, Mr. LEE is the forty-second general committee member
of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong (CMA), a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, the vice
president (2003 Awardee) of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council
Foundation Limited and a fellow of The University of Warwick.

He is also a chairman of Department of Applied Physics of The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University, advisory member of Departmental
Advisory Committee of Electronic and Information Engineering
Department of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (EIE), a member
of The Governing Committee of the PolyU Foundation and life
member of Outstanding PolyU Alumni Association (OPAA).
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EFMEREEANERE

Furthermore, he is an honorary advisor and founder chairman of the
Kowloon City District Senior Police Call Honorary Presidents Council
(SPC), the seventh honorary president of Fire Safety Ambassador
Honorary Presidents’ Association, member and event convener of
Kowloon City District Youth Programme Committee (KCDYPC).

Mr. LEE is a committee member and community engagement working
group member of Kowloon City District Civic Education Campaign
Organising Committee and a conference consultant of Kowloon City
District Resident Association (KCDRA). He is also a vice president of
Wong Tai Sin District Healthy and Safe City and the honorary assistant
commissioner of executive committee of Fire & Ambulance Services
Teen Connect (FAST CONNECT).

Prof. LUK Wing Ching, Wayne, aged 60, was appointed as a non-
executive director on 1 September 2018, he is a non-executive
director of the Group. He is Professor of Computer Engineering at
Imperial College London. He was a Visiting Professor at Stanford
University and the founding editor-in-chief of the Association for
Computing Machinery Transactions on Reconfigurable Technology and
Systems (ACM TRETS). Prof. LUK's research covers custom computing,
field programmable technology and design automation. He has
received awards from various conferences such as those covering
application-specific systems and field-programmable technology, and
a Research Excellence Award from Imperial College London. Prof.
LUK is a Fellow of the Royal Academy of Engineering, a Fellow of the
Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) and a Fellow of
the British Computer Society (BCS). He holds Master of Arts, Master
of Science and Doctor of Philosophy degrees from the University of
Oxford.

26 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/22

BN MANENEEELENLE
(SPO)REBERKRIBRAIEFE R HHEHEN
ZEAFLESRETHNELELETRURK
NEBEEFEHNEZEE(KCDYPOZERE
BBE AN

EhEABNEREARYBENARELZE S
ZERMEZ2ETIFNNMIKRE URAERE
EERBE(KCORANEFHEERM - B IrAEH K
EEBEZEHATERENIASEREBERK
#EEFE(FAST CONNECT)#ITEE ML E
BhIB4RES o

BEXBEE Nt R_FT—-—N\FALA—H
EZERFATEFT RAEFTERFATE
ZFRAMATHABRAER I REEIE - EH
REBETHERABEERR  kEEFER T
CUERBKRMARGHTIAA T ER - EHER
B ST B E B 5t B TG AR IE BT &R 5t
BECAZ - HfAAREERERARAK
RZRRERMEHARERZNRE UREH
%E%h%ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁOﬁﬁ? BREERT
Bt -XEEBEREFTRREMBER L KRR
BEstEHEB gkt UERTRAREBNXERIE
T EBERTAEEB LS.



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEUNG Yu Ming, Steven, aged 63, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 27 September 2004, he is an
independent non-executive Director of the Group and a member of
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
of the Group. Mr. LEUNG holds a master degree in accounting from
Charles Sturt University in Australia and a bachelor degree in social
science from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG is a
practising certified accountant of CPA Australia and a fellow member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong respectively. Mr. LEUNG is also a practising certified public
accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG previously worked in Nomura
International (Hong Kong) Limited as an assistant vice president in
the International Finance and Corporate Finance Department. He
commenced public practice in auditing and taxation since 1990. He
is now the senior partner of a certified public accountants firm. Mr.
LEUNG has over 37 years of experience in assurance, accounting,
taxation, financial management and corporate finance. Mr. LEUNG
is also an independent non-executive director of C C Land Holdings
Limited, The Cross Harbour (Holdings) Limited and Y.T. Realty Group
Limited, all of which are companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Kit Wang, Edmond, aged 69, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 1 April 2009, he is an
independent non-executive director of the Group and a member
of audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Group. Mr. CHAN graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 1977 with a higher diploma in accountancy.
Mr. CHAN is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, associate member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He is now a senior partner of
a certified public accountants firm. Mr. CHAN has over 45 years of
working experience in accounting, auditing and taxation.
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EFMEREEANERE

Dr. CHEUNG Nim Kwan, aged 74, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 15 October 2014, he is an independent
non-executive director of the Group and a member of audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Group. Dr. CHEUNG is managing director of a start-up company
in Hong Kong Science Park. He was Chief Executive Officer of the
Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute
(ASTRI), a 500-member R&D organization in the information
and communications area established by the Hong Kong SAR
Government. He has founded and served as the inaugural director
of the National Engineering Research Centre for Application Specific
Integrated Circuit Systems, the first National Engineering Centre
established in Hong Kong. Prior to joining ASTRI, Dr. CHEUNG has
held different research and senior management positions at AT&T Bell
Labs, Bellcore, and Telcordia Technologies. He is a Telcordia Fellow
and a Fellow of IEEE. Dr. CHEUNG served as the 18th President of
the IEEE Communications Society, a global professional organization
with 45,000 members in 180 chapters around the world. He was
Editor-in-Chief of the IEEE Communications Magazine, and was
appointed Chairman of the IEEE Fellow Committee in 2012-13, where
he presided over the selection of all new IEEE Fellows worldwide. Dr.
CHEUNG is an Honorary Professor of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong and has served as Consulting Professor at Stanford University
and in Research Grants Council in Hong Kong. Dr. CHEUNG received
his B.Sc. degree from the University of Hong Kong, and M.S. and
Ph.D. degrees from the California Institute of Technology.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHOW Sze Shek, Riley, aged 50, is the chief financial officer of
the Group. Mr. CHOW is responsible for overseeing the corporate and
financial matters of the Group. Mr. CHOW is a qualified accountant
and a fellow member of CPA Australia. Mr. CHOW joined the Group
in September 2001 and has over 28 years of experience in corporate
finance, accounting and auditing. He graduated from the University
of Queensland, Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in
accounting.

Mr. TENG Boon Han, Eric, aged 44, is the chief operation officer of
EMS division, he is responsible for the overall operations in SUGA Hi-
Tech Industrial Park. Mr. TENG holds a bachelor degree of Business
Administration in Finance and Economics from University of New
Brunswick, Canada. He joined the Group in 2007. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. TENG worked for global IT and telecommunication
companies. He has had international working exposure in the USA,
Malaysia, Indonesia and Thailand within those companies.

Mr. FUNG Chi Leung, Mark, aged 58, is the chief marketing officer
of EMS division. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the
University of Toronto in Canada. Mr. FUNG joined the Group in 2010
and has over 36 years of working experience in electronics sales and
marketing.

Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, aged 39, is the chief executive officer
of WePet Group. Since joining the Group in 2010, Mr. NG has been
responsible for developing the pet business and managing the
wholesale and the retail pet business in Hong Kong and mainland
China. Mr. NG has also been involving in the development of the
smart pet products for the Group. Mr. NG holds Bachelor of Science
degree in Robotics from The Staffordshire University, Postgraduate
Diploma in Computer Science from The University of Birmingham
and Master of Business Administration from The University of Wales,
Newport. Mr. NG has accumulated experience on pet business in last
12 years.

Mr. NG is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the chairman and managing
director of the Group and the brother of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred,
the executive director of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management of Suga
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are committed to
attain and uphold a high standard of corporate governance that
properly protect and promote the interests of its shareholders and
other stakeholders including customers, suppliers, employees and the
general public.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
has complied with all applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the former CG
Code A.2.1.

The former CG Code A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Up to the date of this report,
the Group does not have a separate Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer and Dr. Ng Chi Ho currently holds both positions. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person provides the Group with strong and
consistent leadership in the development and execution of long-term
business strategies. Going forward, the Group will periodically review
the effectiveness of this arrangement and considers appointing an
individual as Chief Executive Officer when it thinks appropriate.

Save as the above-mentioned deviation, none of the directors of the
Company is aware of information that would reasonably indicate the
Company is not or was not in compliance with all applicable code
provisions of the CG Code for the year under review.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Group’s overall management is vested in its board of directors,
which now comprises eight members, coming from diverse businesses
and professional backgrounds. The Board consisted of three executive
directors, Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman and Managing Director), Mr.
Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman) and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, two non-
executive directors, Mr. Lee Kam Hung and Prof. Luk Wing Ching
and three independent non-executive directors ('INED’), Mr. Leung
Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan
(collectively the ‘Directors’).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the group’s
business and affairs; to review the Group’s financial performance; to
review the Group's systems of risk management and internal control;
to approve the strategic plans, investment and funding decision. For
the financial reporting accountability, the Board has the ultimate
responsibility for preparing the financial statements. The day-to-day
management is conducted by senior management and employees
of the Group, under the direction and supervision of the Directors.
When the Directors are aware of any events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, such events or conditions will be clearly set out and
discussed in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10 (1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs among
whom one has to have appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related finance management expertise. The role of
INED is to bring an independent and objective view to the Board's
deliberations and decisions. The Company has received from each
INED an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are
independent.

All non-executive directors (including INEDs) have been appointed
for a term of one year and are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company and
Listing Rules at each annual general meeting. Save as disclosed in the
biographical details of each director, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) among members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board meets at least four times annually to review business
development and overall strategic policies. The Board is supplied
with relevant information by the senior management pertaining to
matters to be brought before the Board for decision as well as reports
relating to operational and financial performance of the Group before
each regular board meeting. At least 14 days’ notice of a regular
board meeting is given to all directors to give them the opportunity
to attend. Board papers are dispatched to the directors at least three
days before the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to
review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and its subsidiaries, setting appropriate
policies and reviewing the effectiveness of such controls. Risk
management and internal control are defined as a process effected
by the Board, management and other personnel, designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance of the
following:

effectiveness and efficiency operations

reliability of financial reporting

compliance with applicable laws and regulations

- effectiveness of risk management functions

The Board conducted a review of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2022 including the consideration of the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget. The Board assessed the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems by considering reviews
performed by the Audit Committee, executive management and the
independent auditors’ management letters, if any, and is satisfied that
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group is
functioning properly.
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EEXEBRRS

Four regular meetings of the Board and one Annual General Meeting

FRHBTORATEFEEER—RK

were held during the year. The attendance of each director at the HBEA T BESBHFE LT HZ 2 XNHHI W
meeting is set out as follows:— =
Name of directors Board meeting AGM
EEEA EEGEE RREFEXE
Executive Directors WITES
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) SHSEELE (FE) 4/4 11
Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman) BEghd BIFE) 4/4 11
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk RRaEL 4/4 11
Non-Executive directors EHITES
Mr. Lee Kam Hung RIS E 4/4 11
Prof. Luk Wing Ching Rk B B 4/4 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHTE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chan Kit Wang PR Sk 4/4 11
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan R iE 4 4/4 11
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EXERRS

DIRECTORS' TRAINING EHIEN

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the REZEEFEDAAFIRMZEBINLH TR &
directors, the directors have participated in the following training FEEZZ2ELITE :

during the year:

Directors’ participation of continuous professional development EE2HFBEELERE

MHKIoD
= 5 18 E B 2022

Director CPD
Attended training courses,
seminars, workshops,
Directors in-house briefs
H FE ST H)I R TS AR eT |
5% T1EY - NERFRS IR E
Executive Directors BITES
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) REREBT (FE) v
Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman) BEDZKLE GIFE) v
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk BRREELT v
Non-Executive Directors EHITES
Mr. Lee Kam Hung RIS E v
Prof. Luk Wing Ching [k B IR v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BiERITES
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHEE v
Mr. Chan Kit Wang FRZN TR o v
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan R EiE L v
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EEXEARS

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITIES
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all costs,
charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in the
execution of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto, the
Company has arranged insurance cover for this purpose.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the corporate governance committee
(the “Corporate Governance Committee”). All the Board Committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung Yu
Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Chairman of
the Audit Committee is Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice a year
to review and discuss the risk management and internal audit of
the Group, to review the Group’s interim and annual financial
statements, and also monitor the appointment and function of the
Group's independent auditors. Additional meetings may also be held
by the Committee from time to time to discuss special projects or
other issues of which the Audit Committee considers necessary. The
Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference and are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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During the year, two Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:—

Member of Audit Committee

EXELRS

FRHBTMRABEREZESEE
AIHERBEEHIIWT : —

P BB Z 8

Meeting attended

BEZZEENE HEZERE
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEHIE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang Rt 2/2
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan R E L 2/2
During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the fiscal year RN ' EXZEGEBH _T_F T _—

2020/2021 annual report and fiscal year 2021/2022 interim report,
including the accounting principles and practice adopted by
the Group, reviewed and discussed the financial results and risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, conducted
discussions with the independent auditors on financial reporting,
compliance, and reported all relevant matters to the Board.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the fiscal year 2021/2022
annual report in a meeting held on 23 June 2022.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs and is currently
chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven. No director or senior executive
will be involved in any discussion in connection with his own
remuneration. The meeting of the Remuneration Committee shall
normally be held not less than once a year.

The Company has adopted a model where the Remuneration
Committee performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration of executive
directors and senior management.
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The Committee’s principal responsibilities are to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration structure. It also reviews and guides the formulation
of the Group's performance related pay schemes. Term of reference
which described the authorities and duties of the Remuneration
Committee are publicly available on the websites of the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the contents of which are in
compliance with the CG Code.

During the year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held
and the individual attendance of each member is set out below:—

Member of the Remuneration Committee

ZEEZIERERMENRTEETRER
EEANBZFHTEMESSRMERESE 5Lk
HOEFZHNRNESTSREZZRINAH
HHREOEFETRHURZ TR T TR L
EEERRHNZFHM S RLIRMESIFTES] -
MHMEE RS HMELE IR AL T
REBMIZAEILEARER  BEANBHEST
TEBEATRHZRE-

FRHBETMRFMEZEET SR
PIHERBEEHIIWOT : —

BB ZE

Meeting attended

FNEEERE HESZERY
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEITE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang R fE 2/2
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan iRt 2/2

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors, non-executive director, the INEDs, and
senior management; and reviewed the bonus to senior management.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 March, 2022, the remuneration of the
members of the directors and senior management by band is set out
below:—

Remuneration bands (HK$)

EXELRS

EFREREERZHM

BE_Z__F=-A=+—HLEFE EEK
SREEASREEI D ZHMEIWMT : —

Number of persons

i B 8 E (8 7T) A
$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1,000,001 #75%E1,500,00078 7T 2
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,001 75 %3,000,0007% 75

$4,000,001 to $4,500,000 4,000,001 75%4,500,0007%8 75 1

Further particulars regarding director’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in Notes 34 and 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung
Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan. The
Nomination Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming,
Steven.

The meeting of the Nomination Committee shall normally be held not
less than once a year. The Committee will identify qualified candidates
to fill the Board membership whenever such vacancy arises. It will
nominate such candidates for the Board to consider, and regularly
review the composition of the Board as well as make suggestions as
to any change that may be required. The Committee’s authority and
duties are set out in written terms of reference and are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out in the
table below:-

Member of the Nomination Committee

B! & R B E S

MRE

7 ZoBMEBZ
®-

=l

FRORHEBGHE
—F

Meeting attended

REZEEHE HEZERK
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHAcE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang PR TR So 2/2
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan R iR 2/2

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size, diversity, gender and composition of the Board; make
recommendations to the Board on appointment of directors after
considering their qualifications and experience in relevant industries
and re-election of the directors subject to retirement by rotation
under the bye-laws at the 2021 annual general meeting and assess
the independence of the independent non-executive directors
according to the independence requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the former code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, (a)
having served the Company for more than nine years could be
relevant to the determination of an INED’s independence; and (b) if
an INED has served more than nine years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
shareholders.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the board diversity policy in August 2013. The
policy sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the
Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company considered diversity of board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the

benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board developed measurable objectives to implement the board
diversity policy, where selection of candidates will be based on the
range of diversity perspectives as set out above, and the ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidate will bring to the Board.

The Company will appoint at least one Director of different gender in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules in due course.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee of the Company was
established on 21 February, 2012. As at the date of this annual
report, the Corporate Governance Committee comprised of two
executive directors, namely Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) and Mr. Ma
Fung On.

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group
and making recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee
(a) to
(e). The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee

include the duties set out in the former Code Provision D.3.1.

are available on the website of the Company.
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The Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting during the
year. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:—

Member of the
Corporate Governance Committee

FREEELREZBEHBET —REZ AT
BmZMBEHBNT L —

Meeting attended

TEELAEEENE HEZERK
Dr. Ng Chi Ho RERELT 11
Mr. Ma Fung On BEwhE 11

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed
and discussed the new requirements of the Corporate Governance
Code of the Listing Rules and reviewed and monitored the training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in November 2018 (“Dividend
Policy”). Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, dividends may be
paid subject to the solvency test is duly passed and satisfied and
that:-

(@) the Company is not or would not after payment of the said final
dividend be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; and

(b)  the realizable value of the Company’s assets would not thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends of the
Company is subject to the approval of the Directors of the Company,
depending on results of operations, working capital, financial
position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any
other factors which the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. Any future declaration, recommendation
and payment of dividends of the Company may or may not reflect the
historical declarations and payments of dividends and will be at the
absolute discretion of the Directors of the Company. The Company
does not have any predetermined dividend payout ratio.
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In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of
Shares. Any distribution of Shares, however, must be approved by a
resolution of the shareholders.

The Board will review this Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this Policy. The audit committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy in November 2018
(“Nomination Policy”), which sets out the criteria and procedures
when considering candidates to be appointed or re-elected as
directors of the Company.

Nomination Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorship:

1. Character and integrity;

2. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

3. Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board;

4. Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
for achieving diversity on the Board;

5. Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the listing rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited applicable to the Company (the “Listing Rules”)
and whether the candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

6. Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business
or as suggested by the Board.
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Nomination Procedures
Nomination by the Nomination Committee

1.

44

1.1

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board periodically and make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the Board

to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an
additional director, the Nomination Committee identifies
or selects candidates as recommended to the Committee,
with or without assistance from external agencies or the
Company, pursuant to the nomination criteria;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable);

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation
to the Board including the terms and conditions of the
appointment;

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee.
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2.1 In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-
election at each annual general meeting;

2.2 The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director. The Nomination Committee shall also review the
expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring
director, who offered himself/herself for re-election at
the annual general meeting, to determine whether such
director continues to meet the nomination criteria;

2.3 Based on the review made by Nomination Committee, the
Board shall make recommendations to shareholders on
candidates standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company, and provide the available
biographical information of the retiring director in
accordance with the Listing Rules to enable shareholders
to make the informed decision on the re-election of such
candidates at annual general meeting of the Company.

Nomination by shareholders

The shareholders of the Company may propose a person for
election as a director in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company and applicable law, details of which are set out in the
“Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for election
as director of the Company” of the Company adopted in
February 2012.

The Board will review this Nomination Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness from time to time. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions for the year under review. The Company made
specific enquiry of all directors as to whether they complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code regarding their securities
transactions. It was confirmed that there was full compliance. The
relevant employee who, because of their office in the Group, are likely
to be in possession of inside information, have been requested to
comply with the provisions of the Model Code.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The finance department
of the Company is taken charge by the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. With the assistance of the finance department, the
Directors ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been properly prepared in accordance with relevant
regulations and applicable accounting principles.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Group's independent auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"). The financial reporting responsibilities of the independent
auditors are set out on page 109 to 116 of this annual report.

During the year, remuneration of approximately HK$3.3 million
was payable to PwC for the provision of audit services. In addition,
approximately HK$1.0 million was payable to PwC for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax compliance and
other services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zeng Zhi is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board
procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the
Board is briefed on relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments. During the year, Ms. Zeng have duly
complied with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of

the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there is no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility in
establishing an appropriate risk management and internal control
systems, and reviewing their effectiveness regularly. The systems
include a defined management structure with limits of authority to
safeguard its assets against unauthorized use or disposition; to ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for management use or for publication
and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to manage
the risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems and in the
achievement of the Group’s objectives.

Management is responsible in the design and implementation of the
risk management and internal control systems. A Risk Management
Committee was established to monitor the operations of risk
management and internal control systems and provide confirmation
to the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the systems regularly.
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Risk Management

The purpose of risk management is to ensure that the risks to the
Group are identified, analyzed, and managed at an acceptable
level. In order to provide a sound and effective risk management
system, a Risk Management Manual is established to specify the Risk
Management Framework and Risk Management Processes.

The Risk Management Framework outlines the responsibilities of
the Board, the senior management, the Audit Committee, the
Internal Audit and the Risk Management Committee. The Board,
through its risk oversight role, ensures that the senior management
establishes risk management policies to identify and evaluate risks.
Each subsidiary/division implements such policies and processes in the
daily operations and reports significant risks identified to the senior
management promptly and regularly. The senior management and
Risk Management Committee will communicate the risk management
findings to the Audit Committee and the Board for their assessment
of the effectiveness of the relevant risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.

The Risk Management Processes including the followings:

1. Risk Identification — each subsidiary or division to identify its
own risks.
2. Risk Analysis — analyze the identified risks for potential impact

and likelihood of occurrence.

3. Risk Register — the likelihood of occurrence and impacts
of identified risks are defined. The top risks are identified
according to the rating obtained from risk assessment and
documented in a risk register. Each operating subsidiary/division
records the risk events occurred in the risk register and the
action taken to reduce the impact of the risk to the Group.

4. Risk Mitigation — identify the existing controls over the relevant
risks to avoid, reduce or transfer the risks, or to accept the
identified risks with low impact or likelihood.

5. Risk Confirmation — the process of confirmation to the Risk
Management Committee, Audit Committee and the Board
by the management of the completion of the risk monitoring
process and report the risks occurred, if any, during the review
period that have significant impact to the Group.
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Internal Control and Internal Audit

The Group has established systems of internal control to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliabilities of financial
and management reporting, compliances of laws and regulations
and safeguarding of assets. The system of internal control provides
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses
or frauds.

Suga has an Internal Audit function. Internal Audit reviews material
internal control aspects of the Group, including financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as risk management.

Internal Audit carries out audit in accordance with audit plan that is
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. In addition to the
approved internal audit schedule, Internal Audit may conduct other
review and investigation for the Group's business on an ad hoc basis
as and when necessary.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group Internal
Audit Department conducted audits and issued internal audit reports
to management covering various operational and finance functions of
the Group. The half-yearly internal audit reports and its findings were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a half-yearly basis.
Relevant findings and recommendations reported by the Internal
Audit were communicated with the management and actions were
taken to resolve defects as and when identified. There is no material
internal control defects identified during the year.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
effectiveness

The Board has conducted review of the effectiveness and adequacy
of the risk management and internal control systems by reviewing
the work performed by the Audit Committee, Risk Management
Committee and the Internal Audit Department for the financial year
ended 31 March 2022. The review covered all material controls,
including operational, financial and compliance control, and risk
management functions. The scope and the quality of ongoing
monitoring of risks and internal control systems have been assessed.
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Dissemination of inside information

The Company conducts its business affairs according to the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Future Commission. The Company strictly prohibits the
unauthorised use of confidential or inside information by Directors,
employees and other relevant persons (such as external service

providers and project working team members).

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of
inside information. In order to ensure the market, shareholders and
stakeholders are fully and promptly informed about the material
developments in the Company’s business, the Board has adopted
continuous disclosure policy and procedures to handle proper
information disclosure. Release of inside information is subject
to the approval of the Board. All staff of the Company shall not
communicate inside information to any external parties unless with
approval from the Board. As such, staff shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours unless authorised. In addition, all external
presentation materials or publications must be pre-vetted before
released.

The Board considered that the risk management and internal control
systems are functioning effectively and adequately.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective
communications with shareholders. In order to develop and maintain
continuing relationship with the shareholders of the Company, the
Company established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communication:

(i)  the annual general meeting provides a useful forum for the
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board;

(i) publication of announcements and circulars on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company;
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The C
updat

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

publication of financial statements containing a summary of the
financial information and affairs of the Group for the interim
and full financial year via the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company;

interim reports, annual reports and circulars that are sent to all
shareholders;

notices of and explanatory notes for general meetings; and

the management of the Group continually conducts meetings
with investors, analysts and the media, and provides them
with up-to-date and comprehensive information regarding the
Company's development and answers to their queries.

ompany also maintains a website at www.suga.com.hk, where
es on the Company’s business developments and operations,

financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries

and concerns to the Board in writing through the contact details as

follows:—

Address: 22nd Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre,
1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: 2953 1523

Email: investorrelations@suga.com.hk

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to requisition a special general meeting

and put forward proposals at general meeting. The procedures are as

follows:

(a)

(b)

52

PROCEDURES FOR REQUISITIONING A SPECIAL
GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the
shareholders of the Company holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of such of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to
convene a special general meeting of the Company. If the
directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists representing more than one half of the total
voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be
lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 22nd
Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETING

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company or not less than 100 shareholders
may, at their expense, provide a written request to the attention
of the Company Secretary signed and deposited in accordance
with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

The procedures for the shareholders to propose a person for
election of a director at an annual general meeting is available
for viewing at the Company’s website at www.suga.com.hk.

The above procedures are subject to the bye-laws of the
Company and applicable legislation and regulation.

Besides, the updated memorandum of association and bye-
laws of the Company has been posted on the website of the
Company at www.suga.com.hk and the designated website of
the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their
report and the audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together,
2022.

“the Group”) for the year ended 31 March

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the research and development,
manufacture and sale of electronic and other products and sale of
pet food and pet related products. Details of the principal activities
of the Group's subsidiaries are set out in note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by reporting
and geographical segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group’s prospects, as well as discussion and analysis of the
Group's performance during the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
material factors underlying its financial performance are set out in the
“Chairman Statement” on pages 9 to 13, “Management Discussion

and Analysis” on pages 15 to 21 and Environmental, Social and

Governance Report on pages 72 to 108 of this annual report.

A description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group
is facing is provided in the section of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems in“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 31 to
52. Additionally, the financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Company can be found in note 3 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no important event
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year ended 31 March 2022.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

SUGA's commitment to excellence extends to the Group conducting
its business in a manner that respects the environment. The strive
for cleaner production has led SUGA to adopt energy conservation
practices that can reduce environmental risks and liabilities as well
as improve competitiveness. Details of environment policy and

performance are set out in “Environmental, Social and Governance

Report” on pages 72 to 108 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has established procedures to ensure its operations comply
with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Board of Directors is
responsible for monitoring the Group’s policies and practices making
sure they agree with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, and
that those policies and practices are regularly reviewed for adequacy.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought
as necessary to the attention of relevant employees and operating
units.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, as far as it is aware, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations of PRC
and Hong Kong that have a significant impact on its business and
operations.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Discussions on the Group's relationships with its employees,

customers and suppliers are set out in “Environmental, Social and

Governance Report” on pages 72 to 108 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 119 of this annual
report.

An interim dividend of HK6.0 cents per ordinary share were paid
during the financial year. The Directors have proposed the payment of
a final dividend of HK6.0 cents per ordinary share for the year ended
31 March 2022. Total dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK12.0 cents per ordinary share.
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The proposed final dividend, if approved at the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting of the Company to be held on 10 August 2022 is

expected to be paid on or before 25 August 2022 to shareholders of

the Company whose names appear on the Register of Shareholders of
the Company on 16 August 2022.

The register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed for the

following periods:

(i)

(i)

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed
from 5 August 2022 to 10 August 2022 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares in the Company will
be registered, for the purpose of determining the identity of
the shareholders entitled to attend and vote at 2022 Annual
General Meeting. In order to qualify to attend and vote at
the meeting, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 4 August 2022.

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed on
16 August 2022 during which day no transfer of shares in the
Company will be registered, for the purpose of determining
the entitlement of the shareholders to receive the proposed
final dividend. Subject to approval of the shareholders at the
2022 Annual General Meeting, the proposed final dividend will
be payable to the shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Shareholders of the Company on 16 August 2022.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15 August
2022.

Hopewell Centre, Hong
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are set out in notes 23 and 24 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS - SHARE OPTIONS
GRANTED TO DIRECTORS AND SELECTED
EMPLOYEES

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year
is set out in note 24 of the financial statements and “Share options
Scheme”section contained in this Directors Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2022
calculated under Companies Act of Bermuda amounted to
HK$73,828,000 (2021: HK$91,325,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no transactions, which need
to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in this annual
report, none of the related party transactions as disclosed in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this annual
report is a connected transaction.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$229,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particular of bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022 are set out in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement schemes are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 252 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman)

Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lee Kam Hung
Prof. Luk Wing Ching

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven

Mr. Chan Kit Wang

Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Dr. Ng Man Cheuk,
Mr. Lee Kam Hung and Mr. Chan Kit Wang will retire by rotation in
accordance with Bye-law 111 of the Company's Bye-laws. All the
retiring Directors are being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors is appointed for a term of one year.

Dr. Ng Chi Ho, being Executive Director of the Company has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of
three years commencing from 1 September 2002 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other. Mr. Ma Fung On, being
Executive Director, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 1
April 2004 and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other. Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, being Executive Director, has entered into
a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 1 May 2015 and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other. Save as disclosed above, none
of the Directors proposed for re-election has a service contract with
the Company, which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Directors consider the share option scheme, with its broadened
basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward the employees,
Directors and other selected participants for their contributions to the
Group and will also assist the Group in its recruitment and retention
of high caliber professional’s executives and employees who are
instrumental to the growth of the Group.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 6 August 2012, the
Company's share option scheme adopted on 17 September 2002 (the
"Old Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and ceased to have any
further effect except that the Old Share Option Scheme will remain
in force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of the
options granted thereunder prior to termination thereof. A new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme"”) was adopted which
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme and will expire on 5 August 2022.

For details of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 5 July 2012.

Principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme are as follows:—

1. Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant Options to selected participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The Directors consider the New Share Option Scheme will
enable the Group to reward its employees, Directors and other
selected participants for their contributions to the Group and
will also assist the Group in its recruitment and retention of
high calibre professionals, executives and employees who are
instrumental to the growth of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

2.

Who may join

The Directors (which expression shall include a duly authorized

committee thereof) may, at their absolute discretion subject

to the Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the

following classes of participants, to take up options to subscribe

for Shares:

(a)

60

any employee (whether full time or part time including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity;

any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangements to the
development and growth of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

2.

Who may join (Continued)

For the purposes of the New Share Option Scheme, the Options
may be granted to any company wholly owned by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants.
For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any Options by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities
of the Group to any person who fall within any of the above
classes of participants shall not, by itself, unless the Directors
otherwise determined, be construed as a grant of Option under
the New Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any of the above class of participants
to the grant of any Options shall be determined by the Directors
from time to time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to his
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for
subscription

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme was
15,243,000 shares (including 5,100,000 shares subject to
options that have been granted but not yet lapsed or exercised),
which represented 5.35 % of the issued share capital of the
Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
4,

62

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group (including both exercised, cancelled or outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being (“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of Options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant shall be
subject to the issue of a circular to the Shareholders and the
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company
with such participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
The number and terms (including the exercise price) of the
Options to be granted to such participant must be fixed before
Shareholders’ approval and the date of Board meeting for
proposing such further grant should be taken as the date of
grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise price under
note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price for Shares under the New Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Directors, but
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A nominal consideration of
HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an Option.

Exercise period of an option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the New Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day upon which the offer
for the grant of Options is made but shall end in any event not
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the Option subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

7.

Time and payment on acceptance

An offer of the grant of the Option may be accepted by a
participant within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of
the Option and the Option in respect of the number of Shares
in respect of which the offer was so accepted will be deemed to
have been granted on the date of grant of the Options.

Minimum period and performance targets

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer of the grant of Options to a grantee, a grantee is not
required to hold an Option for any minimum period nor achieve
any performance targets before any Options granted under the
New Share Option Scheme can be exercised.

Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general
meeting, the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective till 5 August 2022. After the expiry of such valid
period, no further options will be offered or granted but in all
other respects the provisions of the New Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect.
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faRetEstEl (@)

= . . R =
9. Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme 9. FhBRRMEEE ZFIERERA (B
(Continued)
Details of the share option movements during the period from B2 FMB—HEZZE_F=
1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 under the New Share Option B=+—HHBER HHERESTIET
Scheme are as follows:— ZIEBREEEFEBOT -
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Expired  Outstanding
at 1 April during the during the during the  at31March  Exercise
2021 period period period 2022 price Date of grant Exercisable period
RIEZ-§ | gt S
mA—H =ZA=+-H
HRITHER HREL BRTE BRER B RTHE TEE  RHAS e
(HKS)
()
Mr. Ma Fung On 1,000,000 S & 1,000,000 S 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
FRzEE “E-RERB=tH CEB-RERBZ+HEZZ”_-F5AZTANH
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk 2,000,000 S S 2,000,000 S 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
SREEL “B-RERAZTE CBR-ARERAZHRAECEC-£/A-t+AA
800,000 800,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
“2-\ENB=tH B N\EN\B=+HEZZ-=F/\A-+AH
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan 300,000 - S 300,000 S 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
RS L ZE-XEXA=tH B REXAZHHECZRC-£/AZ+AIH
Continuous Contract 3,300,000 - - - 3,300,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
Employees “2-\ENB=tH B N\EN\B=+HEZZ-=F/\A-+AH
REAWER
Continuous Contract 1,300,000 - 300,000 - 1,000,000 1.810 10 July 2019 10 July 2019-9 July 2024
Employees (Note 1) —2-N&tA+A Z2-NEtATREZE_NELAAH
REAWER (FizE1)
Continuous Contract 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 - - 1.330 16 October 2020 16 October 2020-15 October 2025
Employees (Note 1) “E22E+A+RE ZRIEEFTATSABEEZZ-RF+HATERHE
REAWER (FizE1)
9,700,000 S 1,300,000 3,300,000 5,100,000
Note: MezE :
1. During the financial year, the weight average closing price of the 1. RHREER > AT RHHRER300,0001

Company's share immediately before the date on which 300,000 and
1,000,000 share options were exercised was HK$2.11.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

9. Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
(Continued)
Details of the share option movements during the period from

1 April 2022 to 27 June 2022 under the New Share Option
Scheme are as follows: —

Number of share options
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EFTHRE

Rz et & (&)
9. HhRBRRESHEIZ RIBRERA (B)

B _FONA—RAEFT-__F
H —I—JCElﬁﬁF'ﬁIN B IR ST EITE T

BREHE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Expired  Outstanding
at 1 April during the during the during the at 27 June  Exercise
2022 period period period 2022 price Date of grant Exercisable period
|t St 3 |t St
mA—H ~AZ+tH
HRITES Filatb] AT HAER HATE TEE  BUHAH f11E8
(HK$)
(#7T)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk 800,000 - - - 800,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
RR=EEL “2-\ENA=+H 2-\FN\A=FTHEZBRZ=H)\AZ+NH
Continuous Contract 3,300,000 - - - 3,300,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
Employees - N\ENB=+tH CEB-N\EN\BZ=+HEIRI=£)\BIZ+hH
NRANER
Continuous Contract 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1.810 10 July 2019 10 July 2019-9 July 2024
Employees —Z-N&EtB+H ZZ-hEtB+HESMNELBAR
FEANEE
5,100,000 - - - 5,100,000

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and the short positions of the
directors of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")) which are required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they have taken
or deemed to have under such positions of the SFO) or which are
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which are required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers
(the “Model Code"”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange were as follows:—

EFNRRGZER
RIBEZZHF=ZRB=+—H ZxRIJEFERNE
AEREEMEE IR (EERIBHFRPER
B (MBS RAEFRG) BXVER Z R4~ 18R
Rk EEIST BERBESKEHRNSE
XVERR7TR8N MR ERNE AR REEH
BRZMAERLE (MBI 2BERXE
(’@,%*E?}%m%&,ﬁﬁﬁﬂ @JE%M XK F R
EFARFEEAEZEDZRKR) » HALAR
TJ*‘*’*%E’ZHHfﬂ“%%ESZ{H??%ZEEEH%Z%
REB FRBLBTETAEFTETIESFR
SR ESTR| (FE&/—%WEUJ) ANEGEXRNE R
Pz EmRXBWT | —
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONTINUED)

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company and its

i;mﬂﬁ{ﬁz* (n‘ﬁ)
RAEARBIREEBEZE ZRHO REBEKRMDZ

associated corporation. o

(a) MAERERRGZiES

(a) Interests in shares of the Company

Number of
underlying
Percentage shares held
of issued under equity
Number ordinary derivatives
Name of Director Capacity of shares Total interests shares (Note 1)
RETETR
TET P8R
HEET HEE
ESiA 51 BinEE B BEREAL (MsE1)
Dr. Ng Chi Ho Beneficial owner 6,930,000(L) 170,528,000(L) 59.88%(L)
REREL BEREBAA
Interests of controlled corporation 53,598,000(L) - -
REEE#R (Note 2) (FizF2)
Founder of a discretionary trust 110,000,000(L) - - -
FREFANE (Note 3) (FizE3)
Mr. Ma Fung On Beneficial owner 4,323,000(L) 14,223,000(L) 4.99%(L)
fipegegies BHEAA
Interests of controlled corporation 9,900,000(L) - - -
REEE#R (Note 4) (Ffi3¥4)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk Beneficial owner 1,000,000(L) 111,000,000(L) 38.98%(L) 800,000
BREET BEREBAA
Beneficiary of a discretionary trust 110,000,000(L)
FRERAZEA (Note 3) (Fi&F3)
Mr. Lee Kam Hung Beneficial owner 1,257,800(L) 1,257,800(L) 0.44%(L)
THIERE BEREBA
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven Beneficial owner 530,000(L) 530,000(L) 0.19%(L) -
AFHAE BHEBA
Mr. Chan Kit Wang Beneficial owner 200,000(L) 200,000(L) 0.07%(L) -

BAERE

E@BEAA
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Interests in shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. These represent the interests in underlying shares in respect of the share
options granted by the Company, the details of which are set out in the

sub-section “Share Option Scheme”.

2. 53,598,000 shares are held by Billion Linkage Limited, the entire issued
shares of which is held by Dr. Ng Chi Ho and his spouse in equal share.

3. 110,000,000 Shares are held by Superior View Inc., the entire issued
shares of which is ultimately held by Fidelitycorp Limited as the trustee of
the C.H. Family Trust, the beneficiaries of which are the family members of
Dr. Ng Chi Ho.

4. 9,900,000 Shares are held by Global Class Enterprises Limited, the entire
issued shares of which is held by Mr. Ma Fung On.

5. (L) — Long Position

Interests in shares of the Company’s associated
corporation

Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1.00 each in Suga Electronics
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company:
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EFN kG ZzED (&)
(a) MRAEAF ARG ZziER (4)

My 5E -

BRRMNIERRB MR LEREY Rk ERR
D AR BENERES SO -

% %53,598,000/% & 15 HBillion Linkage
Limited B > MZ AR 2 HEETRMOAAR
ERETEHERBSF—¥-

52110,000,0000% f& 1% AR Superior View Inc.3F
B MZABZEHEBTROBERCH.RE
55E2 5L A ZFidelitycorp Limited R4 FHE > &
EAZRBEARRERBLIZRE-

% %9,900,000 M AHGlobal Class
Enterprises Limited5H > MZAB2WEEIT

RINBIBEERTERA -

L—FA

(b) MAEQBEMEERR R 2

RERBDZ2EMBRAEAGEEEFARA
BEREE1.00BTZERZERIELER

Number of
Non-voting
deferred Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity shares issued shares

EIGEE HEBITRMGM

EEN4A 517 IRIERR D BB BoLE
(Note 1)
(B 5E1)

Dr. Ng Chi Ho Interests of controlled corporation 3,680,000 (Note 2) 92%
RBEEEL S LE R (fgx2)

Mr. Ma Fung On Interests of controlled corporation 240,000 (Note 2) 6%
EELRE SRR (FF5E2)
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONTINUED)
(b) Interests in shares of the Company's associated
corporation (Continued)

Notes:

1. These non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights, are not entitled to
dividends, and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless
a sum of HK$10,000,000,000 per ordinary shares has been distributed to
the holders of ordinary shares.

2. The 4,000,000 non-voting deferred shares in Suga Electronics Limited are
held as to 80% by Essential Mix Enterprises Limited and 20% by Broadway
Business Limited. Dr. Ng Chi Ho and Mr. Ma Fung On hold 92% and
6% interests in each of Essential Mix Enterprises Limited and Broadway
Business Limited respectively.

Save as disclosed above and under the “Share Option Scheme”,
none of the Directors of the Company have any interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations as defined in
the SFO as at 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURE

Save as disclosed in above section, at no time during the year was
the Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debenture of, the Company or any body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its parent
company, or its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company, his connected entities were
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS' PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, every director of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the
Company.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

In the opinion of the Directors, there is no such competing business as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2022, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO and which have been recorded in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to the section 336 of the SFO.

Name Capacity

wh g 513
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EFRZHEFREREX
REBEAXARBDATMA ARBEEEFTAENE
THRBAEETHERB T ENEHMA R
FHAUEESIBRZAMAEBRIEERSE
ARZEER G PERGEE AAFERH
EEkSRBERBEENEERSREBE
SEMRE-

ESNHmBERBZEN
EERA LREASEHEIZFERAD
W EHRA (LHRA) REZHP LS

FERR

RIBZZHFZRA=+—0 > BERIREZ
FREAEHRAIEI6HTFEZECMATCH
TIHAL (LFEERBDEEFHETETHAER)
RAERBZRMDRABRBRD T A REE
REAEEROIEXVEFE 2R3N EREBRAERA
BRBEZ DK A

Number of Percentage of

shares issued shares
HERTRM
{7 &8 Bt

Beneficial owner

BmBEAA

Superior View Inc. (Note 1)
Superior View Inc. (FzE1)

Beneficial owner

BmBEAA

Billion Linkage Limited (Note 2)
Billion Linkage Limited (f#z£2)

Lee Wai Fun (Note 3) Interest of spouse

FEF (MiEE3) (R EY s
Interest of controlled corporation
S kM

110,000,000(L) 38.62%(L)

53,598,000(L) 18.82%(L)

116,930,000(L) 41.06%(L)

53,598,000(L) 18.82%(L)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1. The entire issued share capital of Superior View Inc. is ultimately held by
Fidelitycorp Limited as trustee of the C.H. Family Trust, the beneficiaries of which
are the family members of Dr. Ng Chi Ho.

2. The entire issued share capital of Billion Linkage Limited is held by Dr. Ng Chi
Ho and his spouse in equal shares and, as such, Dr. Ng Chi Ho is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Billion Linkage Limited under the SFO.

3. Madam Lee Wai Fun is deemed to be interested in 116,930,000 shares held by her
spouse, Dr. Ng Chi Ho, a director of the Company.

4. (L) - Long Position

Save as disclosed above, as far as is known to the Directors, there
is no person, other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company, who has an interest or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provision 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as at
31 March 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer for the year accounted for
approximately 22.2% of the Group's total revenue and the five
largest customers accounted for approximately 51% of the Group's
total revenue. In addition, the largest supplier of the Group accounted
for approximately 7.5% of the Group’s purchases while the five
largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 22.1% of
the Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2022, the Company was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or arbitration were
pending or threatened or made against the Company so far the
Company is aware.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the

“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 31 to 52.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company's issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offered
themselves for re-appointment.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
("ESG")

The Company has a serious commitment to ESG matters. A report on
the environmental, social and governance commitment can be found
on pages 72 to 108.

On behalf of the Board

Suga International Holdings Limited
NG Chi Ho

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFTHRE

b e 3 -H N
RIEBEZ_HF=A=+—H ARALEI K
ERIERFR P MBARII A > IFE
ARERTHARATEERMBRBHNHERREE
HZBERERFRASAPE

tEEA
KRBRNERFESKEZLEBERER A2
B EEERBRENENEIIE2EZ
MhEERRSE I AN

ARWFFRE
REAADABREZENRREERN 1
AEERN AATDRLOR5%EHTRNHE

BRETRAFERARALFER-

35 3L #% KB
FEEZMGREAEHABIBR KB GSME
BREZ BB ERER EEERK
I’?EE'){E“EE?O

Rig-#HERER (MRE-HERE
N2

ial)

ARBBBAERER HEREANBE-F
IR HERELAAENRSHNE2E
1088

KEREFT
EEERERARAR
ZE

CY=E

ERA " "_FB-++tH

EEBREREEARAT 2021/22 F3] 71



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERELSHS

FORWARD

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report is
prepared for Suga International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(referred to in this report as “the Group” or “SUGA"” for the financial
year ended 31 March 2022, in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "ESG
Reporting Guide”).

This report presents SUGA’s compliance with Appendix 27 “Comply
or Explain” provision of the ESG Reporting Guide.

As a leading electronics total solutions provider in Hong Kong, SUGA
has a mission to contribute to the progress of society by providing
people with quality products and employing advanced technology,
with protecting the environment and serving the community always in
mind.

ESG GOVERNANCE
Board Oversight

To ensure the sustainability development of the Group’s ESG matters,
the Group'’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible for
Group's ESG strategy and reporting. The Board is also responsible for
overseeing, identifying and assessing the risks that may give in the
governance process and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG
risk management are integrated into the Group’s Risk Management
framework.

At management level, the ESG Management Committee ("EMC"),
chaired by an executive director with representatives from key
departments within the Group, oversees the management,
development and implementation of the Group’s ESG initiatives,
including reviewing the related policies and practices, and assessing
and making recommendations on matters concerning the Group's
ESG development and risks.

At operational level, the ESG Working Committee (“EWC"), chaired
by the Chief Executive Officer of the Electronics Manufacturing
Service Division, with representatives from key factory departments,
effectively executes all ESG project of the Group. The EWC is
responsible for executing the existing ESG initiatives and tracking
progress of ESG performance in meeting targets. Where appropriate,
the EWC reports relevant ESG matters to the Board.
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The ESG Governance Structure and responsibilities are described ESGEARERBSESMANT :
below:

Provides long-term direction and
strategy on all ESG matters

FLPRA ESG EEIRMHE RS A AR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BT

ESG MANAGEMENT Formulates and delivers
COMMITTEE all ESG projects
ESG BIEHE T HIE I 5EALFTA ESG IEE

ESG WORKING
COMMITTEE
ESG T1EZET

Executes all ESG projects
¥ATPTA ESG IHEB

The Group has established the ESG Policies as follows: zx&£E B & EL FESGHE ¥ :

ESG Guidelines ESGH55]
Environmental Protection Policy RREE
Climate Change Policy RAIEEEE SR
Health & Safety Policy BEHAZREER
Whistle-blowing Policy BWEHE
Anti-corruption Policy R EBHE

EERBEBRBRAT 2021/22 Fik 73



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERELSHRS

REPORT SCOPE

This report covers the operations of SUGA’s core business in Hong
Kong, its plant in Dongguan, PRC and plant in Bac Ninh Province,
Vietnam. SUGA's sustainability-related efforts in Environmental
Aspects (Aspect A) and Social Aspects (Aspect B) and the material
topics in these two general categories are summarised in the
following section.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL TOPICS DISCLOSED IN
THIS REPORT

Material Topics

HEHE
ARERECEENEBURAETREAREEHF
REEIEEBENZOERNEE - FERE
RIGEE (BEA) kitEEE (BEB) WA
BERPAPAEENERAEMRZMADEN
BRFEN T X —®H-

RERESHBNERRERE

Location of Disclosure

EXEE REE@
Environmental — Emissions and Waste Aspect A1
IRIE —H R R EE [EmEA1
Environmental — Use of Resources Aspect A2
IRIE—EIREMA [EmA2
Environmental — Environment and Natural Resources Aspect A3
BiE—BIERAALE EEA3
Environmental — Climate Change Aspect A4
IRIE—RIZEE [EEA4
Social — Employment Aspect B1
HE—(EE [E®EB1
Social — Health and Safety Aspect B2
HE-—REEZE [E®EB2
Social — Development and Training Aspect B3
tHE—EREREI [E®EB3
Social — Labor Standards Aspect B4
-8 T 2R B B4
Social — Supply Chain Management Aspect B5
HE—HEREEIE [EEB5
Social — Product Responsibility Aspect B6
HE-EREMT [E®EB6
Social — Anti-corruption Aspect B7
HE-RES [E®EB7
Social — Community Investment Aspect B8
HE-HEXE [E®EBS
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES
In line with the ESG Reporting Guide, this report is prepared
accordance with the following principles.

Materiality — The Group has taken into account the interests
and expectation of stakeholders through conducting stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment.

Quantitative — Information on the standards, methodologies,
and source of conversion factors used for the reporting of the
environmental and social aspects/KPIs have been disclosed in this
report. Data presented in this report have been examined and
verified.

Consistency — The methodologies used in this report is consistent
with those used last year. Any significant variation between periods in
the list of material topics or information presented in this report can
be identified and explained.

Balance — The information in this report is presented in a format that
allows users to see the positive and negative trends in performance
on a year-over-year basis.

There is no change in the material topics in this report when
compared with the ESG Report issued in the Group's 2020/2021
Annual Report.
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RIE-HERELSHRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

A thorough understanding of ESG-related topics that are material
to the Group’s sustainability planning, reporting and performance is
key for ESG reporting of the Group. Therefore, SUGA values internal
and external stakeholders’ views in all ESG aspects and regularly
communicates with different stakeholders including regulators,

government authorities, investors, customers, suppliers and

employees to identify the Group’s material ESG topics and interests
of different stakeholders. The communications channels include the
following:

- Employee training and seminars

- Employee recreational and volunteer activities

- Intranet and emails

= Customer satisfaction survey

- Newsletters and notice board

- Corporate website

- Annual General Meeting and other shareholders’ meetings

- Annual Reports, Interim Reports and Announcements

- Community service programs

- Investor Relation programs

- Contact relevant regulators and government authorities

The materiality assessment including the following process:

1. Identification — Identify the environmental and social topics
most relevant to the Group's industry.

2. Prioritisation — Prioritise material issues based on stakeholder
engagement results.

3. Validation — The Board validates and approves the stakeholder
engagement results.

4. Review — Review and identify gaps for improvement.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX
The Materiality Matrix after external and internal assessment is
summarised as follows.

A4 A13 B6.1
Al5  Al6 862
A2.1 863
A1 B6.4
4 A12 B6.5
@
=
[=]
< B54  AS3
24
e A31
bt
£ 8§
25 A25 B3.1
Eﬁ A4 B7.1
ER B5.2
7]
gﬁ A22 B2.2
"
S B1.1 B4.1
5 B1.2 B4.2
5 B7.3
= B5.1
A23
A24

Notes:

A1.1 = Types of Emissions and Respective Emissions Data

A1.2 = Direct (Scope 1) and Indirect Energy (Scope 2) Greenhouse Gas Emissions

A1.3 = Total Hazardous Waste Produced (in tons)

A1.4 = Total Non-hazardous Waste Produced (in tons)

A1.5 = Emissions Target(s) Set and Steps Taken to Achieve Them

A1.6 = Waste Management for Hazardous and Non-hazardous Substances

A2.1 = Direct and Indirect Energy Consumption

A2.2 = Water Consumption

A2.3 = Description of Energy Use Efficiency Target(s) Set and Steps Taken to Achieve Them

A2.4 = Description of Water Efficiency Target(s) Set and Steps Taken to Achieve Them

A2.5 = Total Packing Material Used for Finished Products (in tons)

A3.1 = Description of Significant Impact of Activities on the Environment and Natural Resources
A4.1 = Climate Change

B1.1 = Total Workforce by Gender, Employment Type, Age Group and Geographical Region

B1.2 = Employee Turnover Rate by Gender, Age Group and Geographical Region

B2.1 = Number and Rate of Work-related Fatalities for the Past 3 Years Including the Reporting Year
B2.2 = Lost Days Due to Work-related Injury

B2.3 = Description of Occupational Health and Safety Measures Adopted, Implemented and Monitored
B3.1 = Percentage of Employees Trained by Gender and Employee Category

B3.2 = Average Training Hours Completed per Employee by Gender and Employee Category

B4.1 = Measures to Review Employment Practices to Avoid Child and Forced Labor

B4.2 = Steps to Eliminate Child and Forced Labor When Discovered

B5.1 = Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region

B5.2 = Practices to Engage Suppliers, Numbers of Suppliers Where the Practices Are Implemented
B5.3 = Practices to Identify Environmental and Social Risk in Supply Chain and Implementation
B5.4 = Practices to Promote Environmentally Preferable Products When Selecting Suppliers

B6.1 = Percentage of Total Products Sold Subject to Recalls for Safety and Health Reasons

B6.2 = Number of Products-related Complaints Received and How They Are Dealt with

B6.3 = Practices Relating to Observing and Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

B6.4 = Quality Assurance Process and Recall Procedures

B6.5 = Consumer Data Protection and Privacy Policies

B7.1 = Number of Concluded Legal Cases Regarding Corrupt Practices Against the Group or Employees
B7.2 = Implementation and Monitoring of Preventive Measures and Whistle-blowing Procedures
B7.3 = Anti-corruption Training Provided to Directors and Staff

B8.1 = Focus Areas of Contribution

B8.2 = Resources Contributed to the Focus Areas

B3.2
B7.2

Internal Assessment from Management and Employees

REEEERES AR

RIE-HERESHRS

EEMER
P HE AT SN B R P B 5 £ % B9 BB M 4B feE R
mF e

B8.1
B8.2

B2.1
B2.3

P EE

A1 = BERUE R R HE R HE R B

A1.2 = B¥ (851) REEER (852) SR ERBHNE
A3 =HEENELES CIEHH)

Al4 = BEERELES (WUEE)

A5 = FRET I B B A2 K 7 1 B35 L B AZ P IRER Y & BR
A6 = BEREEYENEER G2

A2.1 = BEKEEERHEE

A2.2 = FEKE

A2.3 = HEAFET L A AETRE A 3 20 B A2 K 2 4 B35 1 B AZ PR ER Y &5 B
A2.4 = BEERFTET I B9 K 3R B AR e 42 2 555 L B ARFTERELAY 25 B
A2.5 = B MFTA B YRR E LR E)

A3l = ¥R EHHRERRABRNEALE
A4l = RIREAE

B1.1 = LR BHEAER  FI AR R B B DB ELR
B1.2 = 1L FRAE B R & B D VB B R

B2.1 = BE3F (BIEERERE) TIFHERMIET ABRILE
B2.2 = ATLBHEANIFHEK
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B6.3 = AR E R RIBH HE 1S F)

B6.4 = EEBRFRF KEIWERF

B6.5 = M & & B KRS R FABBBUR

B7.1 = HALEREERH T EBENE SHARGNHE
B7.2 = MITR BRI HIEM R RRIZF
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RIE-HERELSHS

FEEDBACK

SUGA values feedback from our stakeholders. If you have any
questions or suggestions on the content or the format of reporting of
this ESG Report, you are welcome to contact us via the following:

Address: 22/F., Tower B, Billion Centre,
1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: investorrelations@suga.com.hk
Telephone:  852-2953 0383
Fax: 852-2953 1523

REPORTING ON ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
Environmental Sustainability

SUGA recognises the importance of environmental sustainability
and is committed to protecting the environment. We incorporate
environmental considerations into business processes and maintain an
ongoing commitment to environment protection in line with laws and
regulations within Hong Kong, Mainland China and Vietnam. SUGA
has implemented various measures to achieve the following priority
objectives in environmental aspects:

- Reducing emissions of greenhouse gases and other pollutants

- Achieving savings in energy

- Reducing waste generation

In supporting the Group to develop an all-round corporate
social responsibility and green culture, we have incorporated the
internationally-certified 1ISO 14001 and QC 080000 environmental
management systems and processes in our operations and

have provided formal guidance to employees through setting
environmental protection guidelines.
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ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS AND WASTE REDUCTION

The Group is committed to reducing its emissions, waste, use
of resources by using new environmental technologies and
environmentally friendly raw materials and promoting environmental
awareness among our stakeholders where applicable.

Towards this end, SUGA has established environmental protection
policy to manage emissions waste and resources usage issues.

Our long-term target is to reach our maximum carbon emissions
in 2030 and net zero carbon emissions in 2060 which in line with
China’s long-term goal.

We fully comply with the relevant laws and regulations related
to gas emissions and waste management. Our emissions KPIs are
within a normal range comparable to the industry peers. Our goal
is to reduce emissions, waste, use of energy and water by using
new environmental technologies and environmentally-friendly raw
materials.
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BEAT R HER B B
4 R B 20035 0B 2 /R BT 0 IR R B R B (R R
MELUR DB R B RERER LESE
MERTRERDENRRER-

R/ EEEHEEZEMNERFAER UE
W~ BEY) e B R AR R R o

B HF

HPANEHEREE ST =S FERRKKX
HE TE_EATFERNTATRARYE
R ESREME

Rf2EBTAMRAREIHRREREENNE
BARKRZER - BEBEEF QBB HAN
AR ENIERENERHE BITXRTT
BE-RFNERAZBEANBRERRMRIER
R IR A4 14 LURL D BE IR ~ B 4 LUK BE TR Be 7KCOH #E

=
B

EERBEBRBRAT 2021/22 Fik 79



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERELSHRS

Aspect A1.1 & A1.2 Reduce Emissions from Fuel
Consumption and Greenhouse Gases Emissions

SUGA’'s main sources of greenhouse gases and other polluting
emissions are electricity usage and our vehicle fleet. We have
managed to reduce such emissions by measures such as monitoring
electricity consumption, implementing energy-saving measures and
curtailing use of our vehicle fleet as stated in Aspect A1.5 “Measures
to Mitigate Emissions”. The amount of gas emissions is calculated
according to HKEX “How to Prepare an ESG Report Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued in March 2022.

B EA1.1RAL.2iE AR H FE R B
E R AEHEK
EENREREREMSAYIERNEE
HAREREK- &ﬁum&msrmmmm%
Eif) — P BE B FE B~ ) ST EP AEHE B R
B ERER S WAL BBERY - R
BOEMERWRAN T _F= Hﬂﬁm
T EERE M EREARSEME
BRI RIS B ERIES A o

AT1.1 Air Emissions from Gases and Fuel Al 1R EER I =2/ —ECE/

Consumption 2021/2022 2020/2021 JHFERIRESHEN T —E-—&
NO. Emissions 434.36Kg 450.21Kg EE=N o7k i) 4343675 450217 5%
SOx Emissions 0.84Kg 1.12Kg mE EYHER 0.84F 5% 1.12F %
Particulate Matter (PM) Emissions 37.61Kg 36.44Kg BT ML F B 37.61F 5% 36.44F 7%
Total Emissions of Pollutants 472 .81Kg 487.77Kg BRI 472.81F % 487.77F 7%

Total Emissions of Pollutants has slightly decreased in the fiscal year
2021/2022.

KRB — /B _FHBFENSTRY
ABIE IR B MR D o

A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions for the Year: 2021/2022 2020/2021 A 2ERBEGERH . 52—/ Z5°%/

- S = ZE-F
Scope 1 - Direct Emissions' 158.20 Tons 189.40 Tons ER1-ERAN 158.2008 189.4008
Scope 2 - Indirect Emissions' 8,744.17 Tons 7,751.10 Tons SR -BiERHm 8744170 7,751,100
Total Emissions of Greenhouse Gases? 8,902.37 Tons 7,940.50 Tons RERRELHR 8902370 7,940,500
Scope 1 - Direct Emissions Intensity 0.09 Tons/HK$M Sales  0.09 Tons/HK$M Sales 8F1 -BRENEE 0.00%/BEETHER 0.09%/ BEETHER
Scope 2 - Indirect Emissions Intensity 4.71 Tons/HK$M Sales  3.69 Tons/HK$M Sales B -BRANEE AT/ BEETHER 369/ BEETEER

Total Emissions of Greenhouse Gases Intensity 4.80 Tons/HK$M Sales  3.78 Tons/HK$M Sales
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Notes:

1. The source of conversion factors used to calculate Greenhouse Gas emissions
was according to HKEX “How to prepare on ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued in March 2022. The conversion factor for
purchased electricity for this year was reduced when compared with last year.

2. The increased in the indirect Greenhouse Gas emissions during the fiscal year
2021/2022 was mainly due to the increase in electricity consumption as more
resources were deployed in our PRC factory to manufacture processing orders as a
result of a change in sales mix. This also explained the higher intensity in the fiscal
year 2021/2022.

Aspect A1.3 & A1.4 Reduce Generation of Hazardous &
Non-hazardous Waste

SUGA does not generate any hazardous waste within our core
production process. Even in our raw material Incoming Quality
Assurance (“IQA") operation, no hazardous solutions was identified
by the external specialist contractor during their sample testing of
our incoming raw material. In addition, only vendors that comply
with Restriction of Hazardous Substance (“RoHS”) and Registration,
Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH) codes
are included in our “Approved Vendors List”. And in order to ensure
that our products are environmentally-friendly, only approved vendors
are permitted to supply raw materials to us.

SUGA’s main source of non-hazardous waste is trash generated
from business operations, the Dongguan Plant Central Canteen and
Dormitory and the Vietnam Plant.

We have managed to reduce generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste by measures stated in Aspect A1.6 “Waste

Management for Hazardous and Non-hazardous Substances.”

A1.3 Total Hazardous Waste
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for the Year:

2021/2022

2020/2021

Hazardous Waste for the year

Hazardous Waste Intensity

0 Kg

0 Kg/HK$M Sales 0 Kg/HK$M Sales

0 Kg

A1 FEREE g2/ ZEC%/
BHEE. “BICE “E -
ERAEER 0F% 0F%
BEENEE 0FR/BEETHER (TR/EEATHER
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A1.4 Total Non-hazardous Waste A 4ERES 52—/ “8°%/
for the Year: 2021/2022 2020/2021 EHAE. “E_°F “E-F
Industrial Waste 268,567 Kg 367,257 Kg TEER 268,567 % 367,577 %
Plastic 18,220 Kg 19,591 Kg £ 182075 1959175
Garbage 571,424 Kg 583,566 Kg Hisk 571,447 5% 583,566 72
Food Residue 161,436 Kg 166,051 Kg BBE 161,436 5 166,051 %
Total Non-hazardous Waste 1,019,647 Kg 1,136,465 Kg BEENEE 1,019,647 % 1,136,465T %
Total Non-hazardous Waste Intensity? 549 Kg/HK$M Sales 541 Kg/HK$M Sales BEENASER 549F 5/ BEATHER MTR/BEETHER
Notes: g2
3. Total Non-hazardous waste and its intensity has slightly increased in the fiscal year 3. RIZ— /- _FHBEENESENEER
2021/2022. HEEEHMRD -
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Aspect A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

SUGA has implemented a wide range of measures to reduce
emissions of greenhouse gases and other pollutants highlighted
below:

- Implementing a Solar Panel Energy System at the Dongguan
Plant which can provide around 900,000 KWH of electricity per
annum

- Using LED lighting in all areas of the Hong Kong Office and the
Dongguan Plant in the PRC to save energy

- Monitoring electricity consumption by measuring monthly
electricity usage

- Deploying a frequency converter in production lines and the air-
conditioning system in the Dongguan Plant to save energy in
production

- Reducing use of our fleet by careful implementation of
transportation plans

- Installing various types of sensors for electricity switches in the
Dongguan Plant to reduce electricity consumption

- Installing smoke filters and electric ovens in the Central Kitchen
of the PRC Dongguan Plant to reduce smoke pollution

- Implementing guidelines and creating slogans and posters to
educate employees about energy-saving and environmentally-
friendly concepts and encouraging them to live a green life
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Aspect A1.6 Waste Management for Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Substances

Our waste management strategy is in line with the key 4R principles —
Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Replace.

We have undertaken the following measures to mitigate waste
generation:

- Hazardous waste is not a major issue in our operations,
nevertheless we have a team and lab to monitor hazardous
waste created during the IQA process

- Implementing and adhering to policies to recycle packing pallets
and carton boxes and reuse transit carton boxes to reduce
packing material usage

- Implementing recycling programs to reduce paper-based waste

- Implementing and adhering to policies to use environmentally-
friendly raw materials at the product design stage

ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES

We have adopted a variety of practices and guidelines to continually
improve our energy efficiency in our production operations.
Meanwhile, we remain committed to finding new ways to reduce
energy consumption by improving the performance of machinery and
use of infrastructure.

SUGA’s main usage of energy is for electricity at our facilities and fuel
consumption by our vehicle fleet. We manage direct and/or indirect
energy consumption by monitoring monthly energy consumption,
and educating employees about energy-saving and environmentally-
friendly concepts and practices. Water consumption is not a material
aspect area for SUGA. Much of our water consumption is for
cleaning and sanitation at the Dongguan Plant Dormitory, as well as
use at the Dongguan Plant Central Canteen. Nevertheless, we have
implemented practices and guidelines to manage water consumption
at a reasonable level.

Our efforts in this direction include:

- Implementing a Solar Panel System at the Dongguan Plant to
generate renewable energy and reduce electricity consumption
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Modernising our air-conditioning system and production
machinery to save energy

Implementing guidelines and creating slogans and posters to
educate employees about energy-saving and environmentally-

friendly concepts

Installing sensors on water taps in the Dongguan Plant to
reduce water usage

Implementing paperless e-procurement and e-production and
material planning systems to reduce paper consumption

Implementing a paperless office system for business operation
to reduce paper consumption

Initiating a policy to reduce usage of packing materials for
finished goods at the product design stage

Implementing procedures to reduce packing materials in the
production process

Rubbish separation for recycling resources

Aspect A2.1 Direct and/or Indirect Energy Consumption
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5/ 5%/
Resources Consumption for the Year: 2021/2022 2020/2021 EREFHE. i B¢
Purchased Electricity 15,525,295 KWh 12,303,353 KWh fEs 15,525,295 R 12303353 R
Solar Power Generated 758,240 KWh 893,600 KWh HEEARE 7582407 R 893600
Sale of Solar Power 6,480 KWh 3,680 KWh HEXBE 6480 B 3680 RE
Purchased Electricity Intensity® 8,365 KWh/HK$M Sales 5,853 KWh/HK$M Sales MRENEE 8365FRE/BEATHEE S83TRE/REETHER
Diesel® 38,662 Liters 53,166 Liters £ 38,6625 53,1667
Petrol® 14,989 Liters 17,793 Liters B 14,989% 17193%

Notes: g2

PRC & HK Electricity consumption increased mainly due to increase in production
volume in fiscal year 2021/2022.

The increase in the intensity of the purchased electricity was mainly due to the
change in sales mix in this fiscal year.

Diesel and petrol consumption decreased mainly due to new logistic arrangement

to enhance efficiency.
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Aspect A2.2 Water Consumption [EmA2.25E Kk E
Water Consumption for the Year: 2021/2022 2020/2021 ERfR: §-/25°°% ZEF/RF
Water Consumed 200,877 m? 171,533 m? BK WA 171 5BULAR
Water Consumption Intensity” 108 m¥/HK$M Sales 82 m¥HK$M Sales BAEE 1BIF%/EEATHEE  QUAK/BERTHER

Notes: BT

7. The Water consumption increased mainly due to the new self-canteen and the 7. FEXAEEMDTEHANR_E_— /"B _HHEE

planting of more trees in Vietnam factory during the fiscal year 2021/2022.

Aspect A2.5 Packaging Material Consumption

REEIRNMEENEERBEESHEAC

BEA2.58 M HE

Packaging Material Consumption for the Year: 2021/2022 2020/2021 GEREEGEEE. ZET-/ETCF ZEE/CEC-F

Packaging Material Consumed 1,204,365 Kg 1,173,797 Kg EERENH 1,204,365 5% 117379175

Intensity 649 Kg/HK$M Sales 558 Kg/HK$M Sales BE 64977/ EEATHER 50T /BEATHER
The increase in consumption and intensity of packaging material @R HERRERMTIEESRNNEHR
mainly due to change of sales mix from last year. Current sales mix &SEHEAFEERNE - HITINELASEZEETLA

requires more packing material.

ASPECT A3: IMPACT ON ENVIRONMENTAL AND
NATURAL RESOURCES

The nature of our industry does not produce hazardous waste and not
require large consumption of natural resources, therefore SUGA does
not has a serious impact on environmental and natural resources.
SUGA has established ESG Policies which include stringent measures
in place to reduce greenhouse gases and control emissions of
pollutants. We have also implemented measures to reduce production
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Moreover, to promote environmental awareness among our
employees, SUGA has created guidelines, slogans and posters to
educate employees about energy-saving and environmentally-friendly
concepts. We encourage our employees to live a green lifestyle.

SUGA's activities and operations have had no significant adverse

impact on the environment and natural resources during the financial
year ended 31 March 2022.
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ASPECT A4: CLIMATE CHANGE

SUGA recognises that the climate change poses physical and
transitional risks to the businesses of the Group. Therefore, SUGA
has established Climate Change Policy to cope with climate change.
The Group has identified the physical and transitional risks posed by
climate change and strives to manage them. We incorporate climate
change and extreme weather events such as flood and typhoon into
our risk management and develop strategies in line with industry best
practices to mitigate, adapt and fortify its resilience to the impact of
climate change. Also, management reviews regularly the updates of
relevant laws and regulations concerning climate change and take
action if necessary to reduce the transitional risks.

In accordance with the ESG policies, SUGA shall:
1. Reduce carbon emissions by adopting industry best practices to

improve energy efficiency in operations. Our long-term target is
to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2060.

2. Increase the use of renewable energy in the Group’s operations.

3. Establish emergency plans and response mechanisms intended
to prevent or minimise the damage that climate change may
cause.

4. Encourage stakeholders to reduce carbon emissions in their
daily operations wherever practicable.

5. Incorporate climate change considerations in procurement
processes and promote environmentally friendly materials.

6.  Assess the financial and other risks and opportunities associated
with climate change and its impact on the Group's operations.

7. Implement measures to prevent or minimise the damage caused
by climate change.
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REPORTING ON SOCIAL ASPECTS

Corporate Social Responsibility

As one of Hong Kong's leading providers of total electronics
solutions, fulfilling our corporate social responsibility is one of our
objectives. SUGA is committed to operating in a manner that is
economically, socially and environmentally sustainable. We have put
in place policies, practices, procedures, guidelines and measures to
achieve our corporate social responsibility objectives in environmental
and social aspects.

SUGA also has a mission of benefiting society through participating in
community activities and donations. A core value of SUGA's corporate
social responsibility is to benefit society and protect the environment.
To fulfill that responsibility, we are committed to conducting
business in a manner that respects society and the environment.
Our environmental and social responsibility practices positively
contribute to the community and protect the environment through
donations, volunteer works and environmentally-friendly practices.
For transitioning to cleaner production, SUGA has adopted energy
conservation measures to reduce environmental risks and liabilities.
We also work to raise awareness and involvement in environmental
protection among our employees at all levels and always encourage
them to engage in green activities with their families. In the future,
SUGA intends to continue ongoing efforts to fulfil our commitment to
environmental protection as well as support sustainable development
at the local and global level. We believe that through our efforts in
environmental protection and community activities we can make our
world a better place to live.
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ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT

SUGA employs around 2,530 employees in Hong Kong, the PRC
and Vietnam. We are committed to providing a rewarding work
environment for our employees that encourages collaboration and
offers them opportunities to learn, grow and succeed at work. The
commitment has been incorporated into our Human Resources
policies and practices and the Employee Handbook.

SUGA is in compliance with the following laws and regulations of the
PRC, Hong Kong and Vietnam concerning employment.

1. Labor Law of the PRC

2. Law of the PRC on Employment Contracts

3. Minority Protection Law of the PRC

4. PRC Provision on the Prohibition of Child Labor

5. Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

6. Hong Kong Employment of Children Regulation

7. Hong Kong Minimum Wage Ordinance

8. Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance

9. Hong Kong Employee’s Compensation Ordinance

10. Labor Law of Vietnam
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Recruiting and retaining competent and professional employees is
vital to our success and we aim to attract, motivate and retain the
best people for our business operations. To achieve this, we provide
a competitive employment package consisting of monetary and non-
monetary rewards for our employees. Our comprehensive reward
system offers a discretionary incentive bonus, sales commissions,
share options, group medical insurance protection, and retirement
protection. Our employer contribution for the Mandatory Provident
Fund (MPF) exceeds the legal requirement and we offer additional
holidays to promote the well-being of employees.

At the same time, we help our employees pursue a work-life
balance and live a healthy and fulfilling life. Our Human Resources
Department organises a range of social, sports and recreation
activities, including local tours, barbeques, dinner gatherings and
sports competitions to enrich our employees’ lives. In this fiscal
year, we have organised various campaigns to promote employees’
awareness for health and green life. The campaigns included
"Exercise for Health,” “Green Office” and “Chinese New Year Photo
Contest”. Also, we have organised various activities to promote
employees’ welfare and sense of belongings to the Group. The
activities are “Christmas Party”, “Spring Festival Party”, “Women
Day”, "Basketball Competition” and “Ping-pong Competition”.
We care the employees’ well-being; we have organised donation
campaign to raise fund to help worker suffering from serious medical
condition.

We treat all employees and job applicants fairly and equally regardless
of their gender, sexual orientation, marital status, race, color,
nationality, religion, age or disability. We have zero tolerance of
harassment and discrimination in any form.
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Employee Communication

Promoting a corporate culture of open communication is one of
the keys to sustaining our success. We encourage employees at
all levels to express their views and make suggestions through a
variety of channels, including face-to-face meetings, gatherings with
management, a quarterly employee satisfaction survey and more. Our
intranet and notice board keep employees up-to-date on company
news across the Group. In addition, we have provided a suggestion
box for employees to submit advice or inform the management of any
concerns they may have.

SUGA complies with all relevant Hong Kong, PRC and Vietnam laws
and regulations related to working hours, rest periods and overtime
pay. We provide workers overtime pay for working time beyond
regular working hours. In addition, we strive to amicably resolve any
labor-related matters through dialogue and negotiations with relevant
employees.

Employee Welfare and Working Conditions

We operate a canteen and a dormitory at our Dongguan Plant,
which provides employees with reasonably-priced meals and lodging.
Also we operate a clubhouse and other recreational facilities at the
Dongguan Plant, including a gym, Karaoke and a cinema theater for
employees’ entertainment during their leisure time. We also operate a
canteen at our Vietnam Plant which provides employees free meals.

Moreover, our service excellence award and long service awards
recognise the outstanding contributions, commitment and loyalty of
dedicated employees.

During the reporting period, we were not aware of any incident of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have significantly
affected the Group relating to employment, occupational health or
labor standards.
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Protecting Employee during COVID-19 Pandemic

During the pandemic, SUGA has implemented comprehensive safety
and hygiene measures to reduce employees the risk of being infected
COVID-19 and spreading the virus. The measures included:

1. Implement “Photo-catalyst Applied for Disinfection Coating”
and regular sanitisation practice in Hong Kong Office to give a
clean and hygienic working place.

2. Provide free surgical masks, rapid COVID-19 antigen self-test
and hand-sterilizer to employees to give protection against
COVID-19.

3. Adopt “Work from Home” and “Flexible Working Hour”
policies during severe pandemic condition to reduce employees
the risk of being infected by COVID-19.

4. Employees must wear surgical mask, measure body temperature
before entering office and keep social distance when they are
working in offices to reduce the risk of spreading COVID-19.

5. All Hong Kong employees must perform “Rapid COVID-19
Antigen Self-Test” twice a week and report to Human Resources
Department before reporting duties to reduce the risk of
spreading COVID-19.

6.  Arrange PRC Plant employees to get COVID-19 vaccine injection
to reduce the risk of being infected.
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B1.1 Total Employees Headcount Bl.I{EE4#EA#

As at As at i ®

31 Mar 31 Mar —g-= —E—F

2022 2021 =A=+—H =A=+—H

By Gender Headcount Headcount AR A ANE
Female 1,145 1,396 gegia 1,145 1,396
Male 1,385 1,494 Bt 1,385 1,494
Total 2,530 2,890 g 2,530 2,890
As at As at i i

31 Mar 31 Mar —E-CF T —fF

2022 2021 =B=+—H =B=+—H

By Geographical Region Headcount Headcount RBiE A8 N
Hong Kong 64 73 ) 64 73
Mainland China 1,830 2,174 Fh R P9 3h 1,830 2,174
Vietnam 636 643 =] 636 643
Total 2,530 2,890 g 2,530 2,890
As at As at w7 i

31 Mar 31 Mar —ECF T —fF

2022 2021 =B=+—H =B=+—H

By Rank Headcount Headcount R R A ANE
Senior 104 104 EE 104 104
Staff 543 477 8T 543 477
Worker® 1,883 2,309 TA8 1,883 2,309
Total 2,530 2,890 FEE 2,530 2,890

Notes: Miat -

8. The employment relationship for workers is different with senior and staff. 8. TANEBEREGEASERET AR  TAEPE K
Workers represent the factory workers in both PRC and Vietnam factories, while MIBNIA MeaBRETAHE—RBRAEAER

the senior and staff represent the general office staff and staff with senior rank. BRBE - TAABOERTHERZMEC > WP
The workers headcount may vary due to seasonal factors, such as lunar new year BENRBENFRI MeaB KRBT AHAEHETE
holidays in PRC, while the senior and staff headcount are relatively stable and not ITEZEHMRETE-

subject to these seasonal factors.
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B1.2 Employee Average Turnover Rate

B1.2{E 8 FI9F K E

B/ -2/
2021/2022 2020/2021 —E-—F —Z”—F
By Gender & Age Group R R R EERAER
Female - Total 9.09% 5.80% -4 9.09% 5.80%
Female — Under 30 years of age 6.73% 4.40% M —=+mUAT 6.73% 4.40%
Female — 31 to 50 years of age 2.31% 1.32% YM—=F+—FH K 2.31% 1.32%
Female — Over 51 years of age 0.06% 0.08% ZE-Rt+—mMU L 0.06% 0.08%
Male - Total 10.58% 8.49% BiE-4ag 10.58% 8.49%
Male — Under 30 years of age 8.00% 6.27% BE-—=+mUT 8.00% 6.27%
Male — 31 to 50 years of age 2.56% 2.17% EU-—=t—ZFH T+ 2.56% 2.17%
Male — Over 51 years of age 0.02% 0.05% BM-—A+—mUL 0.02% 0.05%
-/ ZEZZ/
By Geographical Region 2021/2022 2020/2021 & —TZZ =T F
Hong Kong 2.49% 1.96% BE 2.49% 1.96%
Mainland China 10.09% 8.37% R Ayt 10.09% 8.37%
Vietnam 10.07% 4.03% HE 10.07% 4.03%
—g-—/ C-Z=-%
By Rank 2021/2022 2020/2021 R AR —E-CF —E—F
Senior 1.32% 0.69% e 1.32% 0.69%
Staff 3.87% 2.71% 8T 3.87% 2.71%
Worker 11.91% 8.52% TA 11.91% 8.52%
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ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

As a company caring for our employees, we are committed to
maintaining a healthy and safe work environment in compliance with
all relevant Hong Kong, PRC and Vietnam laws and regulations. We
have established “Health and Safety Policy” to manage the Group's
employees’ health and safety matters, which includes the following
areas:

1. Compensation Insurance Scheme;
2. Accidents and injuries at work;

3. Typhoon and rainstorm warning;
4. Fire emergency and evacuation;
5. Handling of threatening call;

6. Suspicious packages and parcels;
7.  Work safety;

8.  Infectious disease; and

9.  Office hygiene

We have also posted Hong Kong Labour Department Occupational
Health and Safety Guidelines on the Hong Kong Notice Board so as to
educate employees about Occupational Safety and Health concepts.
We have established Occupational Health and Safety Management
Policy B EZ 2@ BEEEY L) in Dongguan Plant which comply
relevant regulations in PRC. This policy forms part of our Group ESG
Policy. In addition, we have employed a dedicated Safety and Health
(OSH) Officer in the Dongguan Plant to handle safety issues and
measures, aiming to reduce industrial accidents and injuries. Also, we
have health and safety training in Vietnam Plant to reduce industrial
accidents and injuries. During the year, there was no serious work-
related injuries throughout the Group’s operations.

RIE-HERELSBRS
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MEERNREZE2BEESEIE - ZBERE
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REERERERA—EEREELTE2EHIEN
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Tolbth RPN BE IRETEEREZEEE
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BRREELHEZLERATHFREBARENG T
&

Z§--/ %%/ -5/

2021/2022 202072021 2019/2020 ZE_CE X% “Z°FE

B2.1  Number of work-related fatalities 0 person 0 person 0 person BL1 IfefRECAZ 0A 0A 0A
Number of work-related injuries 5 incidents 4 incidents 4 incidents TIREEREAH SREH 4TER AZREHR

B2.2 Lost days due to work injuries 82 days 138 days 249 days B22 AIBBANIfHH 828 1388 249A

The work-related injuries have been handled and related issues were resolved.

THEEREREMEEEHER
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ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We consider the professional development of our employees to be
one of the key contributors to sustainable business growth. We
continue to promote a culture encouraging to learning and offer
career development and training programs to all levels of employees.
For example, the Group pay for or subsidise employees’ attendance
at seminars, forums or exhibitions to ensure they are well-prepared
to execute their duties. In addition, we have a Company Training
Sponsorship Scheme to encourage our employees to enroll in further
education courses to support their career development. With prior
approval from the Group, courses and examination fees for further
education may be organised or reimbursed upon attainment of
successful academic qualifications.

As for newly recruited employees, we have a training program
in place, including orientation and on-the-job training, to ensure
they can properly perform their duties in line with the Group’s
expectations.

B3.1 Percentage of Employees Trained

JBHEB3 : EERIE

MR EENEXLERAERIFEREDN
BREZ -BAESRESIRERESBNY
ERIEHELERBIEHE - Flm> SEm
FREYABEEELENNE - HERE
8 LURGEESREEEHNBREEBRTER
oo RMBRBATIEIEEEB> MUE
BEEREUE S HEL R A RHAER
EEMENBR T ERTREEMERE
EETRHRBESEEEERERER TRE
R & B #RiH o

HINFIBERE RADHTEESE 0
ABREBREN URFESANBEEMET
BEUTASEENTER-
B3.1Zi{EE B R LE

—E-—/ g%/

2021/2022 2020/2021 —ECF B —F
By Gender gkl
Full-time Female 92% 93% e Reglis 92% 93%
Full-time Male 93% 94% 2HEMN 93% 94%

As SUGA has no part-time employee, therefore the training
percentage for part-time employees is not applicable.

B3.2a Average Training Hours by Gender (per head per
annum)

HMREETERBES ARBEENTIE
DL AEAA ©

B3.2a #1145 & 5 Z I H (T
FAEE)

—E- -/ =%/

2021/2022 2020/2021 —ECE BT —F
Male 37.51 Hours 25.11 Hours Bt 37.51/\B% 25.11/) B
Female 24.04 Hours 20.43 Hours a3 24.04/)\ B 20.43/\BF
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B3.2b Average Training Hours by employment (per
head per annum)

RIE-HERELSBRS

B3.2b #H{ERERNE D Z FI91FNEFE
(BFE AR

—g-—/ "B %/

2021/2022 2020/2021 —E-CF E_—F
Worker 39.19 Hours 27.58 Hours TA 39.19/\B¥ 27.58/)\B§
Staff 6.48 Hours 5.98 Hours ET 6.48/)\B% 5.98/)\FF
Senior 3.96 Hours 4.07 Hours SIE 3.96/)\BF 4.07/)\B%

ASPECT B4: LABOR STANDARDS

We are committed to protecting human rights and comply with
all relevant Hong Kong, PRC and Vietnam laws and regulations
concerning human rights. We have a policy stated in the Employee
Hand Book forbidding the use of forced labor and child labor in our
business operations. During the recruiting process, Human Resource
Department is fully responsible to verify the applicant identity to
ensure no child labor will be employed by the Group.

SUGA complies with the Hong Kong, PRC and Vietnam laws and
regulations concerning labor standards as stated in Aspect B1 above.

ASPECT B5: POLICIES ON MANAGING
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RISKIN OUR
SUPPLY CHAIN

We have business relationships with suppliers all around the globe
that provide us with a wide variety of raw materials, equipment and
services. The Group has set up policies and procedures to manage
its supply chain in fulfillment of its corporate social responsibilities
and provide good quality products to customers. A comprehensive
supplier quality management mechanism is in place to facilitate
quality accreditation and carry out inspection and factory supervision
of products.

In order to manage environmental and social risk, the Group’s
Dongguan Plant has incorporated the ISO 9001:2015, I1SO
14001:2015, QC 080000:2017 and ISO 13485:2016 accredited
procedures in the management of its supply chain. Our Supply
Chain Policy covers specific supplier requirements on business ethics,
quality standards and public responsibilities for the process of
supplier evaluation and approval, strategic supplier development and
procurement of materials.

fEmB4 : % THH|
BPEREREARKRETRESTE PEME
EARAENERRER - RANEIFMP
BEHRRRE REERMANEFEERERR
BEIRBETI -AREERT ANDBERER
REERBRAES N URFREAEET SR
FREI-

EEETER TEKREEE T EAERZE
BERER (R EXEEBIFTHE) ©

[ETEBS : EEMERNIRIERAE
B PR B R

RPEREERIMDHMARESERME
RERBGZHIHEFEREFETIR - FEEHE
MABTESEEHEEERATRREHE
BEERUEEEMHEERTBRRKRER &M
TEMRECERZ BTERKIREEE
mbls] 2 ENHERESEEHS -

AEEBRBBERAMEER AEENEER
EEEMHEHEEEFMAISO 9001:2015~
ISO 14001:2015~QC 080000:2017%1S0O
13485:201653FF 12 7 o A~ & B B9 4 FE 88 BUER
HEHMERNFGHMSEMN KR HEHERGERE
EMEREAREPNEEEE - EEKTEER
RETIBEEEBNHRERREE
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The Group has achieved RoHS and Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment compliance certifications and complies with REACH
standards for our products. We conduct RoHS testing for incoming
raw materials to ensure they are free of hazardous substances. In the
future, SUGA will continue to fulfill its commitment to environmental
protection and also support sustainable development at both the local
and global level.

We require our vendors to accept and observe our Supplier Code of
Conduct, which forbids forced or child labor. We will immediately
terminate a vendor if any cases of employment of forced or child
labor are identified.

AEBEMERERROHSKEESZSEKE

EmE G358 KB FREACHEER o F 5L 5| &
B R MK ETROHS Al UERER G HE
E#@%’io@%ﬁ%% EEBEBERITHIRFRX
HOUREAMEEIKEAZFARELERE-

BPERHEBEZIRETHMNUEDIR
STHEHPERERGVS I REINEMIE
Mo RINEREABHFE THETL > IR ED
R I ZMERm  EHER

5.1 Vendors by Location 5.1 #MER D ZHEFRR
it
2021/2022 2020/2021 —E-F T —fF
China 9261 1,143 FEH 961 1,143
Hong Kong 98 135 58 98 135
The United States of America 36 41 EHRERE 36 41
Other Asian countries 26 31 HAthZ5 i B % 26 31
Europe 20 21 B 20 21
Australia 10 11 M 10 11
Total 1,151 1,382 FEE 1,151 1,382
Supply Chain Management Practices HEEEEER
SUGA has well-established Supply Chain Management Policy for EE B MHEEHELTERTTESNMEHE
supplier selection and evaluation. New suppliers are required to HEEEBHRX HMHEBHEZRIFMEN ES
undergo an evaluation process, in which considerations of their KAFEZEREFENTG MEESERHE

technical capabilities, quality and sustainability performance are
incorporated and only suppliers thus qualified can be included in our
Approved Vendor List. For all approved vendors, a formal agreement
is required to be signed which specify the terms of environmental
protection, health and safety, labor and ethic and human rights.
For the existing suppliers, periodic verification processes and site
audits are conducted to ensure their continued compliance with the
Group's Supply Chain Policy. A vendor unable to comply with our
Supply Chain Policy is deleted from our Approved Vendors List and
is subsequently not permitted to provide us with raw materials or
services.
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ASPECT B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has established policies and practices to ensure its
operations comply with applicable laws and regulations. The
management is responsible for monitoring the Group's policies and
practices ensuring they are in line with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, and that those policies and practices are regularly
reviewed for adequacy. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought as necessary to the attention of the relevant
employees and operating units. In addition, we have implemented
practices to fulfill product safety requirements at the product
design stage. The Group has also established a policy to obtain any
certification required to ensure the finished goods are environmentally
friendly, healthy and safe. In addition, the Group is committed to
ensuring that our products comply with relevant laws and regulations
of the countries where these products are sold.

At the same time, we have established Manufacturing Execution
Systems (MES) to enhance the product quality management and
product traceability/tracking.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
incident of non-compliance with laws and regulations that has had a
significant impact related to its product responsibilities.

Customer Complaint Policy

The Group has established a Customer Complaint Policy to ensure
that customer complaints are promptly and efficiently handled. The
policy includes a provision for the concerned parties to work together
to find the reasons for any defects and responsibilities and then re-
work the rejected finished goods. At the same time, we regularly
communicate with customers to collect their feedback and opinions.

B6.1 Percentage of Total Products Sold or Shipped
Subject to Recall for Safety and Health Reasons

No products have been sold or shipped which were subject to recall
for safety and health reasons during this financial year.

RIE-HERELSBRS
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B6.2 Number of Complaints Received Related to
Products and Services

No complaints have been received for the products sold and services
rendered during this financial year.

Aspects B6.3 & B6.5 Intellectual Property Policy and
Customer Data Protection and Privacy Policies

In order to protect customers’ intellectual property (IP), we have a
strict policy in place to sign a formal Non-Disclosure Agreement with
our customers. We have established data management system which
control user access right to protect customers’ confidential data. Also,
the Group has applied for intellectual property right certification for
its own products and designs, thus its standard practice is not to
infringe on the IP rights of other parties.

Aspect B6.4 Quality Assurance Procedures and Recall
Procedures

The Group has established quality assurance procedures to ensure
that incoming raw materials, work-in-progress and finished
goods meet the products’ quality specifications and comply with
environmentally-friendly, health and safety requirements. At the same
time, the Group has established recall procedures to handle recalled
or defective products.

ASPECT B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

SUGA is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. We have a zero-tolerance policy regarding bribery and
corruption in any form or at any level in association with any aspect
of the Group's activities. Our Employee Code of Conduct is specified
in the SUGA Employee Handbook which clearly states that the Group
shall not tolerate any illegal or unethical behaviors. Any employee in
violation of the Code of Conduct would be appropriately disciplined,
including termination of employment in serious cases.

100 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/22

B6.21% AR Em R IR KR HE

REMBEERN BERZEFANRAEERRE
HIRB BV o

[EmB6.3%B6. 5K ERBERERE
EHRFEFFAPB B R
ARBEENMNBERIP) AEEBHIE R
BHE AEEEEIRTHERSE RMAS
BUBBEEEAL 5 ELTIER LR
REEMEEHE L FEECAHER
REHEENBEEDE USHELEERT
FREILEMA LM BEE.

[EmEB6.4H EfR:EREF REIWERF

FEBECHGTEERBRER  UERIIENR
M -ERBEREAARTEEREERK XU
RETREFE BEMZERE -HLILFRF &
EEEHFTRERWNBREERNERS -

[BmB7 : RE5
EEAEERBKENTEEE R - AEEMA
EEFEGETATANER LSRR T BB K
BESEATHR - RPN EEREFMPEA
NWEERT T EEREHEAERFATERIME
RIFEZRN A BBTR - ERAEENERETT
ARERTBEENLCRED BENREERBR
TERE-



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Our Code of Conduct includes the terms for compliance with the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, as well as provisions regarding
soliciting, accepting or offering advantages, accepting entertainment,
use of proprietary information, confidentiality, resolution of conflict
of interest, misuse of the Group's assets and resources, loans. Our
practices are in compliance with the Hong Kong Anti-Corruption
Ordinance. Regular anti-corruption training was provided to
our directors and employees regarding the relevant policies and
guidelines, including any updates or revisions. In addition, we
regularly invite the Hong Kong Independent Commission Against
Corruption to hold seminars to facilitating education of our
employees about anti-corruption laws and concepts. During this
financial year, both our directors and senior management attended an
anti-corruption seminar held by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
(HKIoD). Also, we have provided on-line training information for the
staff to understand anti-corruption laws and regulations. The Group
is not aware of any breach of laws and regulations relating to bribery
which has a significant impact on its business for the reporting
period.

Aspect B7.1 Number of Concluded Corruption-Related
Legal Cases

RIE-HERELSBRS

3 PIBY 18 57 5T R A0 A28 ST B AL BR BR 1% 1) BY 1%
o MmAMEE B NIEHN @ EREE
EREBEN RERE BAMNZER &
AEEEEEKRER ERARINEHEAIFEX
EETAEMLEESHRA -HRMAB/REZTKETE
HREARBRMIESINRE SHI 2FE
REMHEET b oh > HPIEH L HEBRE
HEREEMMAATUMBHABERMANES
ERBEERERBS REAVREE EFRK
EBREEETHE THERESETLENPN
REFHEE I ZAERBETRMEL
BIlER  UERTRREFTEERER -1
BEMBE AEERESRBEXBFAEAY
ENEMERBRERRERER

EBEB71EBENE SHEAERERENSH
B

—F——/ =T/
2021/2022 2020/2021 ZE”-Z S —F
Number of concluded legal cases BEENE51HEA
related to corruption 0 0 EREGHE 0 0
Aspect B7.2 Whistle-blowing Procedures [EEB7.22 REF

SUGA has established whistle-blowing procedures and channels
through which employees can confidentially report unethical and
illegal behavior. All reported unethical and illegal behavior will be
investigated and the reporter of such an act would be informed about
the investigation result within seven working days. If required, the
unethical and illegal behavior will be reported to management for
follow-up actions.

EECHIERREFARE MEENEBA
HMEFREEURBEAXNBRIABERIFE
TR -FIAERBRNABEREEITABRER
ARE BN EEIIFEARBEGRENE
HEBA-NERE - ROEEEERIER
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ASPECT B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

SUGA is committed to participating in volunteer activities and making
charitable donations in order to benefit society. Our major focus area
is education, community and green activities. Our employees have
participated in various community activities and made donations
during this financial year. SUGA remains committed to participate
in volunteer works and continuously to contribute donations in the

[ETEBS : HERE
EEAERTCERN2ERTEIRFELE
EERM-BRFANEBEITREARBE HER
BREZF HMANEERFTFREEARASEL
ERNHtEESHRER - EEREAREES A
BT TFRIFHBEM

\|

W

future.
B8.2 Resources Contributed B8.25RAE R
—E- -/ =%/
B/ %/
2021/2022/HK$ 2020/2021/HK$ BT BT
Education 93,000 2,080,000 HE 93,000 2,080,000 *
Community 98,275 62,350 He 98,275 62,350
Green Activities 35,000 3,000 RERED 35,000 3,000
Total 226,275 2,145,350 At 226,275 2,145,350
b The amount included HK$2 million donations to The Hong Kong Polytechnic * S REOEEFEFEREAE BRI ARE2IEAMN

University for SUGA Research Laboratory for Sustainable Urban Green Agriculture

was completed in last year.
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Awards and Certifications

8RR R 5UE

During this fiscal year, we have gained the following awards, certificates and recognition.
RAPBEE > RFVES AT RIE 5858 K80

Organisers Awards and Certificates
China Quality Certification Centre Accreditation of 1ISO 14001: 2015
hEE 25D ISO 14001:201558:8
AR E| B A AL
CHINA SUALITY CERTIFICATION CENTRE
SGS United Kingdom Limited Accreditation of QC 080000:2017

QC 080000:201750:%
Accreditation of ISO 9001:2015
ISO 9001:201553:8

BSI Assurance UK Limited Accreditation of ISO 13485:2016
ISO 13485:201653:%

Environmental Campaign Committee Hong Kong Green Organisation

RIEEBHEED BREBHE

Hong Kong Q-Mark Council Federation HK Green Mark Certification Scheme
BEHBBERSD EBTQ B BREEE
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Awards and Certifications

LY E

PRC Guangdong Province Science High & New Technology

Technology Bureau Enterprises Certificate

ol B AR A A SR R i R [SEE RN ik

Harvard Business Review 2021 Ding Ge Award - Digital
IS Transformation Pioneer List — “Annual
Tsinghua IGI Supply Chain Transformation Model
AERKBEIREZEER Award — Supply Chain Upgrade and
SAP Integration Innovation Project”
BEE 20218 - HFEHA T -

MEEMH eI Mg — R
FHR R G AIFIER ]

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service 10 Years+ Caring Company Logo ——
BEREMERGHE 10 Plus ' 57 R RA IR 1R 56

Promoting Happiness Index Foundation Happiness-at-Work Promotional

ERRAREIEEIEHES Scheme
Hong Kong Productivity Council (HKPC) B30 T /BRI HEES 51 &)
SREENRER Happy Company 2021 Label

2021 TRV 2125

P—

Formeneg e
BEEH O EREE

LAPEY M & B R
., COMPAMNY

w Syears’

Federation of Hong Kong Industries FHKI  Industry Cares
BEEITERS TEREZ D

Suga International
Holdings Limited

aRIEEE
PR =
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Awards and Certifications
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1218 R 5058
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Good MPF Employer
Authority BEEFREE

BEIMABEEEER

Activities and Donations

During this fiscal year, we have participated in the following activities
and donations.

EE R IR
REMBEE RASRTUTEBHRBHE-

Green Activities
IR{REE

Green Council Hong Kong Green Day
BRRIEER 5E&BH

Green Power The 29th Green Power Hike
mBENE (Virtual Hike)

B+ AEGENERET

G M)

L . Ll
6.6 km 2h0m
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Community Activities

HEES

Charity Activity Donation for cancer
BEEE worker

E0IEM

Internal Activity Exercise for Health
A EBE SN Campaign
REEHLE

Internal Activity Green Office
A EBSESD Campaign
HEMAELE

Internal Activity “Chinese New Year”
FEIEED) Photo Contest
EENEHERLE

Internal Activity Mid-Autumn Festival

MEREE Ch Ak B Bk R

To donate money to a
cancer worker to help her.

BREEBBETI A

To encourage employees to
exercise every day for better
health

SRMEE R T H#EE BRM
EE)

To encourage employees

to make a green office by
planting in the office
SREESEMAEEE > U
BE—ERBRAE

To encourage employees
to share their feeling for
Chinese New Year

DEREDZEREMFRT

To share Mid-Autumn joy
with employees

S{RE N ZPIE B
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Community Activities

HEES

Internal Activity Women Day To celebrate "8 March
A EBEED = N\ZRE Women Day” with female
employees

By REREEN= \RLH

Internal Activity Ping-pong To encourage employees
A EBIEED Competition pursue a work-life balance
EEIKEE HEMEEEBRTFAEFEN
T
Internal Activity Basketball To encourage employees
A EBSE SN Competition pursue a work-life balance
EIRLEE HEMEEBRTIFAEEN
T
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Community Activities

H&EH

Community The Community Chest of Hong Kong Mooncakes for Charity

HE YNk N=Y=EG

Donation & Sponsorship

AR ER

Sponsorship The Hong Kong Ocean Park Conservation Hero Support Programme
=L BEBABFRE BFREMRE R &S
Sponsorship World Vision Hong Kong Child Sponsorship

=] BEHEERERE BhEREstE

Sponsorship The Chinese University of Hong Kong Suga International Holding Limited Scholarships
i=4:] ERCL O EEEERSES

Sponsorship Vocational Training Council VTC Scholarship

=41 2R BEllgEREE

Sponsorship Green Power Green Power Hike

=L BmEeHg BRETREETU
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=
pwc

To the Shareholders of Suga International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Suga International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 117 to 251, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2022;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which

include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BAURHBEMES

BRp ki

RIEEERERRRABRER
(REREZAMELHERAE])

BER

EMEFANAE

EEEARERERAR U THEBEAF) K
HItBAR (U T4 EEE) FIMRE17
B ENREHBRE 0F

e RIZZ-_F=-ZA=+—HNGREEE
BEx;

EZHEFENGRARER ;

3
BEZHLEEENGE2EBRAL

s HBEZALFENGGRmEHRK,
e HBEZALFEMNREGRESMRER, K

s KREVBREAWE BEEXEBEHHR
BEE -

BFINER

HARD ZFGEMBRECREBESZEG
MAZEMGH(EEMBRESER)EEMT
BMRMT BEER_ZE__F=A=+—
HGaMBERARAESEZH ELEENRE
EMBRERGEHREAE LEERES
(REMEBD) N MBEREZ SERE -

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
BB AKE G FESAT 0 BB TR FAE A =1

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

M : +852 2289 8888 » fHH : +852 2810 9888 » www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
RRESEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B\ LTRSS

RIS E st HIH (18)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB RIEMRETEIE

Impairment of inventories
FaIRETG
Refer to note 15 “Inventories” and note 4 “Critical
accounting estimates and judgements” to the
consolidated financial statements
BRRGEMBHmRERWNSEIS TEE] 4 TEEEE
fi Bt R FU A

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held net inventories
amounting to HK$452,837,000. Inventories are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value (“NRV")
in the consolidated financial statements. The cost of
inventories may not be fully recoverable if they are aged
and damaged, or become obsolete, or if their selling
prices have declined.
EEER_ZE_"_F=-ZB=1+—HEBEHRFE
452,837,000 R aMBREFR  FEHERAE
MO REREBIE - HEEEKHRE BIE
BRNEE T AR E2HMREFEM A

Management determined the lower of cost and NRV of
inventories by considering the ageing profile, status and
estimated selling price of individual inventory items.
EEEBETEEMARERFE s REER 5
BENGFEEENEE R AMETES-

Management calculated the NRV at period end based
on the estimated selling price less selling expenses,
taking into account historical experience of selling
products of similar nature and expectation of future
sales based on current market condition.

EEEUHRBAEBRELERAZRSAERARND
SRFE QEZEUTLERLUMEERNLRLU
RZBBEATRERRIBEFL ZTER -

We understood and validated the control procedures
performed by management, including the procedures on
periodic review on provision for impairment of inventories.
EMTHABEIEEENTNEEZER GIECHEREFES
RERBERR-

We observed management’s inventory counts to identify
whether there is any damaged or obsolete inventories.
RMEREEEHFEETHRE USIEBESHBEMIE
Ry BRFEFEE

We tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
ageing profile of individual inventory item by checking to
supporting documents including the underlying procurement
correspondences, goods receipt notes and inter-warehouse
transfer documents.

FERBXREXG GEERNERERR X - WEE R
PERHERXH HAMEASNAABENFEEEER Y
R o

We tested, on a sample basis, the subsequent usage or sales
of selected inventory items, specified in the usage or sales
reports subsequent to the year end as a basis to identify
inventory obsolescence and assess the reasonableness of the
provision for impairment of inventories by comparing against
management’s forecasts of estimated future utilisation.
EPUEEAA A FREBNERANEERS ISR E
EEERNFREBEZEANHEER L UANEBREFEE U
REBLEREEBEEHGFRREANTER  TEFERE
BENSEM
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
RRESEE

RIS E st HIH (8)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BOME N RIEMRETEE

Management reviewed slow moving inventories based
on inventory ageing and made specific provision for
long aged inventories. It also conducted periodic review
on inventory obsolescence, including performance of
periodic inventory counts and review of holding period
for individual inventory items.
ERERTFEFHEZFHEFE UMRIAMERFS
FHEREE G - EEETEMNEERSBRETEN
BE OEERETFEEMABRENFEEEN
FHEH -

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of
the balance to the financial position of the Group,
and the significant judgement and estimates involved
in determining the provision for impairment of
inventories which may impose higher level of estimation
uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

EMETILHBEERENFEY SEBMBRRNGER
BEX UKNREEFERERERY KRNE KA ER
Fe 5T T B BE 48 A B & 1 51 A B G 1 o H A8 BT /&L B

We also tested, on a sample basis, the NRV of selected
inventory items by comparing the selling price subsequent to
the year end against the carrying values of individual finished

goods.
BATUHESRAAEEFEREB 2 AERFE ) TR
FRER RN FR BN EBEARBEF &R

We consider the provision for impairment of inventories as at
31 March 2022 is supportable by available evidence.

EMRBAa N2 2F=-A=+—HNEFERERZHED
BRHEE R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

WA ZAETRS

Hitz2

FRANFABEER ETEEFREMHBRER
HPIVZHEDRS o

ZAHGEEUBERRNBEREARERME
B HATITHZEHEMERERETATLAN

ERMPUEGEEMBRERNES RANEE
EREBHMEE  EHERT ERHEMESR
ERRAGOVBBRRNARMESTBRERAR
THRNEIFEERBBEAEUFEFEERKR
mERABIE T

EH
mk

i

ERBEMERNTHIFE NREMABAHEME
BEAEERERRL  AATERSZFE-
HELE ZfIRBEERERS-

EFRBRZETMEAMBERR
ARENRE
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

WA ZAETRS
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yuen Shin Fong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HEEEARSRE

As at 31 March 2022 W-_&E_-_—#=H=+—H
2022 2021
== B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
K&t FET FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB MEE 6 297,115 300,910
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 7 87,393 95,941
Intangible assets BEEE 8 - =
Goodwill e 9 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates REE AT 2 Em 11 16,128 26,338
Interest in a joint venture R—EaEhxr#n 12 7,547 7,862
Financial assets at fair value through BATEZAEMEZEEA
other comprehensive income ZHMBEE 4 5,888 6,004
Deferred income tax assets RILFTSINEE 20 1,066 1,950
Non-current prepayments and JEMBTAN &
other receivables H iU sig 6 14,959 8,505
434,045 451,459
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =78 15 452,837 344,902
Trade and other receivables FEUR B 5 BRF A
HhpgEuskia 16 296,837 401,166
Financial assets at fair value through BATEZAB®RZ
profit or loss MBEEE 17 91 193
Amounts due from associates A =N | 11 1,789 1,106
Amount due from a joint venture FEW—MEE&EhERE 12 6,000 =
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBEEBEY 18 141,657 127,790
899,211 875,157
Total assets BEEHE 1,333,256 1,326,616
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Bank borrowings RITEE 19 21,250 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 7 1,161 4,430
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFTIRIR AR 20 88 283
22,499 4,713
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HMEEERAR

As at 31 March 2022 R —_&FE__—F=H=+—H

2022 2021
—=E-C B4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
et F#ET FHET
Current liabilities RENBEE
Trade and other payables FENBSESH &
HhpEAIE 21 263,574 331,238
Contract liabilities RN 21 27,290 23,206
Financial guarantee contracts HEEEREE 22 4,478 2,521
Income tax payable FET T3 18,915 19,113
Lease liabilities HEaRE 7 1,791 5,107
Bank borrowings RITEE 19 184,750 138,550
500,798 519,735
Total liabilities =Rk 523,297 524,448
EQUITY 1
Equity attributable to owners of BENEATEEAZER
the Company
Share capital A& 2 23 28,479 28,349
Other reserves HhfEE 25 122,914 124,347
Retained earnings {FEEH 25 657,048 648,278
808,441 800,974
Non-controlling interests JEFEHIM R 1,518 1,194
Total equity W AR%E 809,959 802,168
Total equity and liabilities EEhkaEiEE 1,333,256 1,326,616

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 251 were

approved by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2022 and were signed

on its behalf.

Ng Chi Ho

RE=
Director

EF

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
n‘I'F u&ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F _—E - _—F=H=+—HIFFZ

2022 2021
—E-= T4
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
k=3 F#ET FHET
Revenue & 26 1,855,875 2,101,573
Cost of sales tHE A 27 (1,598,142) (1,814,939)
Gross profit EH 257,733 286,634
Other income Han A 28 9,987 5,085
Other gains — net Hhzm — 558 29 1,837 412
Distribution and selling expenses NIERIHEER 27 (60,877) (62,099)
General and administrative expenses —RETHEEER 27 (130,790) (127,729)
Net impairment losses on financial assets B4 755 & K B 75 £ 17
and financial guarantees HEEEFEE (1,957) (220)
Operating profit 4R | 75,933 102,083
Finance income EEA N 30 506 1,268
Finance costs RAE A A 30 (2,997) (2,713)
Finance costs — net MERA — FEE 30 (2,491) (1,445)
Impairment loss on interest in R—EBE E R
an associate BB E (975) =
Share of losses of associates PRI EE AT 518 (9,236) (8,634)
(10,211) (8,634)
Profit before income tax FRETSRM AR R 63,231 92,004
Income tax expense Frigiif 317 (6,442) (12,388)
Profit for the year FEREF 56,789 79,616
Profit attributable to: wA BB
Owners of the Company KRABEE A 56,465 79,274
Non-controlling interests FEFEFIM =R 324 342
56,789 79,616
Earnings per share for profit FRABBEBRATER A
attributable to owners of the B aF SR BT
Company during the year
— Basic (HK cents) — EA& B 32 19.83 27.96
— Diluted (HK cents) — 58 (B 32 19.82 27.96
The above consolidated income statement should be read in _E#t4x & U s R FEEARE M M5 — R :E o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEEEBAR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —ZE - _F=H=+—HIFFEZ

2022 2021
—E=Z= B4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Vg3 FHET TFHET
Profit for the year FEREF 56,789 79,616
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:  HfthZ2 & (B18) WA :
tem that may be reclassified BB EENHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: EamzEEH
Exchange differences arising on ME BN EBFTES
translation of foreign operations FERZERR (2,341) 39,561
Item that will not be reclassified HBERTEEN T
subsequently to profit or loss: EmHE .
Fair value (losses)/gains on equity BAFEZLAHEMEEEA
investments at fair value through ZREREY
other comprehensive income NFE (BB Wm 14 (116) 738
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FEREMEE (BB WA
for the year (2,457) 40,299
Total comprehensive income for FRNEEUWRALELE
the year 54,332 119,915
Total comprehensive income 2EKALEERBR
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PN/NETEZZ=DN 54,008 119,573
Non-controlling interests JEEBIM S 324 342
54,332 119,915

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should Ei#téz&
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RoEmBHR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —FE_-_—&F=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRFERAES
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings interests Total
JEFEHIE
R Hithf# s REBEF 4 ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET FTER TET
Balance as at 1 April 2020 RZEZZENB—H & 28,349 84,810 590,830 852 704,841
Profit for the year EREF) - - 79,274 342 79,616
Exchange differences arising on translation BEBNEBTELERESR
of foreign operations - 39,561 - - 39,561
Fair value gains on equity investments at fair value AT EZAHMEERAZ
through other comprehensive income ERERE 2 AT ERE = 738 = = 738
Total comprehensive income 2HKALE - 40,299 79,274 342 119,915
Transactions with owners: HEFAZENRS .
Employee share option scheme: EEEREE .
Valuation of employee services BERKZEE = 91 = = 91
Options expired Emz BRE - (853) 853 = =
Dividends paid BRES = = (22,679) - (22,679)
Balance as at 31 March 2021 RIBZ-F=ZA=+—-HAZH&H 28,349 124,347 648,278 1,194 802,168
Balance as at 1 April 2021 RZEZ—-FMNB—B2z&# 28,349 124,347 648,278 1,194 802,168
Profit for the year FERiaF - - 56,465 324 56,789
Exchange differences arising on translation BEBIEBTELERESR
of foreign operations - (2,341) - - (2,341)
Fair value losses on equity investments at fair value RATEZAHMZERAZ
through other comprehensive income REREZ AFERBE - (116) - - (116)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2@ (F18) MAEE - (2,457) 56,465 324 54,332
Transactions with owners: HBEBEAZENRS .
Employee share option scheme: EEREREE
Proceeds from shares issued upon TEERERET
exercise of options AR BTSRRI 130 1,743 - - 1,873
Options expired EmzBRE - (719) 719 = =
Dividends paid BRRE - - (48,414) = (48,414)
Balance as at 31 March 2022 RIBZ_E=A=+-HAZ&H 28,479 122,914 657,048 1,518 809,959

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be

RSB R AN E—HREE

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —ZE - _F=H=+—HIFFEZ

2022 2021
- T —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
HtsE TFHT FET
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZRAERE
Cash generated from operations REHXEEF 7IHE 36(a) 59,143 60,199
Interest paid BAUHE (2,997) (2,713)
Income tax paid, net EMER FEE (6,172) (2,158)
Net cash generated from operating activities S EFKELE IS /FEE 49,974 55,328
Cash flows from investing activities RETEBZHERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE -BERKE (47,789) (87,791)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEYVE BERKEZ
plant and equipment FrigsRIa 36(b) 70 999
Increase in interest in an associate R—REEE AT 2 EmEM = (3,875)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due [fE W B & A B FIE
from associates (ghn R (683) 479
Increase in an amount due from a joint venture JEW—RB&=E X2
TRIEIE 0 (6,000) -
Repayments of loans receivable BEEREWRIE - 2,066
Interest received BIHE 506 1,268
Net cash used in investing activities KREEZHMAZIRE F4E (53,896) (86,854)
Cash flows from financing activities MEFHBMRERERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEMERIE 274,750 175,050
Repayment of bank borrowings EERIRTEE (207,300) (104,250)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRZAEZHD (3,793) (30,337)
Proceeds from shares issued upon TR IR RS 2817
exercise of options A BFTERIE 1,873 -
Dividends paid BEKRE (48,414) (22,679)
Net cash generated from MEZBFREREEE
financing activities 36(c) 17,116 17,784
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERIREEBYIEM,
cash equivalents CRL) 358 13,194 (13,742)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates EEXEFHTE 673 13,073
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of RERREEBY F9
the year 127,790 128,459
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year BENREEEBY) 448 18 141,657 127,790

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in EFiitzESREREREHAPBEWH T —HEE-
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Suga International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged
in the research and development, manufacturing and sales of
electronic products, pet food and other pet-related products.
As at 31 March 2022, the Group has operations mainly in Hong
Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") and Vietnam.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in Bermuda on 28 September 2001. The address
of the Company's registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 18 September 2002.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial
statements are for the Group consisting of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(a) Compliance with HKFRSs and disclosure
requirements of HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") and disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap.
622.

(b) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss which are carried at
fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
H1 %5 3R R I 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(c) Amendments to existing standards

adopted by the Group
The following amendments to existing standards
are mandatory for the first time for the financial
year beginning 1 April 2021 and have been adopted
in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 related rent
concessions
Amendments to HKAS 39,  Interest rate benchmark
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, reform — phase 2
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

The adoption of these amendments to existing
standards does not have significant impacts on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FETEREE (8)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 RAEUEE (B)

(d) [ KERLHEE 5
TERIRANBIFTZTERY « 37
BERZIETE 155/

(d) New standards, amendments to existing
standards, guideline, interpretation
and annual improvements that are not

yet effective and have not been early R FENE
adopted by the Group
The following new accounting standards, TR EARRBE

AlZzEsT 155 -2 B RFE
HEEBBRMER_Z_—F
ME—HE®BNYBEEH
beginning 1 April 2021 and have not been early REM BREAEERAH
adopted by the Group: A

amendments to existing standards, guideline,
interpretation and annual improvements have been

issued but are not effective for the financial year

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after

RT3 ARz #E
FiaZz EFERBREN

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment: proceeds 1 January 2022

before intended use
ME-BEKRZE  RTBEAZEHRIE

BBGHERF 165 (BFTE) —_E__F#—HF—H

Amendments to HKAS 37

BE G ERIEI7R (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 3
BEMBIREERF35R
(BET %)
Amendments to annual
improvements project
FEDEEE (B5T4H)
Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)
ERECEIE A ERD
Amendments to HKAS 1

BBGSHERFE 1 (BFTAH)
HKFRS 17
BBUBREERFE1TR

Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a
contract

BIEEN—BITEHNZMA

Reference to the conceptual framework

RIS HESR

Annual improvements 2018-2020 cycle

_E-N\EE_Z_TFRAZFENE
Merger accounting for common

control combinations
HEEH TEaHNEHEHE
Classification of liabilities as current

or non-current
BESEARBIIETE
Insurance contracts

REEH

1 January 2022

2 F—HF—H
1 January 2022
—E2°F—HF—H

1 January 2022

—_E”_"#—A8—H
1 January 2022

2 F—HF—H
1 January 2023

e
1 January 2023
—E2=F—HF—H
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
H1 %5 3R R I 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SBEFHHEHNE @
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 RNEE (@
(d) New standards, amendments to existing (d) HREHREGFN

standards, guideline, interpretation
and annual improvements that are not
yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group (Continued)

TR IRANBIFTZTER « 37
BERRAZIZ5TE 155/
ERERFEENE (B)

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
TR A
Fda 2 FE M E X

HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17

BEMBREER T 1758 BEEUBREENFE 1795 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of accounting policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

BEGERNEIE K BT BERIKE

BEEMBREENEREH
825k (1B5T )
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of accounting estimates

1 January 2023
—E2=F—HF—H
1 January 2023

—_E_=F—HF—H

1 January 2023

BB GTERIE8S (B5T4) BEHLEHNER —E=F—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities 1 January 2023
arising from a single transaction

EBGERFI2% (Be]h) REE-XZFEHEEREBENERELEIRE —E2=F—HF—H

HK-Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of financial statements

1 January 2023

— Classification by the borrower of a

term loan that contains a repayment on

demand clause

BEBRBESE CTEZTH) MBERRNET-ERAHSAEREREE —T-_=F—-HF—H

RFREYE A E RV 70 48
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets between an To be determined
and HKAS 28 investor and its associate or joint venture
EBUBREZENFI0KRE RKREEEHBSARNGECECHNEE RBE

HEsHERISE285% (BT A) HEIUEA

None of the above new standards, amendments
to existing standards, guideline, interpretation
and annual improvements is expected to have a
significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHEERENE 8)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting
(a) Subsidiaries (a) WiEBLE

22 FAREDEERD

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
H1 %5 3R R I 5

2

128

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9") in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net asset acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

BEEZHBREBE (8)
2.2 FARERERD (48)

(a) MB2E] (4)

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated income statement, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and balance sheet respectively.

(b) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (d) below),
after initially being recognised at cost.

(c) Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (“HKFRS 11"),
investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures. The
classification depends on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor, rather than the legal
structure of the joint arrangement. The Group has
a joint venture which is accounted for using the
equity method (see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated balance
sheet.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

2
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(d) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased
to recognise the investor's share of the profit or
loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The Group's investments in associates and a joint
venture include goodwill identified on acquisition.
Upon the acquisition of the ownership interests
in associates and a joint venture, any difference
between the cost of the associates or a joint
venture and the Group's share of the net fair value
of associates’ or a joint venture's identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interests in associates and a joint
venture are reduced but significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group's share of losses
in associates and a joint venture equal or exceed its
interest in associates and a joint venture, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of associates and a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEEBEREE @)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(d) Equity method (Continued) (d) 1&z% (48)

2.2 FARERERR (8)

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investments in associates and a joint venture are
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of associates and a joint
venture and its carrying value and recognises the
amount in the consolidated income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associates and joint venture are recognised in
the Group's financial statements only to the extent
of unrelated investor’s interests in associates and a
joint venture. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Gains and losses on dilution of equity interests in
associates and a joint venture are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.9.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(e) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

2.4

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM"). The CODM, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors collectively who make
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’'s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.
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2.5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

134

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

II+ H % *E‘% E (H‘E)

2.5 SMBRE ()
(d) HEBIEFEREDLH

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are reattributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions
in the Group's ownership interest in associates
or a joint venture that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the
consolidated income statement during the financial period
in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Buildings 35 — 48 years

(over the land lease terms)
Leasehold improvements 5-10 years
Plant and machinery 5 years

Furniture and equipment 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are
recognised within “other gains — net” in the consolidated
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

2.7

Construction in progress is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Cost includes all attributable costs of
bringing the asset to working condition for its intended
use. This includes direct costs of construction as well
as interest expense capitalised during the period of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
will cease and the construction in progress is transferred
to appropriate categories within property, plant and
equipment when the construction activities necessary to
prepare the assets for their intended use are completed.
No depreciation is provided.

Intangible assets

(a) Customer relationship
Contractual customer relationship acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. The contractual
customer relationship has a finite useful life and
is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the expected life of the
customer relationship of five years.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

138

2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)
(b) Product development

Costs associated with maintaining software
programmes are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs that are directly
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable
and unique products controlled by the Group are
recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are met:

o It is technically feasible to complete the
software product so that it will be available
for use;

o Management intends to complete the product

and use or sell it;

o There is an ability to use or sell the product;

o It can be demonstrated how the product will
generate probable future economic benefits;

° Adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the product are available; and

o The expenditure attributable to the product
during its development can be reliably
measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as
part of the software product include the software
development employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads. Other development
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs previously recognised as an expense are not
recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Development costs recognised as assets are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of three
years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c) Patents and trademarks

Separately acquired patents and trademarks are
shown at historical cost. Patents and trademarks
acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method over their expected useful lives of five
years.

2.8 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units ("CGUs"), or groups of CGUs,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is
the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately as an
expense for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

2.10 Financial assets

(a) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s business

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
(a) Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investment in equity
instruments that is not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income. The Group
reclassifies debt instruments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets
changes.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

(c) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.
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(c)

EERBEBRBRAT 2021/22 Fik

MBRAFEFENEEM
B W R EER T ABRE W
Hith2EWA -SRI IFRFFE
BExEmnTAREMS  &HF
BORRAEBET RIS
58 B 75 ) [ #h R 12 R HL(F
R/EAFELARMEER
AZRBREREAR - AEBER
RERHEEREEMNERE
NEERBEHELRENSD
|

BT R AL L i 5T
MBEEENTEHBEAKRD
E U5 H BIAERXK
EBANHLEZEEER) #
BoEXEEUZFTREWR
RERENENDIRAE
WER RAEEEREAE
5 2R BY 48 K B0 o0 R B AN [o] 3R
B2 AERIEEDZEMT
BE-

B
VEFERE > AEMNHHE
ERAFESE MBI
BAVTETABRZZMBE
E ASNKEZMBEEER
BORBZIXZMAE AT
B ABRZMBEEZR
ZMATR BT

141



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
H1 %5 3R R I 5

2

142

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Financial assets at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “other gains
- net” together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in “other gains — net”. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other gains — net”
and impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within “other gains — net” in the period in
which it arises.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
transfer of fair value gains and losses to profit or
loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in “other
gains — net” in the consolidated income statement
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables. See Note
3.1(iii)(c) and Note 16 for further details.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
(e) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated balance
sheet where the Group has a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or
the counterparty.

2.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-
out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade and other receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. See Note 3.1(iii)(c) for further information about
the Group’s accounting for trade and other receivables
and a description of the Group's impairment policies.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at
call with banks which have a maturity of less than three
months.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHEERENE 8)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15 Trade and other payables 215 B(I B BIRM KR H MBI

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(a) Currentincome tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in
the countries where the Group generates taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEFHHEHNE @
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 2.18 BNHA B EEFR1FHR (48)
(b) Deferred income tax (b) BEIEFFiFHE

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EETHEHSE @)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19 Employee benefits 219 EERF
(a) Pension obligations (a) BKEET

The Group participates in various defined
contribution pension schemes. A defined
contribution plan is a retirement benefit scheme
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to state/trustee-administered funds. The
Group pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered funds on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

There were no forfeited contributions (by employers
on behalf of employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in such contributions) to
offset existing contributions under the defined
contribution pension schemes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

(i) including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

(i) excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

(iii) including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in
advance of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recognising the expense during the period between
service commencement period and grant date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investments in subsidiaries
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.

Employee leave entitlements

Employees’ entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
balance sheet date.

Employees’ entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Other benefits

Other directors’ and employees’ obligations
are recorded as a liability and charged to the
consolidated income statement when the Group
is contractually obliged or when there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations is small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.21 Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it
is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so
that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a
provision.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHEERENE 8)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.22 Revenue recognition

2.22 I 5 HEER

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown net of value-added tax, returns and discounts and
after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group manufactures and sells a range of electronic
products, pet food and other pet-related products in the
wholesale market. Sales are recognised when control of
the products have transferred, being when the goods
are delivered to the customers, the customers have full
discretion over the goods and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customers’ acceptance of
the goods. Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to customers, and either
customers have accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract, net of the estimated
volume discounts (if any). Accumulated experience is
used to estimate and provide for the discounts, using the
expected value method, and revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal will not occur. A refund liability is recognised
for expected volume discounts payable to customers
in relation to sales made until the end of the reporting
period. No element of financing is deemed present as
the sales are made with credit terms that are consistent
with market practice. The Group’s obligation to provide
a refund for faulty products under the standard warranty
terms is recognised as a provision.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.23 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2.24 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders in case of
final dividend and special dividend, and the Company’'s
directors in case of interim dividend.

2.26 Leases as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are
held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHEERENE 8)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Leases as a lessee (Continued)

226 ERFABAZEE (8)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable (if any).

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case for
leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability; and

o any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease incentives
received (if any).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.26 Leases as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss.

2.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are deferred and credited to the profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the
related assets.

2.28 Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability
is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the
higher of the amount determined in accordance with
the expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9 and the
amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance
with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“HKFRS 15").

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the
present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments under the debt instrument and the
payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financialrisk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value

interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The

Group's overall risk management programme focuses

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks

to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's

performance.

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC
and Vietnam and its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in HKS$,
United States dollars (“US$”), Renminbi (“RMB"),
and Vietnamese Dong (“VND"). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in
a currency that is not an entity’s functional currency.
Management monitors foreign currency exchange
exposure and will take measures to minimise the
currency translation risk. As at 31 March 2022
and 2021, the Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge against foreign exchange risk.

Management considers the foreign exchange risk
with respect to US$ is not significant as HK$ is
pegged against US$. The Group manages its foreign
exchange risk by closely monitoring the movement
of the foreign currency rates.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, if both HK$ and
US$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
RMB with all other variables held constant, the
post-tax profit for each year would have changed
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant
group companies, as follows:

3

HEREEIE (8
3.1 MBAKEZE (B)

(i)

SMEE R B ()
RIB__FR_B_—F
—BA=+—H WA TKET
RPARKEAERE%
MAABEMARFE  &F
EzBRRERET B G5
T EFRBELEBEREA
BNEEEEBBEEREA
BELEREER WRWT :

2022 2021
g TET £
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFAET

Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase BRI IAF) CRiZL) 80
- Strengthen 5% — FH{E5% (10,542) (8,946)
— Weakened 5% — B2 {E5% 10,542 8,946

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, if both HK$ and
US$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
VND with all other variables held constant, the
post-tax profit for each year would have changed
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant
group companies, as follows:

RIEZZFRZIEZ—F
—BA=+—H'WMATKET
RHBEEEAHERZES%
MAABEMARFE  &F
EzBRRERT R &5 &
T ERBELEBEEA
BNNEEEEBEEREA
BEELEREBGER WRWNT :

2022 2021
—EFC TEC—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase BRI &EF CRZL) /120
— Strengthen 5% — F+1E5% (4,564) 5,302
- Weakened 5% — BE5% 4,564 (5,302)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/22




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BIIERGEIR (8)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BERABEZE (8

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate (i) BEAERAFEHHE
risk JEf#

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates as the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for cash and cash
equivalents, details of which are disclosed in Note
18.

The Group's interest rate risk primarily relates to its
bank borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group currently does not hedge its
interest rate risk. However, management monitors
the related interest rate risk exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant interest rate risk
exposure should the need arise. The interest rates
and terms of repayment of borrowings are disclosed
in Note 19.

The Group has no fixed interest rate borrowings.
Therefore it does not have any fair value interest
rate risk.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, if the interest rates
on bank borrowings had been 120 (2021: 50) basis
points higher/lower than the prevailing interest
rate, with all other variables held constant, post-tax
profit for the year would have been approximately
HK$2,064,000 (2021: HK$578,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense
on floating rate bank borrowings.

REBZBRARKERER
EARLEAZTHHINEEEH
TR FRAKRASERRE®SE
BYIN REBITEEKXGE
BECBRAZEESRKE
184 5E o

AEEBZHNXREREEZHAR
TRERM-FREBESEKE
EEHNRERENXER - F
%Hﬁﬁﬁ EEOPE R KA
R EEERVERA
BAXER TREEFEZE
HHEANKRR - BFEHNX
FAB AR MY 52193 B8 ©

AEETEETEMEE R E
EHEARTERNERRE-

NRZE R B —F
ZB=+—H WHRTEE
Zﬂ*@ﬁﬁ%%%/ﬁuo
—ET "4 :50)BEEL
MmPIBEHEMRARRE  FRE&
& &+ B pE m”vﬂ“Mﬁ
2,064,000 (ZEZ—F:
578,000 7T) ’Ip:lac

ﬁﬁﬁ*zﬂgﬁihm/
BREE-
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financialrisk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk

(a)

Risk management

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation
to its cash and bank balances, amounts due
from associates and a joint venture, trade and
other receivables (except for prepayments)
and financial guarantee contracts. The
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is
the carrying amounts of these financial assets.

The Group's credit risk is concentrated on
a number of major and long established
customers. Trade receivables from the top
five customers accounted for approximately
61% (2021: 69%) of the Group's total trade
receivables. The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to customers with
appropriate credit histories and to limit the
amount of credit exposure to any individual
customer.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivable at each
balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group’s past experience in
collection of trade receivables falls within the
recorded allowances. In order to minimise
credit risk to the Group, the Group has certain
non-recourse factoring arrangements with

banks to cover the credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financialrisk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)
(a) Risk management (Continued)

(b)

The credit risk for cash at banks are limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies. Transactions in
relation to equity fund investments are only
carried out with financial institutions of high
reputation. The Group has policies that limit
the amount of credit exposure to any one
financial institution.

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include deposits, other receivables, and
amounts due from associates and a joint
venture. Management assesses the credit
quality of the counterparties, taking into
account the historical risk of default and
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

With respect to financial guarantees provided
to banks to secure the banking facilities
granted to an associate and a joint venture by
the Group, the credit risk is either default of
the counterparties or counterparties certain
to default based on the latest financial
performance of the counterparties.

Security

For certain trade receivables the Group may
obtain security in the form of letters of credit
which can be called upon if the counterparty
is in default.
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3.1 HEEKEZE (@)
(iii) 5B R (4B)

(@) REZE

(b)

EERBEBRBRAT 2021/22 Fik

I (18

AR 5 5 F 1975 B R
EEFAEBETEE
BT ZIRIT WIRTT
BeEZ2EERBAER-
ERREARESREZR
PEARFEESHK
BREB - AEBEERE
B PR B E ) — B 5
WiEZEERKREE-

HMm#Ep A5 Rz
MHEEESRERE H
th 7 LSTRR T LA e R U B
ERER—EEaERE
mE-BEEELETRE
SEEXN R K AT HA
EENRERESFTEN
FENFERZHFHIGE

BEXR-

ThA B EIRIT IR
BRERURERTHE
ABE R EERFEIRIT
MEMMS EERAR
R BHFEONRIE
RAHFHNRMUAHER
BREBNNRZH
Fo

R #Fdm

whE T RE WK E 2 IR T
ToREETUERE
FR BV & AT

RHHFEOFEKRM
Eom
N

163



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
H1 %5 3R R I 5

3

164

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financialrisk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss
model:

. Trade receivables

. Other financial assets at amortised cost

While cash and bank balances are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9,
the identified impairment loss is insignificant.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information, including but not limited to the
following indicators.

o internal credit rating;
. external credit rating;
o actual or expected significant adverse

changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
debtor/borrower’s ability to meet
its obligations, including, among
others, the economic impact of the
unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic on
the operations of the Group;
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BAFHEMBEIR (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MERAKRER (8&)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (iii) 155 R fE (48)
(©  Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (c) 52‘ BEERE (&

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
debtor/borrower, including changes
in the payment status of the debtor/
borrower in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the debtor/
borrower.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables, except for those
individually significant trade receivables or
trade receivables at default which are tested
individually.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Trade receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance. As at 31 March 2022,
the balances of such individually assessed
trade receivables and the loss allowance in
respect of these receivables are HK$2,295,000
(2021: HK$2,295,000) and HK$2,295,000
(2021: HK$2,295,000), respectively.
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AEBEBAETBEMHR
HEAFIFEHNFILEA
ZStERHEERE
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BRAXNEENEKRE
2 R BRI o

Bt BRAIEERIR

HBEMHIRM RSN
= S 1% AR A AR FE U
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%IEEZ%EWEEHE;WE
BB RN _E__F=
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3
3.1 Financialrisk factors (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

MBEKEERE (8

3.1 HEEKREZE (@)
(iii) 15 B REE (48)

(©

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based
on geographical region and shared credit
risk characteristics. The expected loss rates
are based on probabilities of default and
loss rates from external credit ratings,
industry-specific data or other internal and
external credit data sources. The historical
loss rates are further adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors on the global
economic growth affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables, including
but not limited to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic.

The following table presents the balances of
gross carrying amount and the respective loss
allowance as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

() HMBEEZENRE &

B E 7 IR (@)
HFlst B FRATIE BRI

AITEEREESE
AEEDREMIER
EEREERRSEYE
EWEZRRETD
M-FBHEBBEBEDLER
SN EETRTTER
E & e HE i 9 &6 K b
HiEEENIREM
BAKREREBEXS
B BEELEHBBEBXEXEE—
SIEHBEE UK
BEPREERINFIERE
NEBME2REEILEE
B & Al B Al BE 1 7 A
ERZ SEERER
COVID-19%& I5EHI £ -

TREJNRZTZZ
TEI-F=RA=1—
BfRERERSBBR

BHEEER

2022 2021

—ZE2-C BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAET

Gross carrying amount IREAEE 262,939 365,801
Loss allowance BB (2,279) (2,250)
Lifetime expected credit loss rate 2 HIFEEAE BEEXR 0.9% 0.6%
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financialrisk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

©

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis (Continued)

Increase in lifetime expected credit loss rate
in the current year was due to change in
customer mix contributing to trade receivables
as at 31 March 2022.

Trade receivables are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item. No trade
receivables previously provided for were
written off as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$1,673,000).

Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other financial assets at amortised cost
including deposits, other receivables, and
amounts due from associates and a joint
venture, the Group regularly monitors the
financial positions of these companies/
counterparties to assess their recoverability.
As at 31 March 2022, loss allowances of
HK$1,250,000 (2021: HK$1,250,000) and
HK$452,000 (2021: HK$452,000) have been
provided for an amount due from an associate
and other receivables, respectively.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

©

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

These financial assets at amortised cost,
except for amounts due from associates
and other receivables for which impairment
losses have been provided for, are considered
to be of low credit risk primarily because
historically they had no history of default and
the counterparties had strong capacity to
meet their contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term. Management does not
expect any significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and any losses from
non-performance by these counterparties.
The Group assessed the expected credit losses
for these receivables were insignificant under
12-month expected loss method. Thus, loss
allowances recognised for these balances was
close to zero.

Financial guarantee contracts

The maximum exposure in respect of
financial guarantee contracts for banking
facilities granted to an associate and a
joint venture was HK$10,000,000 (2021:
HK$10,000,000) and RMB114,000,000 (2021:
RMB78,000,000), which was equivalent to
HK$136,800,000 (2021: HK$97,500,000),
respectively as at 31 March 2022. As at
31 March 2022, the bank facility utilised
by an associate and a joint venture was
approximately HK$6,100,000 (2021:
HK$6,500,000) and RMB86,700,000 (2021:
RMB78,000,000), which was equivalent to
HK$104,040,000 (2021: HK$97,500,000),
respectively.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BIIERGEIR (8)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BERABEZE (8
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (iii) 55 & fE (48)

(©)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

The credit risk of financial guarantee contracts
is either default of the counterparties or
counterparties certain to default based on
their latest financial information. Taking into
account the historical default experience and
financial position of the guaranteed entities,
loss allowance of HK$4,478,000 (2021:
HK$2,521,000) was recognised as at 31
March 2022.

(iv) Liguidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash balances and the
availability of funding through committed credit
facilities and takes into account all available
information on future business environment
including among others, the social and economic
impact of the COVID-19 on the economies of the
countries in which the Group and its customers
and suppliers operate. The Group manages its
liquidity risk by controlling the level of inventories,
closely monitoring the turnover days of receivables,
monitoring its working capital requirements
and keeping credit lines available. Management
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s bank
facilities and cash and cash equivalents on the basis
of expected cash flows.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiEREEIR (8)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BBARER (&
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iv) B E £ EE (4)
The table below analyses the Group's financial TRETAEBZMBER
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based D REREEEHESLOEE
on the remaining period at the balance sheet HEer THAREEI D A AR E
date to the contractual maturity date. The RN - RAFMEESERS
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual HWRMRBEERE -

undiscounted cash flows.

Between Between
On Llessthan 1and2 2and5 Over
demand 1 year years years 5 years Total
BREX LIR-% -EmE MELF BBRIF =L
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THEr FThx FTEx TEx  ThExn  TER

Asat 31 March 2022 RZE-_"“&#=H=+—H

Trade payables EREZED - 218,328 = = - 218,328
Other payables and ~ EftETFIE

accruals REHER - 21,153 - - - 27153
Borrowings BE 181,000 3,750 10,000 11,250 - 206,000
Interest payments on  EEF B

borrowings - 3,123 417 232 - 3,772
Financial guarantee ~ B BERER

contracts 4,478 - - - - 4,478
Lease liabilities HE&E - 1,826 47 281 2,886 5,040

185,478 254,180 10,464 11,763 2,886 464,771

Asat 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F#=H=+—H

Trade payables ERNEBRERT - 288,463 = = - 288,463

Other payables HEMHIE
and accruals KR ER - 23308 - - - 23308
Borrowings BE 138,550 - - - - 138,550

Interest payments on S & B
borrowings S 1,792 386 193 S 2,371

Financial guarantee BT ERAR
contracts 2,521 S S S = 2,521
Lease liabilities HE&E - 5,351 341 138 3,01 11,911
141,071 318,914 3,797 331 3,01 467,124
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided
by total equity as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet.

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5
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3.2 BEXEMER
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AEEREEGRBLEEXREREL
IR EERER G EEAf
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i o

il

2022 2021

g TET—fF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT TFET

Total bank borrowings IRITEEAEEE 206,000 138,550
Total equity HEm AR %A 809,959 802,168
Gearing ratio BEEABRALEE 25.4% 17.3%
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation
The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities carried at fair value as at 31 March 2022 by level
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within
a fair value hierarchy as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based

on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BAFHEMBEIR (&)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEfHET (@)
The following table presents the Group's financial assets TREJNAEBRARZZZZFE=8
and liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31 = +—HEATEAEZHEEE
March 2022: k&’
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B/—ik B B4R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET AT
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair BAFESRAEMEE
value through other WAZBEE
comprehensive income - - 5,888 5,888
Financial assets at fair value & AFEZAERZ
through profit or loss HMHBEEE 91 - - 91
91 - 5,888 5,979
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets TRENAEBNR -ZZ—F=8
and liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31 Zt+—HEATFEAEZHBEEE
March 2021: kafE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B—4R =t B4R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair BAFESRAEMEE
value through other WAZBEE
comprehensive income - - 6,004 6,004
Financial assets at fair value I AF{EGZAERZ
through profit or loss HMHEE 193 - - 193
193 - 6,004 6,197
There are no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during RER > F—ZR=hzBmE
the year. R EEES o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair values of financial instruments traded in
active markets are based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for the listed equity
instruments held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 classified as trading
securities comprise primarily equity investments
listed on the National Association of Securities
Dealers Automated Quotations (the “NASDAQ").

(b) Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market are determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to assess the fair value of an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2. The Group does not have level 2 financial
instruments.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

MR EE (8
3.3 aFEMHE (@)

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (c) BE=4REMTA
If one or more of the significant inputs is not H—EXLEFEHAEL
based on observable market data, the instrument FURREmBHEERE
is included in level 3. As at 31 March 2022, the EHQMZITEBRE =R N
Group's financial assets measured at fair value TEITF=RB=+—H"'%&
through other comprehensive income are level 3 ERRATFELSAEMEZE
financial assets. WASEZHBEEBNS
—HRRFEE-
The fair values of the Group’s financial assets at rEBZAFELZAHMS
fair value through other comprehensive income are AWAZHMBEERZ2EER
determined based on the net asset value of the EZHEBERERGEMIZZ
funds calculated with reference to the quoted prices RENE2ESEEFEE
in active markets of the underlying investments of iE ©
the funds.
The following table presents the changes in level TRETE=ZHRIENEE
3 instruments for the years ended 31 March 2022 TE T TERIE_—F=
and 2021: B=+t—HLEHEEZZF:
Unlisted equity funds
FELrmREES
2022 2021
—E_C B
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FET
Beginning of the year R4 6,004 5,266
Net fair value (losses)/gains Hth2mBRARNERZ AFE
recognised in other BRE (B518) Wa
comprehensive income (116) 738
End of the year RER 5,888 6,004
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CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated write-downs of inventories to net

realisable value

The Group writes down inventories to net realisable value
based on an assessment of the realisability of inventories.
Write-downs of inventories are recorded where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be realised. The identification of write-downs requires
the use of judgement and estimates. These estimates
are based on the market condition and the historical
experience of selling prices of similar nature. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of inventories
and write-downs of inventories in the period in which
such estimate has been changed.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BEGIHET RFET (48)
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Estimated useful lives and impairment of

(b) ME-BERRFERERESR

property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (other than goodwill)

The Group’'s property, plant and equipment are
depreciated based on their estimated useful lives and
estimated residual values. The Group's right-of-use assets
are depreciated over the shorter of the assets’ useful lives
and the lease terms on a straight-line basis. Management
has reviewed the estimated useful lives and considers they
are appropriate. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to market conditions.

Management will increase the depreciation charges where
useful lives are less than previously estimated and will
dispose of technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in
a change in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation
expense in future periods.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Estimated useful lives and impairment of

(c)

property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable, including, among others, the
economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the
operations of the Group and the countries in which it
operates. Impairment loss on such assets is recognised
as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2.9. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use, which are based on the best information
available to reflect the amount obtainable at each
reporting date, from the disposal of the asset in an
arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing
parties, after deducting the costs of disposal. These
require the use of estimates.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2.9. The recoverable amounts of
cash generating units have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations prepared on the basis of
management’s assumptions and estimates (Note 2.9).
These calculations require the use of estimates.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 EBEEGHEERAE (E)
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(d) Impairment of interests in associates and a

(d) RBEQARR—MEELRE

joint venture

Management regularly reviews the recoverability of
the Group’s interests in associates and a joint venture,
in particular when they consider objective evidence of
impairment exists, such as significant adverse changes
in the market environment, including, among others,
the social and economic impact of the COVID-19 on the
associates and joint venture and the countries in which
they operate. The sources utilised to identify indications
of impairment are often subjective in nature and the
Group is required to use judgement in applying such
information to its business. The Group’s interpretation
of this information has a direct impact on whether an
impairment assessment is performed as at any given
reporting date.

If an indication of impairment is identified, such
information is further subject to an exercise that requires
the Group to estimate the recoverable amount based on
the higher of the asset’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, depending upon the anticipated future
plans for the asset. The Group is required to make certain
assumptions to make such assessment, including the
projected business performance and future cash flows of
the associates and joint venture and appropriate discount
rates. Changes in any of these assumptions could
result in a material change to future estimates of the
recoverable amount of such associates and joint venture.
An impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income whenever the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(e) Impairment of financial assets

(f)

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’'s historical and existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to various taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. Estimating the amount of deferred
tax asset arising from tax losses and other temporary
differences requires a process that involves determining
appropriate provisions for income tax expense, forecasting
future year's taxable income and assessing our ability to
utilise tax benefits through future earnings. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax
assets and income tax charges in the period in which such
estimate is changed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(g) Fair values of financial assets
The fair values of financial assets that are traded in an
active market are determined by the quoted market
prices.

For the fair values of financial assets not traded in
an active market, the Group would use the valuation
techniques with the assistance of independent
professional valuers to estimate the fair values. The
methodologies, models, assumptions and parameters
used in valuing these financial instruments require
judgement by management at each balance sheet date.
For further details refer to Note 3.3 above.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM has been identified as the Executive Directors of the
Group, who make strategic decisions and review the internal
reporting of the Group in order to assess performance and
allocate resources.

There are two reportable segments for the Group:

Electronic products - Develop, manufacture and sale of
electronic products (other than pet-
related electronic products)

Pet-related products — Manufacture and distribution of pet-
related products

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of the results of reportable segments.
Finance income and costs, corporate income and expenses,
fair value gains or losses of financial assets, impairment loss
on interest in an associate and share of results of associates
are not included in the results for each operating segment that
are reviewed by the CODM. Other information provided to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue from external customers is shown after elimination of
inter-segment revenue. Sales between segments, which mainly
consist of sale of electronic components and products among
subsidiaries, are carried out at mutually agreed terms. Revenue
from external parties is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated income statement.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) SHEEH (&
Assets of reportable segments exclude current and deferred AERNTBEETCRERG—BEEE
income tax assets, financial assets at fair value through other IR RIEIEMEBREE ZAFER
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value through AHME2ERAZHEEE -BATFE
profit or loss, interests in and amounts due from associates, SABGZUBEE - EHBEATZ
interest in and amount due from a joint venture, and corporate akEBRZTEBE - R—RBaELEZ
assets, all of which are managed on a central basis. Liabilities of HEakHEEBERRBEURATGEE AJ2
reportable segments exclude current and deferred income tax BROEEETERERIRELEMERE
liabilities, financial guarantee contracts and corporate liabilities. BB EREARRAFBE - ZEFEE
These are part of the reconciliation to total balance sheet assets REEABEEEBRERBEEENGGR Y
and liabilities. BRER 9 o
The segment information provided to the CODM for the MBE_ZE_"F=B=+—HLEE
reportable segments for the years ended 31 March 2022 is as AERNPERTEEERRARHEHZS
follows: BFENNOT
2022
ZEICE
Electronic  Pet-related
products products Elimination Total
EY .
EFEm 1H A 2= i =1
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FTAT FHET
Revenue Wi
Revenue from external customers ShaRE P U 2R 1,412,953 442,922 - 1,855,875
Inter-segment revenue DEBRE 368,533 237,677 (606,210) =
1,781,486 680,599 (606,210) 1,855,875
Segment results DIEEB 59,050 25,838 84,888
A reconciliation of segment results to D EEELFEREF 2 H
profit for the year is as follows: RAH
Segment results PAEEF 84,888
Unallocated expenses — net ROz — 58 (20,779)
Other income HttlgA 9,987
Other gains - net HAhl e — 3 58 1,837
Operating profit FES=Finkil 75,933
Finance income B WA 506
Finance costs E= 7% (2,997)
Impairment loss on interest in an R—EgERT 2 EEm
associate BERHE (975)
Share of losses of associates FE1LIE A B RSB (9,236)
Profit before income tax BRETFFE AR T 63,231
Income tax expense PREMES _ (6442)
Profit for the year FAEF] 56,789
182  SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/22
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEEHGE

The segment information provided to the CODM for the MBEE_SE_—_F=HA=Z+—HILEE
reportable segments for the years ended 31 March 2022 is as AERDERNTELSERARTAREBZS
follows: (Continued) FERNT @ (@

Electronic  Pet-related

products products Unallocated Total
BY
BEFEM M E SR RAE =L

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FET FET

Other segment information HihyaaEn
Depreciation of property, ME-BERREITE

plant and equipment 39,203 177 2,385 41,765
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE 3,414 192 2,623 6,229
Additions to non-current assets REFERBEE

(other than interests in associates (REE AT —HE

and a joint venture, financial assets ~ &E&E M 2

and deferred tax assets) MBEERELERE

BERMN 40,253 14 658 40,925
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

5 SEHEERGGE

The segment information provided to the CODM for the MBEE_SE_—F=ZHA=Z+—HILEE
reportable segments for the years ended 31 March 2021 is as AE2FDERFESERRXAREZD
follows: FENNOT -
2021
g%
Electronic Pet-related
products products Elimination Total
L)
BFE®D HHEE m iy a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FHETT FHETT
Revenue U 25
Revenue from external customers INRE AU E 1,695,367 406,206 - 2,101,573
Inter-segment revenue pak el 235,590 227,590 (463,180) -
1,930,957 633,796 (463,180) 2,101,573
Segment results DEREE 94,955 26,926 121,881
A reconciliation of segment results to 4 4EEBAF XN
profit for the year is as follows: SEAZHEENT :
Segment results DHES 121,881
Unallocated expenses — net KBRS —F%8 (25,295)
Other income Hs A 5,085
Other gains - net Hithig = — 358 412
Operating profit 4R S| 102,083
Finance income BB U A 1,268
Finance costs B0 E a7 (2,713)
Share of losses of associates e NIl ] (8,634)
Profit before income tax FRFr 2R B A 92,004
Income tax expense FRiEf R~ (12,388)
Profit for the year FERHEF 79,616
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEEHGE@
The segment information provided to the CODM for the MEBEE_E_—F=ZA=Z+—HILEE
reportable segments for the years ended 31 March 2021 is as AERDERNTELSERARTAREBZS
follows: (Continued) FERNT (@

Electronic Pet-related

products products  Unallocated Total
B

ETEM TERE® RO a5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THTT THTT THET THET

Other segment information HihraaEn
Depreciation of property, ME--BERZBINE

plant and equipment 33,251 357 2,485 36,093
Depreciation of right-of-use assets R E EFE 6,180 720 3,773 10,673
Additions to non-current assets  AEIEREIEE

(other than interests in associates (P B A B K — R

and a joint venture, financial EEbE EE

assets and deferred tax assets) MBEERIELERER

BERMN 114,359 562 4,864 119,785
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEEH G

The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2022

RIE-"F=ZRA=+—HNNEEE

and the reconciliation to the total assets and total liabilities are EoEaEUREEERERBERLEE
as follows: HHEEWT .
2022
Electronic Pet-related
products products Total
B
BFEm TR E R =5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FHATT FHETT
Segment assets DEEE 1,091,803 146,475 1,238,278
Unallocated: FoEC :
Property, plant and equipment ME BB MRS 23,917
Right-of-use assets FTREEE 20,251
Interests in associates N =UNCIP& S 16,128
Interest in a joint venture R—EeEtE s 7,547
Deferred income tax assets BIEFTISMEE 1,066
Amounts due from associates FE WL B & A B 7R IE 1,789
Amount due from a joint venture Bl —E&EhERE 6,000
Income tax recoverable FIUREIFR1EHE 566
Other investments Hig & 5,979
Cash and cash equivalents REMRREEEY 4,996
Other unallocated assets HMKRDEEE 6,739
Total assets per consolidated REBEEAREK
balance sheet FRmEERE 1,333,256
Segment liabilities nEEEE 259,164 26,220 285,384
Unallocated: FoEC
Bank borrowings IRITEE 206,000
Lease liabilities HEAa®R 1,661
Deferred income tax liabilities REFTEMARE 88
Income tax payable FEI PSR 18,915
Finance guarantee contracts MBRERER 4,478
Other unallocated liabilities HttRkpEE&E 6,771
Total liabilities per consolidated REBEEARREK
balance sheet B E4R%E 523,297
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5

The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2021
and the reconciliation to the total assets and total liabilities are

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A —

T _F_

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

ﬁ*ﬁﬁ*‘l'(mﬁ)
—T—F=ZA=+—HHNOEEE
EofHaBEUKREEEHRERABELE

as follows: HHEWT :
2021
BT —F
Electronic Pet-related
products products Total
BEY
BFEmM 18 8 E o =51
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET TFAT
Segment assets DIEEE 1,121,318 75,490 1,196,808
Unallocated: ROEC -
Property, plant and equipment MEWERERE 24,379
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 47,656
Interests in associates AN - 26,338
Interest in a joint venture R—EeEhxs#in 7,862
Deferred income tax assets BIEFTISMEE 1,950
Amounts due from associates B W B & A B FIE 1,106
Income tax recoverable B EIE T 77
Other investments Htig & 6,197
Cash and cash equivalents RBERREEEY 5,240
Other unallocated assets Bk DA EE 9,003
Total assets per consolidated REEEBER
balance sheet A& EMEE 1,326,616
Segment liabilities sk B=NE 313,472 40,245 353,717
Unallocated: ROEC:
Bank borrowings BTEE 138,550
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,269
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFTISI AR 283
Income tax payable FEI TSR 19,113
Financial guarantee contracts FHEEREE 2,521
Other unallocated liabilities Htxnic&E 6,995
Total liabilities per consolidated FEEEBER
balance sheet SN =N R 524,448
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B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

2021 is as follows:

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers by
country of destination for the years ended 31 March 2022 and

ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬂ (H‘E)
rAEEBRE_ZE__FRIZE”—F=
A=+—HLEEZENMERE S
ShRBRA U DU T -

2022 2021
—=E-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT BT
The United States of America (the “USA") EMERERE (TER)) 1,196,719 1,222,232
The PRC* A E 271,799 439,421
Japan B 123,014 152,147
Germany =E 65,875 88,629
Australia BN 43,428 56,883
France P 38,637 47,067
United Kingdom [ 28,000 24,934
Others Hth 88,403 70,260
1,855,875 2,101,573

* The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan * FE BEEERE E

An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets,
deferred income tax assets and interests in associates and a

joint venture, by geographical locations is as follows:

excluding

rEERMES D ZIFRBEE (FEHF
EEFFRMEEURNBE QT Kk—HE
BELERZER) DMWMTE

2022 2021
—EF BT —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TFAET
The PRC* = * 321,610 337,568
Vietnam 2] 87,694 77,741
409,304 415,309
& The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan g FE SEEEREE

For the year ended 31 March 2022, external revenue of
approximately HK$412,698,000 (2021:
was generated from one (2021: three) major customer. The
customer accounted for more than 10% (2021:

Group's revenue.

No other customer accounted for more than 10% of the
Group's revenue for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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HK$935,083,000)

10%) of the

BHE_E__F#HB=ZB=+—HL®=®
B> ShERUR 25 49412,698,0008 ¢ (Z =
— —4F 935,083,000 ) RE—% (=
BT —F ) FERER -ZERAMAK
ERW@mION (ZEZ—F 110%) X
o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Ey
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 ME-BEKRSE
Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and  Construction
Buildings  improvement machinery equipment in progress Total
1BF HENERE BB R e HiRRE HEIR =h
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FET FET FHET FET THET FET
As at 1 April 2020 RZE-Z£MA—A
Cost D% 156,134 79,112 116,620 50,361 - 402,227
Accumulated depreciation RENERAE
and impairment (21,101) (39,672) (80,035) (36,153) - (176,961)
Net book amount REZE 135,033 39,440 36,585 14,208 - 225,266

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE_Z-_-F=A=+—8

LHEE

Opening net book amount FREFE 135,033 39,440 36,585 14,208 - 225,266
Additions HE - 5,594 39,751 5,874 33,294 84,513
Disposals HeE - - (40) () = (44)
Depreciation & (3,478) (8,459) (17,318) (6,838) - (36,093)
Exchange differences ERERE 14,670 4,993 5,602 1,846 157 27,268
Closing net book amount FRREFE 146,225 41,568 64,580 15,086 33,451 300,910
As at 31 March 2021 RZB-_—-£=A=+—-H
Cost B 172,792 94,541 163,481 59,562 33,451 523,827
Accumulated depreciation RBRMERAE

and impairment (26,567) (52,973) (98,901) (44,476) - (222,917)
Net book amount REFE 146,225 41,568 64,580 15,086 33,451 300,910
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE_Z__£=RA=+-H

LEE

Opening net book amount FREFE 146,225 41,568 64,580 15,086 33,451 300,910
Additions HE - 676 15,342 5,002 19,905 40,925
Disposals HE - (3,894) (170) (23) - (4,087)
Transfers - 53,356 - - = (53,356) =
Depreciation & (5,344) (10,007) (20,150) (6,264) - (41,765)
Exchange differences ERER 740 20 527 (155) - 1,132
Closing net book amount FREmFE 194,977 28,363 60,129 13,646 - 297,115
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZB-"%=RF=+-H
Cost B 225,351 87,425 174,703 63,471 - 550,950
Accumulated depreciation ERMERAE

and impairment (30,374) (59,062) (114,574) (49,825) - (253,835)
Net book amount REFE 194,977 28,363 60,129 13,646 - 297,115
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Depreciation of HK$20,150,000 (2021: HK$17,618,000) and
HK$21,615,000 (2021: HK$18,475,000) has been charged
to cost of sales and general and administrative expenses,
respectively, in the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had no pledge of
assets.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(a) Balances recognised in the consolidated

M B ER=E (8

BE_T__F£=ZRA=+—HIEE"
#TE20,150,0008 T (ZE - —F !
17,618,000 75) %21,615,000%8 7T (=
T —4 118,475,000 7T) BED B EE
BRERAEERSA R —RERITHERE
BRI

N E - —ER_E_—F=A=4+—
H AERITEEREE-

FEARBEEREERR
(a) RFABEERRREIZEGR

balance sheet

2022 2021
—EHFE TEC—F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT

Right-of-use assets FRHEEE
Properties LY/ES 1,736 8,210
Leasehold land HE T 18,641 19,351
Land use rights ot (s B A 67,016 68,380
87,393 95,941

Lease liabilities HEAR

Current portion mENE o 1,791 5,107
Non-current portion JEmBE S 1,161 4,430
2,952 9,537
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 7 {FHiESERIAEa&E (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Balances recognised in the consolidated

(a) MiFEEEARKRERZER

balance sheet (Continued)
Right-of-use assets by geographical locations are as

(&)
BHWEE S ERREEMNT

follows:

2022 2021
—E-- =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFHET
The PRC* FRE* 63,617 67,644
Vietnam e 23,776 28,297
87,393 95,941

* The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan e FE BIEEEEREE

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 March 2021 were approximately HK$30,177,000,
which mainly represented a piece of land leased by the
Group in Vietnam for a term of 39 years for setting up a
new manufacturing plant. There was no addition during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

Disposal of the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 March 2022 was approximately HK$2,727,000 (2021:
HK$1,220,000), which represented the early termination
of lease on the properties in the PRC and Vietnam.

BE_Z_—S£=-A=1+—HL=E
EREFRBEEERN30,177,000%
T FEEASEENEBEMERILN
NEBREMEE—REHAI9EN
TR —_E-_—_F=B=4+—H
IFFEEBERE -

N_E__FE=ZRA=+—HHE®F
AEEELN2,727,0008 T (ZF
——4 11,220,000 ) c Hi5iR
ERIEERHPEREE 2 ERE
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7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 7

(CONTINUED)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

(c)

income statement

EREEERBERE (B

(b) MBI RETZ

2022 2021
—ET BT —4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHTT FHET

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEEINE
Properties LY ES 3,804 7,692
Leasehold land e 710 710
Land use rights ot (s B A 1,715 2,271
6,229 10,673
Interests on lease liabilities HEaBHNER 254 679
Expenses relating to short-term leases BTSRRI 1,524 4,665

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended
31 March 2022 was approximately HK$5,571,000 (2021:
HK$35,681,000).

Depreciation of HK$3,414,000 (2021: HK$3,980,000) and
HK$2,815,000 (2021: HK$6,693,000) has been charged
to cost of sales and general and administrative expenses,
respectively, in the consolidated income statement for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

The Group's leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various office premises and warehouses.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed terms of 1
to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease arrangements do not impose any
covenants.

The Group also has leasehold land in Hong Kong and land
lease arrangements with the local government agencies in
the PRC and Vietnam.
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(c)

HE___—_H£=ZH=+—H
LtEE AENRESRHEED
#5,571,0008B 5 (& - —F
35,681,000 7T) ©

BE_E__F#=ZRB=+—HLt®=E
B #83,414,0008 15 (& - —
£ 13,980,000 7t) &%2,815,000
BT (CEZ—4:6,693,000%7T)
ENRNRGE N ERBERS R —
BRTHEEERRNIDNRR-

FEENHEEEIREES
RRIE
FEBEESEBRATVERA
E-HESNNEEHRR—RA
E3F -BRANNBEERREE
UEH BOEEETENEX
T A5 1 o 78 5 22 i 3 4% Bt 1014 2] 22
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8 EEEE
Customer Product  Patents and
relationship development  trademarks Total
EER% EmfE ENREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THET TAET THET
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 RZZEZZFMA—A-
and 31 March 2022 :%éjgzﬁz+—ﬂ
R
Cost A 5,584 4,986 600 11,170
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R KRB E (5,584) (4,986) (600) (11,170)
Net book amount REFE - - - -

XEENEFLEEER S __FK

The Group's intangible assets were fully amortised and impaired

as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. TE T —FZA=Z+—HEEEHE A
=
GOODWILL 9 BHE
2022 2021
—EZ-C 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEBT

Beginning and end of the year RE R F#E 3,949 3,949

The Group's goodwill is related to the acquisitions of 50%
equity interest of Suga Technology Limited and 15% equity
interest of Suga Technology Hong Kong Limited, both of which
are wholly owned subsidiaries principally engaged in trading of
electronic products.

AEBNHEDHEEBEERMARA
BS0%RARDREERMEEARA
AS%REAEmEH MEHLSEZEN
BRE FENFEEEFEM
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194

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment test for goodwill

The Group combined the operation of the two entities as one
and therefore, management considered these two entities as
one cash generating unit (“CGU"). The recoverable amounts
of the CGU are determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year period
which incorporate the following key assumptions.

Ea ()

3 2 {5 R ot
AEERMEEREBEHA— &
It ERERARSHEERA AR
SEEBA ((REEEEM) -REE
EBUZAKRESENRERABEITE
FEE-EMAENRBCEERE ML
HERFHEZHRBEEFHZRSR
BEEAET HOETUEIERR-

2022 2021
—T__ T —F

Average revenue growth rate for FE—EFHFNFHRER
the first to fifth year BEX 5.0% 7.5%
Gross margin ESVAES 3.5% 4.2%
Terminal growth rate RIHIE R = 3.0% 3.0%
Discount rate AHIRE 12.0% 12.0%

Management determined budgeted revenue growth rate
based on past performance and their expectations for market
development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. Cash
flows beyond the period covered in approved budgets are
extrapolated using a growth rate that do not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the businesses in which the CGU
operates.

Based on the discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management, the directors are of the view that there is no
impairment of goodwill as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU would still exceed the
remaining carrying amounts if the assumptions were changed as

follows:

- lowering revenue growth rate by 50% of the expected
growth rate;

= lowering gross margin by 50 basis point; or

- raising discount rate by 100 basis point.
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EEERBEBERBERHEMESERZE
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ROSMAAE JRREBIEZIETE
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10 SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

March 2022 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of legal

Issued share capital/paid-

bt BB 2 B
ARNBNR _E__F=ZB=+—HzZ=E
BB ABEBNOT :

Group equity

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

Principal activities and

Name entity up capital interest place of operation
SRR R R BEIRE/
ey EEERER BARE AEEREEAER FEEBREEME
2022 2021
ZEZf _F_—F
Suga International Limited (i) British Virgin Islands, Ordinary shares US$700 100% 100%  Investment holding
limited liability company
HERYZHE BRAF EIBRT00ET RERR
Suga Electronics Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products in
(Hong Kong) Limited limited liability company Hong Kong
EEBRAR A& BRAF BEAETT RERBEETER
Suga Electronics Limited (ii) Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2; 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products in
limited liability company Non-voting deferred Hong Kong
shares HK$4,000,000 (ii)
EEEFARARI) A& BRAF EER2ET, RERBEETER
BRERIELERD
4,000,0007% 7c(ii)
Suga Beauty Technology Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Design and trading of electronic
limited liability company products in Hong Kong
EEEANRERAT A& BRAF BEiATT RERRHAREEETER
Precise Computer Tooling Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co., Limited limited liability company HK$500,000
BISKMEERAT &8 BRAF & #A500,00057T REZR
On Million Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Property holding in Hong Kong
limited liability company
shEBRAT A& BRAF BEiATT RERFENE
Suga Technology Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products
limited liability company in Hong Kong
EERMERAT BB BRAT BER2ET REBEBETER
Time Lucky Enterprises Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$10 90% 90% Investment holding

BERCEERAT

limited liability company
A& BRAF

EEBI0ET

EERABRERERAT 2021/2255k

in Hong Kong
REBUSREER
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10

196

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

March 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of legal

10

Issued share capital/paid-

Mg 28 (48)
ARABNR _E__F=ZB=+—HzZ=E
EBATEBWNT (&)

Group equity Principal activities and

Name entity up capital interest place of operation
AR Rt B BEIRE/
ey EEERER MARE AEEREEAER FEEBREEME
2022 2021
ZEZZf _F_-F
Suga Global Innovation Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Design and trading of electronic
company HK$4,000,000 products in Hong Kong
BERIKEIMERAT &8 BIRAF & #/24,000,0007 70 REBRREEEFER
Suga Technology Hong Kong Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products in
Limited company HK$100,000 Hong Kong
EERMEEERAT A BRAF £480%100,000E 7T RERBEETER
United Fountain Investment Ltd. Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100% Pet food distribution in
company HK$1 Hong Kong
ERRERRAH B BRAT EERIET RERDHENE R
Suga Electronics (Dongguan) Co. The PRC, limited liability US$10,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Limited (“SEDG") (i), (xiv) company products in the PRC
EEEF FR) BERAF HE ERAH 10,000,000% 7T RABEREEFER
(MEEE TR (i)~ (xiv)
Long Join (Hong Kong) Electronics  Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100% Design and trading of electronic
Co., Limited company HK$2 products in Hong Kong
R (B8 BFERRA A BRAF BER2ET REBERFREEBTER
Nodic-Matsumoto Tooling and The PRC, limited liability US$6,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding in the PRC
Plastic Injection (Huizhou) Co., company
Limited (“Nodic") (iv), (xiv)
BA—IRABEETE (BEM) e BRAS 6,000,000% 7% RREREREER
BIRAE (THEF71) (v)~ (xiv)
Suga Technology (Dongguan) Co.,  The PRC, limited liability US$12,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Ltd. (“STDG") (v), (xiv) company products in the PRC
REBREEFRAE e BRAS 12,000,000%7 RAEEEETER
(TEREZBT3R) (v) (xiv)
Suga USA Inc. The USA, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding in the USA

company
ZB BRAF

Us$10
EEBI0ET
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10 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

March 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of legal

Issued share capital/paid-

B AT (48)

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

EKABR _BE__F#=BA=+—Hz=*x

2 ERE

Group equity

EE =R 1

(HE)

Principal activities and

Name entity up capital interest place of operation
SRR R R BEIRE/
ey EEERER BARE AEEREEAER FEEBREEME
2022 2021
ZEZf _F_—F
Suga Networks Equipment The PRC, limited liability HK$17,500,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. company products in the PRC
("SNESL") (vi), (xiv)
EEAERM (RI) ER 7 e BRAS 17,500,000 7 RAEtEETER
(MBI (vi)
Happypaw (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd The PRC, limited liability HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Trading of pet products in the
("HPSZ") (vii), (xiv) company PRC
BOERYRR (R BRAT  FE BRAF 1,000,000 7T AHEEEEYER
(B CRIN 1) (vii) ~ (xiv)
Espetsso Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
company HK$1 Hong Kong
A& BRAF EERIET RERDHEEMER
Chummily Technology (Tianjin) Co., The PRC, limited liability RMB 10,000,000 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
Ltd ("CTLTI") (viii), (xiv) company the PRC
BREXRRERAE e BRAS AR 10,000,000 RAEDHENESR
(HE,%_SU) (viii) ~ (xiv)
Chummily International Trading The PRC, limited liability RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd ("CTLGZ")  company the PRC
(ix), (xiv)
Mmiﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ HE BRAH AR #5,000,0007% RS HERENER
(TEMER ) (i) (
Happypaws International Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100% Distribution of pet food in Asia

HOEBRERAST

company

B BRAF

HK$10
EEBI0ET

EERABRERERAT 2021/2255k
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10 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

198

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

March 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of legal

10 MIEBATE (48)
ARABNR _E__F=ZB=+—HzZ=E

ERBEBLABFBAOT ¢ ()
Issued share capital/paid-

Group equity Principal activities and

Name entity up capital interest place of operation
AR Rt B BEIRE/
ey EEERER FUNSZS AEEREEAER FEEBREEME
2022 2021
ZEZZf _F_-F
Chongmi Investment & The PRC, limited liability RMB20,000,000 90% 90% Consulting services in the PRC
Consultation (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd ~ company
("CMIC") (x), (xiv)
FNEIBRARELZAERAR  FE ERAE AE120,000,0007¢ R ARER B R ARTS
(TBRBELD (X) (xiv)
Suga Smart Tech Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$100 51% 51% Design and trading of electronic
company products in Hong Kong
BEENNEBRAR ER BRAR BER1008 T RERRHAREEETER
Suga Japan Co., Ltd Japan, limited liability company ~ Japanese Yen 2,000,000 100% 100%  Design and trading of electronic
products in Japan
Suga Japantk & 4 BABRAR 2,000,000H RAXZHREEETER
Wepet Technology Ltd Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of pet products in Hong
company HK$2 Kong
ERNEARAT A BRAF BER2ET RERBERMER
Dongguan Suga Idea Electronics The PRC, limited liability US$1,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Company Limited ("DSIE") (xi), company products in the PRC
(xiv)
FREREFERAT HE ERAH 1,000,000% 7T RAEEEETER
(TREEEBTI) (i) (xiv)
Suga Bac Ninh Company Limited Vietnam, limited liability US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
("SVN"), (xii) company products in Vietnam
HE BRAR 5,000,000% 7% RUBEEEETER
Suga International (Vietnam) Vietnam, limited liability US$14,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic

Company Limited ("SIVC"), (xiii)

company

B ERAR

products in Vietnam

14,000,000% 75 REEEESTER

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/22



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

March 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Notes:

@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

The shares of Suga International Limited are held directly by the Company.
The shares of the other subsidiaries are held indirectly.

The non-voting deferred shares of Suga Electronics Limited are held by
Essential Mix Enterprises Limited and Broadway Business Limited, which
are owned by Dr. Ng Chi Ho and Mr. Ma Fung On, directors and beneficial
shareholders of the Company. These non-voting deferred shares have
no voting rights, are not entitled to dividends, and are not entitled to
any distributions upon winding up unless a sum of HK$10,000,000 per
ordinary share has been distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares.

SEDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033 under the
PRC law.

Nodic is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC in
September 1990.

STDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until April 2027 under the PRC

law.

SNESL is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until October 2022 under the
PRC law.

HPSZ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 30 years until April 2041 under the PRC

law.

CTLT is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 30 years until December 2045 under the
PRC law.

CTLGZ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 30 years until December 2045 under the
PRC law.

CMIC is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033 under the
PRC law.

10

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

MiEE (48
ARNBNR _E__F=ZB=+—HzZ=E
BB ATEBNT | (&)

Mt -

@M

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

EERABRERERAT 2021/2255k

Suga International LimitedZ fR1D R AN B B %
5B o A B AT 2 ) B B4 A B M
Ao

EEEFERAGDZERERELER G H
Essential Mix Enterprises LimitedBroadway
Business Limitedf5 > M&ZEF A HAAF
EERBaRRREREIAERT AL
B ZEREERELER D EER Z WK
B BRE REEBAREEACEDRER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
H1 %5 3R R I 5

10 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

200

March 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

DSIE is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until June 2038 under the PRC

law.

SVN is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Vietnam in
December 2018.

SIVC is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Vietnam in April
2020.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

All subsidiaries established in the PRC have financial accounting year end
date on 31 December in accordance with the local statutory requirements,
which is not coterminous with the Group. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group being presented were prepared based on the
management accounts of these subsidiaries for the twelve months ended
31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS 11 RBHEQ/TZEm KR EWEE
DUE FROM ASSOCIATES ATIFRIE

2022 2021

—=-- —=-_—&

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHETT FBIT

Unlisted investments, at cost R EFRE LB AT R 16,128 26,338

Amounts due from associates FE W B = A B FIE 1,789 1,106

The particulars of the Group's principal associates as at 31

March 2022 are as follows:

Particulars of

rEER_E-_"_F=ZR=+—HZ=E
EMERBZFBNOT

Country of
incorporation and

Name issued/paid-in capital type of legal entity Equity interest held
EMAILERR
] Bi7/BRRGHE EABRER REED
2022 2021
—5-= —E-—F
Concept Infinity Limited ("CIL") Ordinary shares Hong Kong, 24.38% 24.38%
HK$8,510,000 (2021: Same) limited liability company
Concept Infinity Limited (24881 &) &380%8,510,00078 7 &8 BRAR
(C2Z-F:HR)
Growgreen Limited (“Growgreen”) (Note)  Ordinary shares HK$22,549,106 Hong Kong, 45.09% 46.89%
(2021: HK$21,681,833) limited liability company
BEHARAR (585 (W) LiEAR22,549,1067 7T BB BRARA
(ZZZ—4 121,681,833 7T)
Infinity Network Limited ("INL") Ordinary shares British Virgin Islands, 50% 50%
US$50,000 (2021: Same) limited liability company
Infinity Network Limited (TINL J) ZiE250,000% 7T RERUHEE BRAT
CEZ-% HR[)
Dott Limited (“Dott") Ordinary shares Hong Kong, 33.25% 33.25%
HK$8,507,951 (2021: Same) limited liability company
Dott Limited (Dot J) ZE8,507,951 8T B BRRA
CEZ-% HF)
Mobilogix, Inc. (“Mobilogix”) Ordinary shares The USA, limited liability 24.37% 24.37%
US$2,813,346 company
(2021: Same)
Mobilogix, Inc. (TMobilogix J) Ei80%2,813,346E T 8 BRAR

Note:

to 45.09% subsequent to Growgreen's issuance of new shares to the

investor in June 2021.

CEZ-% HR)

The Group's equity interest in Growgreen was diluted from 46.89%

Mt BER S Z—FENBAREERTHRNG
B ANEEANRSHEZKRIEHI6.89%BLEEE
45.09% ©
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11

202

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS
DUE FROM ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The summary of financial information of the Group's associates
in aggregate is as follows:

11 FAEGE

ERT 2 R FEY =S
/l.-\\amAIE (.‘ﬁﬁ)
REFBBEABDSHBFERBMNOT

2022 2021

—=E-= B4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAEIT

Total assets BEEHE 37,087 63,594
Total liabilities BEMAE 32,194 35,867
Revenue & 70,611 52,964
Loss for the year FAEE (25,963) (34,371)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the
Group provided a financial guarantee in favour of a bank
of HK$10,000,000 to secure a banking facility granted to
Growgreen. Details of the identified loss allowance for financial
guarantee contracts are disclosed in Note 22.

In addition to the above, there are no other significant
contingent liabilities and capital commitment relating to the
Group's interests in associates as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

During the year, the carrying amount of the interest in
Growgreen was reduced through recognition of an impairment
loss of HK$975,000. The carrying values of the Group's interests
in associates are compared to the recoverable amounts, which
are the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. The provision for impairment is concluded from the
assessment of the cash flow position of Growgreen, taking into
consideration of its forecasted performance and development
by management. Other than that, the recoverable amounts
from respective associates are not less than the carrying values
of the Group’s interests in those associates as at 31 March 2021
and 2022 in the opinion of the directors.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

11 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS 11 REEAT 2R xR B E
DUE FROM ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) ATIFRIAE (48)
(a) Interestin Mobilogix (a) HMobilogixZ
Set out below is the summarised financial information Mobilogix (EERABEA ZHE
NE)) ZHBFERBEEWT

of Mobilogix, which the directors consider a significant

associate:

2022 2021
—EZHF TET—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Summarised balance sheet BEEABAREME
Non-current assets ERFEE 601 1,285
Trade and other receivables FEUN & 5 IR = &
Hh W kIa 12,300 14,496
Cash and cash equivalents B RIBEEEEY 15,327 38,056
Other current assets HMneh&EE 4,009 1,255
Trade and other payables FE B 2 IR A%
Hh g FRIE (10,218) (13,293)
Bank borrowings RITREE (2,894) (3,840)
Other liabilities Hth&& (319) (654)
Net assets as at 31 March R=B=+—HzZEEZFE 18,806 37,305
Summarised income statement W R E
Revenue & 65,716 48,644
Loss and total comprehensive loss HANEER 2 EEIBAEEE
for the period (18,499) (25,710)

NEERRRBEADR S
FRZIBEZ—F=ZRB=1+—HBkKk#E
ERALFEZHBEANAES
B MLREEFEERERZE
AATFEEE-

The information above reflects the amounts presented
in the associate’s financial information as at and for
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 and without
considering any fair value adjustments upon acquisition
by the Group.
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11 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS 11 REEAT ZEE R EWEES

DUE FROM ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) ATIFRIAE (48)

(a) Interestin Mobilogix (Continued) (a) #MobilogixZ # i (48)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information of Fr 2% ZMobilogixZ B 75 & k]
Mobilogix presented to the carrying value of the Group's FHALEE P Mobilogixz # & Bk
interest in Mobilogix: EEZHER:

2022
ZEIH
HK$'000
FHAT
Opening net assets as at 1 April 2021 RIBZ—%
MB—RBHRBEERE 37,305
Loss for the year FRNEE (18,499)
Closing net assets as at 31 March 2022 R_E__F#=F=+—HE&x*
BEFE 18,806
Net assets including fair value adjustments REBRZZTEIZ
attributable to the Group as at 31 March 2022 —RB=t—HELEEZE
(BEATERE) 3,023
Goodwill Bk 10,839
Carrying value as at 31 March 2022 R_&E__
—R=+—HiKEE 13,862
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NOTES

11 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS
DUE FROM ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
(a) Interestin Mobilogix (Continued)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information of
Mobilogix presented to the carrying value of the Group's
interest in Mobilogix: (Continued)

TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

11 RBEATZEE RS
ATIFRIE (8)
(a) T MobilogixZtE (48)
Fr 2% ZMobilogixZ B #5 & k]
THEAE RPN MobilogixZ # & BR
HEZHEK (8

2021
BT
HK$'000
FET
Opening net assets as at 1 April 2020 RZE2ZZFNMB—HH
NEESE 55,515
Additions B0 7,500
Loss for the year FREIE (25,710)
Closing net assets as at 31 March 2021 N2 _—ZF=F=+—HEk
BEFE 37,305
Net assets including fair value adjustments attributable ZAEBPR T - —4F
to the Group as at 31 March 2021 (Note) —A=t+—HELEEZRE
(BEATERAE) (Ht) 8,969
Goodwill kS 10,839
Carrying value as at 31 March 2021 R —F
=R=+—HiKmE 19,808
Note: The Group's equity interest in Mobilogix increased from 22% to Mg R EB2Z_—F=B—H > FBEHXK
24.37% on 1 March 2021 due to the capital injection. E @ MobilogixI # W22 %L N E

24.37%°
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11 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS 11 REEAT ZEE R EWEES

DUE FROM ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) ATIFRIE (48)

(b) Set out below is the Group's share of results of other (b) U FTHIBE_S__&H=A°
associates that are not individually material to the Group =t+—BHEFEZAEEEGEEM
during the year ended 31 March 2022: BE ARz EE HEMNHARE

WAREK :
2022 2021
—EZ_HE BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRBIEREMEEEREE
for the year (3,290) (1,878)
(c) Amounts due from associates (c) FEUWEE ATFIE
2022 2021
—E-= BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
CIL (Note (i) LRBIE Hfa20) 1,250 1,250
INL (Note (ii)) INL (Bt 52(ii)) 585 585
Growgreen (Note (iii) B Ha (a2 ii) 1,204 521
3,039 2,356
Less: Loss allowances for CIL (Note (i) W BRI R BB
(Hta£a)) (1,250) (1,250)
Amounts due from associates, net FE W B A B RIS B (1,789) 1,106
Notes: HaE -
(i) As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, amount due from CIL of 10) R - &ER BB —&F=
HK$1,250,000 was fully impaired. B=+—PB EREEEEZHE

1,250,000%HE?§§51/W

(ii) As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, amount due from INL was non- i) Wom——ER-—=——&£=A
interest bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand. S IR S - i i
RBEZERERER-
(i) Asat 31 March 2022 and 2021, amount due from Growgreen was G Rem-——gR-—T——£=A8
interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand. S B S RS B i
BREARBEREER-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTEREST IN AJOINT VENTURE AND AMOUNT

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

12 R—ESEEFRZ#Em KRR

DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE —M&EEEMIE
2022 2021
—E-= 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FEIT
Unlisted investments, at cost R EFRE LB AT R 7,547 7,862
Amount due from a joint venture Bl —MEE&EhERE 6,000 =

As at 31 March 2022, the Group provided a financial guarantee
and charged its 50% equity interest in Huizhou lJiayifu Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Huizhou lJiayifu”) in favour of
a bank of RMB114,000,000 (2021: RMB78,000,000), which
was equivalent to HK$136,800,000 (2021: HK$97,500,000), to
secure a banking facility granted to Huizhou Jiayifu. Details of
the identified loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts
are disclosed in Note 22.

During the current year, the Group granted an advance of
RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$6,000,000) to Huizhou
Jiayifu, which is interest free, unsecured and repayable on
demand.

In addition to the above, there are no other significant
contingent liabilities and capital commitment relating to the
Group's interest in a joint venture as at 31 March 2022 and
2021.In the opinion of the directors, the recoverable amount
from the joint venture is not less than the carrying value of the
Group's investment in such joint venture.

RM_E__—_F#=RB=+—H &x&EH
REMBEFR TRHRERENETE
MEREER2E (TEMEESL) B
S50% R EEBETRIT EBAARE
114,000,000 (ZEZ_—F : AR
78,000,0007T) > HHE #2136,800,00074E 7T
—Z T —4 97,500,000 7T) > LUE
REBENEEERHNIBTHRE -UH
EREBNE B BBEERK 22

Zo

REFE ZAEEBQEMNEEERHA
K #5,000,0007t (fHE 56,000,000
7T MBI ZEREARE EBIERK
BRERMEE-

PR EN KRB _FR T —
FZRA=+—HUEEMAEEGE D
(G HEEEAIRERERELREKE-
BEERA aEREZIWEIEEARD
RAEERZEECEZREZER
& o

EEBREERERAT 2021/22F35% 207



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
H1 %5 3R R I 5

12 INTERESTIN AJOINT VENTURE AND AMOUNT
DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE (CONTINUED)

The particulars of the Group’s joint venture as at 31 March

12 R—HSEEEZEHKRERK
—MAEEEREA (B)
AEER-E--_F=A=+—8NA
B ERRIEMT

2022 are as follows:

Country of

Particulars of issued/ incorporation and Equity

208

Name paid-in capital type of legal entity interest held
SRR ER K
g BET/BARRHE EANERER HAEkE
2022 2021
ZEZE B &
Huizhou Jiayifu RMB1,800,000 The PRC, limited 50% 50%

BNEEE

Set out below is the summarised financial information of

Huizhou Jiayifu:

(2021: Same)

AE#1,800,0007T
(CE-—F:

liability company
FE BRAE
18m)

BMNEREZVHERBEHINNT :

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Summarised balance sheet EEEEREME
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,825 21
Inventories 78 295,325 155,725
Cash and cash equivalents HWERIREEEY 61 61
Other current assets HMtnsEE 3,721 =
Bank borrowings RITEE (104,040) (97,500)
Other current liabilities Hfnghasi (194,732) (56,057)
Net assets as at 31 March R=ZB=+—HZEESE 2,160 2,250
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

12 INTERESTIN AJOINT VENTURE AND AMOUNT 12 MR—REa8 XS REW

DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE (CONTINUED) —BSE T ¥ENIE (BB)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information of 23 ENEEECUHEENTEA
Huizhou Jiayifu presented to the carrying value of the Group's AEBRENEES R 2REEH
interest in Huizhou Jiayifu: ik
2022 2021
S - 3 T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHATT FETT
Net assets as at 31 March R=ZB=+—BZEEZE 2,160 2,250
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest KEBREMNEEEZ
in Huizhou Jiayifu R R A 50% 50%
Net assets attributable to the Group NEER=ZA=+—H
as at 31 March iz BEFE 1,080 1,125
Proceeds receivable on disposal of a land use right {HE& T ERE
FEURFR 1§ TR IE 9,600 10,000
Elimination of gain from downstream transaction %85 N3 5 B U &= (3,133) (3,263)
Carrying value as at 31 March R=B=+—HBHZKHEE 7,547 7,862
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13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY

210

13 BENBDZMBEERAR

CATEGORY
Financial
assets at
Financial fair value
assets at through
fair value other Financial
through comprehensive assets at
profit or loss income amortised cost Total
BATE
BATE SCAHAM g
RABHEZ 2HEBAZ B A58k
BBEE BHBEE ZHBEE &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FATT FAET FET
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2022 RIZE-_#&
=g=+-§
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEZAEMEE
other comprehensive income WAZHBEEE
(Note 14) (WizE14) = 5,888 - 5,888
Trade and other receivables EWEZRI K
Hi W RIE - - 270,659 270,659
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEZAEBHRZ
profit or loss (Note 17) MEEE (1:217) 91 - - 91
Amounts due from associates FEW & A B A8
(Note 11(c)) (rat11(c) - - 1,789 1,789
Amount due from a joint venture El—BaEhERE
(Note 12) (fa#12) - - 6,000 6,000
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 718) R&RELEEY
(Hiz£18) - - 141,657 141,657
91 5,888 420,105 426,084
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B4 %5 55 R P 5

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY 13 KkEHEDZHMEEERER

CATEGORY (CONTINUED) €))
Financial
assets at
Financial fair value
assets at through
fair value other Financial
through comprehensive assets at
profit or loss income amortised cost Total
BATE
BATE SCAHAM &g
REABEZ 2EBAZ Bk A58k
MBEE MBEE ZHMBEE =L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT TET FET
As at 31 March 2021 RIBEZ—%F
=B=+—H
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEZLAEMEE
other comprehensive income WAZHBEEE
(Note 14) (Hizt14) - 6,004 - 6,004
Trade and other receivables BB ZRI K
Htpew g - - 373,418 373,418
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEZAEBHRZ
profit or loss (Note 17) MBEE Wat17) 193 - - 193
Amounts due from associates e A B 7B
(Note 11(c)) (Hiz£11(c) - - 1,106 1,106
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) R&RELEEY
(Hizt18) - - 127,790 127,790
193 6,004 502,314 508,511
2022 2021
- BT £
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Liabilities =R
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost YA TE AL AN 5 BR BN
Htt%as
Trade and other payables FET B 2R
HAth F& {1 7R IE 245,481 311,771
Bank borrowings (Note 19) IRITREE (Wat19) 206,000 138,550
Financial guarantee contracts (Note 22) MBERER BWat22) 4,478 2,521
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HE&E Ws27) 2,952 9,537
458,911 462,379
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14

212

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BRATERAHMEBERAZ
MBEE

2022 2021

—ET BT —4F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Unlisted equity funds FErmRAEE 5,888 6,004

Movements of the Group's financial assets at fair value through

FR-FEEBRAFTESAEMEZER

other comprehensive income during the year are as follows: AZHBEEZEBNT :
2022 2021
—B_C T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHATT TFAT
Beginning of the year 4] 6,004 5,266

Net fair value (losses)/gains REMEZEBAESRZ

recognised in other comprehensive income NFEE (BB W= P (116) 738
End of the year RER 5,888 6,004

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income comprised 700 (2021:
700) non-voting and redeemable shares in the unlisted equity
funds. These equity funds are denominated in US$, with fair
values being determined based on the carrying value of the
fund calculated with reference to the quoted market prices of
the underlying investments.

The fair values of such financial assets are within level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 %5 55 R P 5

15 INVENTORIES 15 78
2022 2021
—E-—F —m-—f
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
Raw materials [RA7 396,259 268,360
Work-in-progress EETRE 23,628 27,366
Finished goods AN 37,433 52,867
457,320 348,593
Less: Provision for impairment R EEE (4,483) (3,691)
452,837 344,902
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included £ %01,302,373,0008 0 (Z&E - —%F:
in cost of sales amounted to HK$1,302,373,000 (2021: 1,549,863,0005870) 2 EMAEEA
HK$1,549,863,000). Bz Wt ASHE AN o
16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16 FEUNE 5ERFR B HMEYFRIE
2022 2021
—EFT g —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables FEU B 5 BR R 265,234 368,096
Less: Loss allowance B EREE (4,574) (4,545)
Trade receivables, net FEUR & 7 iR $ 2B 260,660 363,551
Prepayments to vendors AN ERRIE 17,273 15,048
Prepayments for plant and equipment TR R P Fe 58 TR 11,959 5,095
Other prepayments Har =g 4,844 5,028
Rental and other deposits HekEMTE 1,409 2,559
Value added tax receivables & W 1 (E 7 6,495 11,005
Income tax recoverable EINLqEERE 566 77
Other receivables Hh g 8,590 7,308
311,796 409,671
Less: Non-current prepayments and B IERBTENRIE R
other receivables H gl zig (14,959) (8,505)
Current portion of trade and other receivables FEUL B 55 BR 7R e ELAth FE U
MEZ BB 296,837 401,166
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16 FEUWE 5 AR R H th FE UL TR IE
(CONTINUED) €))
The Group recognised loss allowance for financial assets as AEBMMBEERID 2BEBEEUT
follows:
2022 2021
- T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss allowance BIEEHE
— Trade receivables —EWE SRR - (2,551)
— Other receivables —HihEW RIS - 250
Net reversal of impairment losses on M EERERERCIFEE
financial assets - (2,301)
The carrying values of the Group’s trade and other receivables AEBRRKEZRAMKEMEBURIEZ
approximate their fair values. REEEHHEATEES
As at 31 March 2022, the ageing analysis of trade receivables N_ZEZ_"F=—HA=+—H EBKEZS
based on invoice date is as follows: IR EZHAZRESTAOT !
2022 2021
g T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFET
0 to 30 days 0&30H 245,181 350,610
31 to 60 days 31&E60H 13,926 7,856
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,020 1,836
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 667 1,371
Over 180 days 180BH M £ 4,440 6,423
265,234 368,096
Less: Loss allowance B EEIREE (4,574) (4,545)
Trade receivables, net FEUE Z AR JF58 260,660 363,551
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

All trade receivables are either repayable within one year or
on demand. The Group generally grants credit terms of 30
to 60 days to its customers. The Group applies the HKFRS 9
simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

16

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

P& Y & 5 B % e EL fth FE Wiy 7R I
(&)

PR BB IR R I — R IR B R
o AEE - RALEFEFI0-600 1
B o A S B BB RS R o5 2 U0
MBS A EEBEEGSE B
S 5 FF 75 1 U B2 57 B R 1 77 482 9 9 28

Movements of loss allowance for trade receivables are as EEEE BERESRAEEEEED
follows: W
2022 2021
—EF BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Beginning of the year REH 4,545 8,698
Reversal of loss allowance recognised BORETFEERIZ
in prior year B1REE = (2,551)
Write-off b 67! = (1,673)
Exchange differences PE R E%R 29 71
End of the year JINEEEEES 4,574 4,545

The Group's credit risk management is disclosed in Note 3.1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group is not aware of any other
credit risk on deposits, value added tax receivables, income tax
recoverable and other receivables as their counterparties are
either banks, government, corporation or individual with good
credit ratings. The majorities of these financial assets are neither
past due nor impaired and there is no history of default.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each reporting date is
the fair value of each class of receivables as mentioned above.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

rEBZFERREERGAMBRE
MYsE3. 14 5 o

N B - _FZHA=+—H ' cKERLW
THEHEZE  BUILER  JUWEIFRE
MEREMERSREBEEEANEMEER
b BERAXZHAHEARIT BHIA
ERFEEFTRZABHMBA ZEH
BKEENBOHEARINPRRE B E
ECTNETRE =

RERSBHPZESEERARA LRSS
BERERBEZATE - AEBLERFA
E IR (IR R
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18
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

17 BAFEXABRHMZMBERE

2022 2021

S - 3 BT —F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Listed equity instruments T TA 91 193

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s listed equity
instruments represented 9,774 common stocks of Boxlight
Corporation, a company incorporated in the USA, whose shares
are listed on NASDAQ.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the fair value of such listed
equity instrument is determined based on its current bid price.

The fair value is within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy (Note
3.3).

RIEBE - —_FER_E-_—F=A=+—
HoAEEN Em#zmET AfEBoxlight
Corporation (—fEREBEFEME LA
5 HRDHNASDAQ ETH) B99,77488 &
B

RZE-— B2 —F=RA=+—
B ZELmESTEZAFTENLRER
ENBEABET - AFEBRATER
By —4k (MfsE3.3) ©

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 RMERRELEEY
2022 2021
—ECF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET T
Cash at banks and on hand HeKIBREHEY 141,657 127,790
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 18 IRERINESZEY (B)

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following RERBEEEMRUTEEE !
currencies:
2022 2021
—EFC =BT —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HK$ BT 9,346 16,624
us$ E7T 97,944 81,192
RMB (Note (a)) AR (B15t(a) 31,740 25,515
VND (Note (b)) HWEE (b)) 2,322 3,749
Others Hith 305 710
141,657 127,790
Notes: Wizt
(a) The conversion of bank balances and cash of the Group denominated (a) KEBUARKFBZIRITERKRER RS
in RMB into foreign currencies and remittance of RMB funds out of the GMNEE e i A\ B HE B H AR B B =2 AP B P9 3 AT
PRC are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control B 2 I EE B R 151 B R RE PR /1)

promulgated by the Mainland Chinese Government.

(b) The conversion of bank balances and cash of the Group denominated in (b) AEBUHUEEFBEZIRTERARERIRS
VND into foreign currencies and remittance of VND funds out of Vietnam NI e i ik e JE B il AR W m AT R
are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control ZNEEHIFRA K IR EFTRR &

promulgated by the local government in Vietnam.
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19 BANK BORROWINGS 19. {RITEE
2022 2021
—EF B
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Non-current JETRED
Long-term bank borrowings RHEIRITIEE 55,000 138,550
Less: current portion of long-term A RHRITEE
bank borrowings BRENER (33,750) (138,550)
21,250 -
Current RE
Current portion of long-term bank borrowings RHIBIRTTEENRBH S 33,750 138,550
Short-term bank borrowings ZHAIRITE R 151,000 =
184,750 138,550
206,000 138,550
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s borrowings N CE T TERCE_—F=ZR=+—
repayable based on the scheduled date are as follows: B A&EEZBETCEHHRETFTERZEE
wr
2022 2021
—g_C T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Within one year —FR 174,750 108,550
Between one and two years —EME 20,000 20,000
Between two and four years =YL= 11,250 10,000
206,000 138,550
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19 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 is disclosed in Note 3.

The Group has aggregate banking facilities of approximately
HK$900,000,000 (2021: HK$710,500,000) for overdrafts, loans
and trade financing.

Unused facilities at the same date amounted to approximately
HK$669,408,000 (2021: HK$519,922,000), which are secured
by corporate guarantees provided by the Company and certain
of its subsidiaries (2021: Same).

In addition to the above, the Group is required to comply with
certain restrictive financial covenants imposed by the banks.

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

9. ﬁE 1Eg (H‘E)

RMZE_—_FR_E-_—F=RB=+
B-AEREEEmHEZAXEH AN
MIsE3 I EE o

AEBMBEZ BERAESRERIRTT
{5 B48%849900,000,0008 7 (Z& ——
£ :710,500,0005 ) ©

REHZRSAMEN5669,408,000
Bt (ZTET—4 519,922,000 7T) *
HAABKREETHBATRHEZ AR
ERERFE (CEZ—F HR)

bR LM BN FEBBAETRITHEMZ
ATIRGI MR-

REEHZEBERAMERNT !

follows:
2022 2021
—E—-—% —T—-—=
Bank borrowings RITEE 1.51% 1.29%

As all the bank borrowings were at floating interest rates, the
carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their fair
values and all balances are denominated in HK$.

HREMRTEERTIEFHE  BEIK
BEEZHEAFEESE MEEEFER

BITEHE
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 20 EIEFRISMH
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is FIERMIBEERELERBEEBE MU T
as follows:
2022 2021
- T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deferred income tax assets: RIEFTEMEE ©
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered —m+ @A BUWEIZ
after more than 12 months BILFRSMEE (1,066) (1,950)
Deferred income tax liabilities: RIEFTSIMEE ©
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled — s+ _EARBREEZ
after more than 12 months RIEFTISMAaE 88 283
Movements of the net deferred income tax assets account are BB SNEEFREEZEFHNT
as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Beginning of the year REH (1,667) (888)
Charged/(credited) to consolidated MEEWE RN GEA)
income statement (Note 31) (BaE31) 658 (687)
Exchange differences bE 2 = 28 31 (92)
End of the year REL (978) (1,667)
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 20 EIEFRFM (48
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BILFTSMEERBBEREAZES K
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting FRRE—REB A BRI 2 &8R) W
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: T
Deferred income tax assets — RIEFTIS B E—

Decelerated tax

depreciation Tax losses Others Total
HERIERE RIEEE Hith @t
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

TECCECERC-FB_F T -EF"E T -FEFT"E T F
HK$000  HK$'000 | HKS$'000 HK$'000 | HKS$'000 HK$'000 = HKS$'000  HK$'000
TET TEx TET THER TET THER TET THEx

As at 1 April RIEBE—H (617) (701) (845) - (488) (613) (1,950) (1,314)
Charged/(credited) to KRG RER
consolidated income statement  31f&/ (Gt A) 1 176 71 (845) 141 125 853 (544)
Exchange differences ERER 31 (92) - - - - 31 (92)
As at 31 March R=A=+—H (585) (617) (134) (845) (347) (488) (1,066) (1,950)
Deferred income tax liabilities — EEFFSRBE—
Accelerated tax depreciation
IRMIBIFE
2022 2021
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
As at 1 April RHA—H 283 426
Credited to consolidated income statement RizalE Rt A (195) (143)
As at 31 March W=B=+—H 88 283
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20

222

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
HK$60,545,000 (2021: HK$58,525,000) for Hong Kong profits
tax purposes, which have no expiry, and unrecognised tax
losses of HK$55,574,000 (2021: HK$53,036,000) for the PRC
corporate income tax purposes which will expire during year
2022 to year 2026 (2021: 2021 to year 2025). No deferred tax
assets have been recognised for certain Hong Kong tax losses
and all of the PRC tax loss as the directors consider that it is not
probable that the related temporary difference will be reversed
in the foreseeable future.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Rule (“EIT") law,
withholding income tax at a rate of 10% would be imposed on
dividends relating to profits earned from year 2008 onwards
to foreign investors for the companies established in the PRC.
Such dividend tax rate may be further reduced by applicable
tax treaties or arrangement. According to the Arrangement
between the PRC and the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the
Prevention of Fisca Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income,
the withholding tax rate on dividends paid by a PRC resident
enterprise to a Hong Kong resident enterprise is further reduced
to 5% if the Hong Kong resident enterprise holds at least 25%
equity interests in the PRC resident enterprise.

As at 31 March 2022, deferred income tax liabilities of
HK$4,768,000 (2021: HK$3,731,000) has not been recognised
for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries as the
Company controls the dividend policies of these subsidiaries
and it is not probable that these subsidiaries would distribute
earnings in the foreseeable future. Unremitted earnings totalled
HK$95,354,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$74,626,000).
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IEIEFR1SR (48)
RIEZZHF=B=+—H ®ESB
MERMEs AEEEXRCEIRE
E53860,545,0008 5 (Z & = —F .
58,525,000/ 7m) (MAA®EE ®mEA) >
MABECEMEHRME  AKHEIRNIE
B518455,574,0008c (ZE - —%
53,036,000 7T) RN S F4F
F“i_v_/\fﬁfﬁf“(_ —_—F =
T EE_E_REEE) JH- EEB\
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REkEL  WBERE TEBRES
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WZIZEZZZF=A=+—H" LLFE
REafE4,768,0008 T (- —F
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21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(a) Trade and other payables

21 B8 BRM R H Mt EDRIE
RENaR
(a) FE(TE 3R H fthFE %

]

2022 2021

== —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHT FHET

Trade payables FET B RN 218,328 288,463

Salaries and staff welfare payable ENHERE IR 18,093 19,467

Accrued expenses =t 5,014 4,694

Others HAh 22,139 18,614
Total trade and other payables FET B Z IR B L FE T =X

TR %R 263,574 331,238

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice

BNESERMREZARZRED

date is as follows: M
2022 2021
B _HE BT —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
0 to 30 days 0&30H 172,330 259,171
31 to 60 days 31F260H 21,847 12,396
61 to 90 days 61£E90H 11,624 6,352
91 to 180 days 91&180H 4,796 5,256
Over 180 days 180H Lk 7,731 5,288
218,328 288,463

AEB BN E RN KR EME R
Rz AFERAHKREERES-

The fair values of the Group’s trade and other payables
approximate their carrying values.
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21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Contract liabilities
The contract liabilities represent the advance payments
received from counterparties for goods that have not yet
been transferred to customers. The Group has recognised
the following liabilities related to contracts with
customers:

21 EMNERRMREHEMEMRIE
EEHaR (&)
(b) EHAEME
ANEBERYRBRTEANE
Y)ES X5 7 U R B T A K o AR
EERINTHREFSHERZA

&

2022 2021

- B4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAET

Contract liabilities — sales of goods BHEE-HEGY 27,290 23,206

The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021
relating to carried-forward contract liabilities:

TRYIINEBEE_ZT__FR-F
T—F=ZR=1+—HLFEMGE
BHNEEMESSNNESE -

2022 2021
—e——&  —z_-=#
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Revenue recognised that was included FFAFEENBEGERHN
in the contract liabilities balance Xl
at the beginning of the year 23,206 19,360

The Group expects their performance obligations under
the contracts with customers to be satisfied over a period
of no more than 1 year.
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22 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 22 MBEFREL

As at 31 March 2022, the Group provided financial M_E__HF=ZB=Z+—H »&x£&
guarantees in favour of two banks of HK$10,000,000 ELMBERETASZ AR HEFEE
(2021: HK$10,000,000) and RMB114,000,000 (2021: f£10,000,0008 7 (Z& = —F :
RMB78,000,000), which was equivalent to HK$136,800,000 10,000,000 7t) X AR #114,000,000
(2021: HK$97,500,000), to secure banking facilities granted T(ZEZ—%: AR178,000,0007T) »
to an associate and a joint venture respectively. As at 31 HE 136,800,000 (T - —4F
March 2022, the bank facilities utilised by an associate and 97,500,000 70) @ EE D B M E=E A
a joint venture was approximately HK$6,100,000 (2021: BAAEETLERENETRE N _E

HK$6,500,000) and RMB86,700,000 (2021: RMB78,000,000), T THF=ZR=+—H MEAAKRSE
which was equivalent to HK$104,040,000 (2021: TEEFAIRTMENA6,100,0008 7T
HK$97,500,000), respectively. —E T —% 16,500,000 KAR

86,700,000 (ZEZ—F | AR
78,000,0007%) > #HE 104,040,000 75
ZEZ—4 97,500,000 ) ©

As at 31 March 2022, the Group recognised loss allowance of RIEBEZZF=ZA=+—H Zx&£ER
HK$4,478,000 (2021: HK$2,521,000) in accordance with the BEBMBRESENFIREBETRIGE
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9. EFEEEAEEEIRE%4,478,0008 7T

ZET—4 2,521,000 7T) °

23 SHARE CAPITAL 23 g7
Number of Nominal
shares value
dnES =] mHE
‘000 HK$'000
Tz FET

Authorised - ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FEE—SKREEIETZ

=L 2,000,000 200,000
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23

24

226

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 23 fR7& (48)
Number of Nominal
shares value
AVE 4= [ ES
'000 HK$'000
TR FET
Issued and fully paid — ordinary shares of BETREE —SKREEO.
HK$0.1 each BT EER
As at 31 March 2021 A B —F=-FB=+—H 283,490 28,349
As at 1 April 2021 R_BZ—EmE—H 283,490 28,349
Proceeds from shares issued upon exercise TEERERZEITRMN
of options FRi8sIE 1,300 130
As at 31 March 2022 RIEZZHF=A=+—H 284,790 28,479

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 6 August 2012. Pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme, the Company may grant share options to
certain grantees (including directors and employees) of the
Group to subscribe for shares of the Company. The maximum
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
this Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30 per cent of the
share capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The
subscription price will be determined by the directors, and will
not be less than the highest of the nominal value of the shares,
the closing price of the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the trading day of granting the options and the average of
the closing prices of the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
granting the options.
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24 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 24 FERGIE (48)
Movements in the number of share options outstanding during FRAERTEEREHE ZEFHUWT

the year are as follows:

2022 2021
-t - T —F

Average Average

exercise price exercise price
in HK$ Number of in HK$ Number of
per share options per share options

BRZT¥H gzF¥H
BRiTEE BRERE BRITRE EREHE
‘000 ‘000
F13 F13
Beginning of the year REH 2.008 9,700 2.116 11,050

Not applicable

Granted during the year FRERH TERA - 1.330 1,000
Exercised Bi7fE 1.441 (1,300) - -
Expired B EIH 2.190 (3,300) 2.201 (2,350)
End of the year RE# 5,100 9,700
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24

228

SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 24
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, all of the outstanding options
were fully vested and exercisable.

During the current year, 1,300,000 share options were exercised
resulting in 1,300,000 shares being issued at a weighted
average price of HK$1.441 each. The related weighted average
share price at the time of exercise was HK$2.03 per share. No
share options were exercised during the year ended 31 March
2021.

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
following expiry dates and exercise prices:

fBhatE (R)
KRB _ER-_B-_-F=H=+—
B AR TEZERECEHSE
REIFIT

RAEER 1,300,000 BREEET
fi5> 31,300,000 R D IZER1.441
BT ZMEFEHERET RITERZ
EENMETFEREASRKH2.038
JT © ai_v :—EZ)% =+—HIEF

MRERRTEBREZINHRAKRTEE
mE

Number of options Vested percentages
BIREHE BB
Exercise
Expiry date price 2022 2021 2022 2021
38R 7fEE  ZEZZ - ZIZZTZZ “E—&
‘000 ‘000
F3 T3
Directors Ex
29 June 2021 “E2C—-FXAZ+AH 2.190 - 3,300 100% 100%
29 August 2023 “ZT-FNAZ+AH 2.090 800 800 100% 100%
Employees =
29 August 2023 “EC=FEN\AZ+NH 2.090 3,300 3,300 100% 100%
9 July 2024 “ZTNEtEAAH 1.810 1,000 1,300 100% 100%
15 October 2025 “ZRE+A+RA 1.330 - 1,000 100% 100%
5,100 9,700
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SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 24 FERGHE (48)
The weighted average fair value of the options granted during BHE _ S _—F=ZRA=+—HLEEE
the year ended 31 March 2021 determined using the binomial HHBERENETIAFTERAIER
option pricing model was approximately HK$0.09 per share. The BRETEEXETE WASKR0.098
significant inputs into the model were share prices of HK$1.330 ToZBEANBEEGAED I AREL
as at the grant date, exercise price as shown above, volatility of HEEAIRRB1.3308 7t EXFRRITHE
22%, expected life of options of five years, expected dividend B yEB22%  EREBHEFHAS
yield of 6.46% and annual risk-free interest rate of 0.2%. TEHRRR RN E K646 % R ER B ERN X
The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected 02% RRFBHKREBEIBR I RERE
share price return is based on the historical volatility of the FEZEBDREBEAQLBRFEHBERRE
Company'’s share price over a period of five years before the HRMAFHENKREREL RIBET&-
date when the options were granted. No share options were RAFEMERRHBRE
granted during the current year.
RESERVES 25 f(#fE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
Share-based Property income
Share Capital  compensation revaluation fair value Exchange Other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings Total
BATE
HALA
2ARAZ
BRI IR HBEE
RiEE ERfifk BHERE YEEREE  ATERE ERHE Hiif R REEF @
(Note)
()
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§000
Thn Thn Thn THm TEn Thn TEx TE® Thn
Asat 1 April 2020 K-E-2EmA-A 88,841 10,591 2451 6,79 16 (20203) (3499) 590830 675640
Exchange differences arising on BB EBRELERER
translation of foreign operations - - - - - 39,561 - - 39,561
Fair value gains on equity investments BRATEZALMEERAZ
at fair value through other RERE 2 AT ENE
comprehensive income - - - - 738 - - S 738
Employee share option scheme EEERENE
Valuation of employee services EEMRHB2EBE - - 91 - - - - S 91
Options expired Sz ERE - & (853) - - - - 853 -
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - - 79,274 79274
Dividends paid BfikE = = = = = = = (22,679 (22,679)
s at 31 March 2021 KoE--£ZA=+- 88,841 10,591 1,689 6,79 577 19,358 (34%9) 648278 772625
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25 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 25 f#fE (@)

Asat 1 April 2021 RZZZ-%NE-H 88,841 10,591 1,689 6,790 517 19,358 (3499) 648,278 112,625
Exchange differences arising on translation ~ BEESERFHELERZE

of foreign operations - - - - - (2341) - - (2,341)
Fair value losses on equity investments RATEZAEMEERAZ

at fair value through other REREZATERR

comprehensive income - - - - (116) - - - (116)
Employee share option scheme: EEBRERD:

Proceeds from shares issued upon exercise  {TEBRERLTRONEFEINE

of options 1,783 - - - - - - - 1,783

Transfer of reserve upon exercise of options  TFBRERER G 130 - (130) - - - - - -

Options expired BHMzERE - - (19) - - - - 79 -
Profit for the year ERiEF - - - - - - - 56,465 56,465
Dividends paid BAkRE - - - - - = = (48,414) (48.414)
As at 31 March 2022 RZBZZE=F=1-H 90,714 10,591 840 6,790 461 17,017 (3.499) 657,048 719,962
Note: Htat -
The capital reserve of the Group includes the difference between the nominal AEREARERIER_SE_FNARBERERE
value of the ordinary shares issued by the Company and the aggregate amount of AEBRMOTIM|MAQBFETEEREE RN
the share capital and share premium of subsidiaries acquired through an exchange BRBZRAKRE R ERER E8E

of shares pursuant to the Group's reorganisation in September 2002.
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26 REVENUE

27

The Group is principally engaged in the research and
development, manufacture and sales of electronic products,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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26 Yk

AEFTIBNRFEFER - BEVREK
HMBEYHEFERMA KBS HWEA

pet food and other pet-related products. Revenue from sales of HEXER FARRIEYHEBE 2 KNS
goods recognised during the year are as follows: wer:
2022 2021
—E-C B
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHETT
Sales of goods EYtHEER 1,855,875 2,101,573

Sales of goods are recognised at a point in time.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, distribution and selling
expenses and general and administrative expenses are analysed

as follows:

EYIHE TR ETT RS

27 HEEEEIRZHAXZ

STAHENE DHERHEBR UK —
BRETHEERERZRAZOMNT

2022 2021
ZEZZE T —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Cost of inventories FERA 1,302,373 1,549,863
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6)  ¥)% - BERBHINE (11:26) 41,765 36,093
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) CREEENE (Wit7) 6,229 10,673
Operating lease rental for short-term leases REEE 2 KEHENAE 1,524 4,665
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ BTREMNAS (BEESMHE)
emoluments) (Note 34) (H5234) 299,990 263,777
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEME &
- Audit services —ZHRH 3,320 3,250
- Non-audit services — I ZEARH 1,040 405
Commission expense (iR 17,928 15,520
Donations BN 285 2,157
Legal and professional fee FENBEER 5,001 4,071
Advertising BE 3,604 3,110
Repairs and maintenance HEREE 6,769 4,790
Entertainment FEEN 2,632 3,209
Insurance Rk 1,304 1,439
Other expenses HMpAx 96,045 101,745
Total cost of sales, distribution and selling HEMA DI MEEER UK
expenses and general and administrative expenses —MRITHEEERRE 1,789,809 2,004,767
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28

29

232

OTHER INCOME 28 HtA
2022 2021
—ECE B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Government grants BT BN 8,903 4,392
Scrap sales BE i 5 B 556 496
Others Hih 528 197
9,987 5,085
OTHER GAINS - NET 29 Hthfzm— 358
2022 2021
—E-C BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
Net foreign currency exchange gain/(loss) PE R (B518) /P58 5,806 (693)
Net fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets BANTFELZABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss MBEEEATE BB
W2 75 & (102) 150
Gain on lease termination HEXR WS 150 =
(Loss)/gain on disposals of property, HEVE BERKREBZ
plant and equipment (F18) W (4,017) 955
1,837 412
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30 FINANCE COSTS - NET

31

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30 FiERA—FEE

2022 2021
g -—T--—=&
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income from: KETIZEZFEWA
- bank deposits —IRITIER 98 190
— overdue interests received from customers —BE R WEEEF B 404 864
- others —H1h 4 214
Finance income MEUWA 506 1,268
Interest expense on: KETISEZMERE !
— bank borrowings —RITEE (2,743) (2,034)
— lease liabilities —MHEaE (254) (679)
Finance costs =YD (2,997) (2,713)
Finance costs — net MENA—F%E (2,491) (1,445)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

tax

31 FRiGIAX

(a) Bermuda and British Virgin Islands income (a)

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until

2035. The Company’s subsidiaries in the British Virgin

Islands are incorporated under the International Business

Acts of the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are

exempted from the British Virgin Islands income taxes.

BEREREBEUHEMT
i
FABEE_BZAFARHER
EREBE-ARAREBRELEE Y
P 8 /2 0 7 1R 4 5 R B S O
75 3R aE AR 1L > (R UL S 22 R
LBERER-
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31

234

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
(b) Hong Kong profits tax

(c)

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group
is eligible to nominate one Hong Kong incorporated
entity in the Group to be chargeable at the two tiered
profits tax rates, whereby profits tax will be chargeable
on the first HK$2 million of assessable profits at 8.25%
and assessable profits above this threshold will be subject
to a rate of 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax for other
Hong Kong incorporated entities in the Group has been
provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits.

PRC corporate income tax

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to
corporate income tax at 25% (2021: 25%) effective
from 1 January 2008. According to a policy promulgated
by the State Tax Bureau of the PRC and effective from
2008 onwards, enterprises engaged in research and
development activities are entitled to claim ranging
from 150% to 175% of the research and development
expenses so incurred in a period as tax deductible
expenses in determining its tax assessable profits for that
period (“Super Deduction”). Certain PRC subsidiaries have
applied such Super Deduction during the year.
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31 FRiGIRA (48)
(b) HEARAFEM

(c)

BE_ T FKR_E"_—F=H
=+ BLEFE - A&EBEERKE
LAEE—HEBEMMIIEER
M ARFTIS MR AR HE It -
B2EEBBTZEREREM R R
8.25% MR T MMM TR > M8 1 %
FRRMERMREF IZ16.5%891
KM\ AR - REBHEMET AT M
MU BRERNEEMNESREBREMET
FESRFUE A IE16 5% MR KB o

hEEEFRER
KEBPPEZHEARBZ25%
TE T —F 125%) BN ¥R
/R BIZEENF—A—HEXE
R o AR ¥k o B B R 75 42 3 P B e
TEEINEFRERH—BEEK
REMBEETHINELEERETET
B — {6 HA RS BN FE AR R E B BF A 5%
AEEENHEMRSEINFI50%E
175% BRMA A INRMAZ (THEEEIK
Mny) - AEFTHENBADERFR
R ZEBERIEN -
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 31 FriSHBX ()
(d) Vietnam taxation (d) #EiIE
The subsidiaries established and operated in Vietnam REmRIIREEZWE A RR
were subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 20% 20% (ZZ2Z—F 1 20%) @t
(2021: 20%). The Group's subsidiaries incorporated in EEMR AEBN ML
Vietnam are entitled to tax holiday under which its profits ZHBAEBERER RN > FIL
would be fully exempted from Vietnam enterprise income A HRMBTRE F—FER
tax ("EIT") for two years starting from its first year of BEEEEERERMNEERIIEME
profitable operations after offsetting prior year tax losses, NEEEREHMNHEELEMRER
followed by 50% reduction in EIT in next four years. (TEEMFHR) U RHEBOEF
ERE—FhEMER-
(e) The amount of income tax charged to the (e) BiEWERINRZFRAEHR
consolidated income statement represents: EEEIS .
2022 2021
—EF BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current income tax: 2 HAFRISHA :
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBHER 7,781 12,052
— Income tax outside Hong Kong —BBLINRER 753 1,533
— Over-provision in prior years —BEFEBREERE (2,750) (510)
Deferred income tax charge (Note 20) IRIEPRISIESE (M15220) 658 (687)
Total income tax expense FTi8 M B 2 4R %8 6,442 12,388
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31 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 32 FRiSMAX (@
(f) The income tax on the Group's profit before (f) AEEPRFIEFHRAER ZFR
income tax differs from the theoretical FREANESEREAHZIE
amount that would arise using the taxation MEEBMAR FHFBRWT :

rate in Hong Kong as follows:

2022 2021
—e—-—& —z_-—=#
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Profit before income tax FRPTSTIR AT T 63,231 92,004
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% 165% (CZ - —4F:
(2021: 16.5%) 16.5%) MEH 10,433 15,181
Effect of different income tax rates on EFARIEINIE S U AKA
income arising outside Hong Kong TREFAEREZZE 3,482 1,921
Tax losses not recognised RIERRIERE 4,391 5,446
Expenses not deductible for NGIE R 53
income tax purpose 4,233 4,669
Income not subject to income tax BEBMPTEIR Z A (3,770) (3,064)
Tax concession and incentives TRIRE E B (8,699) (5,487)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBREREE (2,750) (510)
Recognition of deferred income tax assets  FhiB{E R IEE 1B
on previously unrecognised tax losses RIREFRISIHEE = (845)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised BB RERRIBEE
tax losses (878) (4,923)
Income tax expense FriSiRE =< 6,442 12,388
There is no tax charge relating to components of other MERETHEEMEEBRAER
comprehensive income. BRfo

236 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/22



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

32

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

sikEF
(a) B

SREARTEAATED AR
i R B DL P9 B BT B AR 2
BT RYGE -

2022 2021
—B-= o =
Profit attributable to owners of the KANBER ANEEEF
Company (HK$'000) (F#7T) 56,465 79,274
Weighted average number of ordinary BETEARMEFLERE
shares in issue ('000) (F5) 284,790 283,490
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) EREREBF GB) 19.83 27.96

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. The Company has one category of
dilutive potential ordinary shares which is the share
options granted to directors and employees. For the
share options, a calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average market price of the
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared
with the number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share options.

(b) #&

EREBBADNRKRABEEE
BEZTRREEROBRATHEE
BTN EBRME TR EE
HEtH -ARBE-—RETHEES
BOAMAEEFREERHZER
BomEREMS  ARAER
MERTEBREZDBEZGR
BEfFfL BEEAIRATE (BE
RERBDRMFHTHE BAZR
PBE - UERFEABEZRMNE
BERERBEREETEMEAET
R B E L& -
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32 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

32 skaEd (@

(b) Diluted (Continued) (b) #3d (4%
2022 2021
T I —F
Profit attributable to owners of KA R NEEHF
the Company (HK$'000) (F%7T) 56,465 79,274
Weighted average number of BT EBRMNETIERE
ordinary shares in issue ('000) (FR2) 284,790 283,490
Adjustments for share options (‘000) BERZHEEEE (F17) 102 20
Weighted average number of SR#BERMN 2 ZBERNE
ordinary shares for diluted earnings  F¥RE (TAR)
per share ('000) 284,892 283,510
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) &B&#EEEF GBL) 19.82 27.96
33 DIVIDENDS 33 R

An interim dividend of HK$17,087,000 (HK6.0 cents per share)
for the period ended 30 September 2021 was paid during the
current year. A final dividend of HK$22,679,000 (HK8.0 cents
per share) and a special dividend of HK$8,505,000 (HK3.0
cents per share) for the year ended 31 March 2021, totalling
approximately HK$31,184,000, were paid during the current
year. A final dividend of HK6.0 cents per share in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2022 is to be proposed at the annual
general meeting on 10 August 2022. The financial statements
do not reflect such dividend payable.

BHE_ZT-_—FNB=+HILLHEBEH
mHARE 217,087,000 T (§26.08
) ERNAAFEERE- FEE_T - —
FZB=Z+—HBLEEENKRKERE
22,679,00078 7T (E5%8.08 1) K455 8
£.8,505,000/8 7T (BR3.0811) > &aHA
31,184,000 70> ERNAEEIKE - 10
“TECCENB+THMREBEARS L
EREREE_S__F£=F=+—H
LFEENKRERESRG. 0B ZEH
BRERTERMRZEMNR S o

2022 2021
———& _—z_-—=#
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFET
Interim dividend, paid, of HK6.0 cents BIRFHR S SR E R0
(2021: HK6.0 cents) per ordinary share (ZE-—F 6.0 17,087 17,009
Final dividend, proposed, of HK6.0 cents BRI B SR T ERE.0B
(2021: final dividend of HK8.0 cents (ZE - —%F  REIKRE8.05E1
and special dividend of HK3.0 cents) per B 5B B B 3.0 1)
ordinary share 17,087 31,184
34,174 48,193
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34 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)

34 BIRENAX (BFEFME)

2022 2021
S - 3 T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Wages and salaries TERMHE 251,275 230,321
Bonus TE4T 18,098 9,534
Staff welfare BT m@A 13,142 11,296
Share-based compensation expenses A& 1T TR R BN B =2 - 91
Unutilised annual leave RIEF R - 180
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRRE A — E R REE 17,475 12,355
299,990 263,777

(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) AEmEFHMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year included three (2021: three)
directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note 35. The

REAEE  AEBRERSHMA
TEE=%2(CEZ—F . =) &
E zwiermﬁ%&WO
FREMHGEMA (T2 —F
M) AZBEmT

emoluments payable to the remaining two (2021: two)
individuals during the year are as follows:

2022 2021

—EHF —E 4

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FET FEBT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYRER 6,809 4,649
Retirement benefits scheme contributions  BR@EF] 5t 2R 107 99
6,916 4,748
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34 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 34 ETEAMZ (BIEESEME)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED) (48)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (a) ZRREHMAL (@
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MENFUTHE :
Number of individuals
A
2022 2021
T HF B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Emolument bands s el
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 522,500,000/ 70 = 2
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 75 & 3,000,000 75 1 -
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 75 24,500,00078 75 1 -
2 2
(b) Senior management's emoluments by band (b) HEEDNSHWSHEEEAS
A &
The senior management's emoluments (excluding the five NFEUTHENEREERAE F
highest paid individuals) fell within the following bands: BREILAREHMAL) ZE
Number of individuals
ANE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Emolument bands i = 2 [E]
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 & 1,500,000 75 2 2
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35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 35
(a) Directors and chief executive's emoluments
The emoluments of every director and the chief executive

ESMERER
(a) EFRFETHASME
EEERTIBABASZH SR

is set out below: W
Employer's
contribution
to retirement
Salariesand  Share-based Discretionary benefit
Fees allowance compensation bonuses scheme Total
RINER
g HEREE  ROGHEM METL  HEREHR gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER FET FET FHT FAT
For the year ended HEZZ-_E=A=+-AH
31 March 2022: LEFE:
Executive directors: BES:
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman, RERET (FE THEZ)

Chief Executive Officer) - 5,449 - 1,600 545 7,59
Mr. Ma Fung On ERRAE E1R)

(Deputy Chairman) - 2,368 - 500 118 2,986
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk RREET - 1,950 - 1,400 98 3,448
Non-executive directors: FaTES:

Mr. Lee Kam Hung FRERE 192 - - - - 192
Mr. Luk Wing Ching EXERE 192 - - - - 192
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHTES !

directors:
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHEE 258 - - - - 258
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BARLE 230 - - - - 230
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan EREt 230 = = = = 230
For the year ended BE_BR”_-%=A=1+-H

31 March 2021: LLEE:
Executive directors: BTES:
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman, RESET (ZE THER)

Chief Executive Officer) - 4,875 - 700 488 6,063
Mr. Ma Fung On BRTRE @R

(Deputy Chairman) - 2,119 - 250 106 2,475
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk REEfT - 1,521 - 40 76 2,017
Non-executive directors: FHTES!

Mr. Lee Kam Hung TRERE 180 - - - = 180
Mr. Luk Wing Ching BEXERE 180 - - - - 180
Independent non-executive ~ BIUFHITES

directors:

Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFERE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BAREE 216 - - - = 216
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan ReREL 216 - - - S 216
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35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

242

Directors and chief executive's emoluments
(Continued)

Note:

Dr. Ng Chi Ho, Mr. Ma Fung On and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk voluntarily waived
emoluments of HK$421,000, HK$168,000 and HK$28,000 respectively
during the year ended 31 March 2021. No directors waived their

emoluments in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the retirement benefits was paid or receivable
by directors during the year (2021: Nil). None of the
termination benefits was paid by or receivable from the
Company, the subsidiary undertaking nor the controlling
shareholders to the directors during the year (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
does not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans

and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2022, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and controlled entities
with such directors (2021: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2021: Nil).
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35

EFMmkEn (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EFERFETHASME
(&)

Mtat -

RBEE"Z-_—F=-A=+—HLFE 28
SR BERAEKRRRSEBIERBES
Bl 7 #421,00074 7T ~ 168,00074 7T 52 28,0004
TS BHE_ST-__F=B=+—HIEF
EoHimEEnEME-

EFEBNENRERET

FROBEBEEFCSNASWERARRE
MZEZ—F: %) - EFR - HE
ARE -WEBRADNIERRKRRAE
EREESNHABERRLEEH (TF
——F:F)o

[ =HZHERESR
ZRE

BE_ZT__F=-"RB=+—HLHF
B AARTEATEE= RN
RUBERBIABCER-—F:

z) -

EUES -BHEFETINE
EHEABERESERRR
EZREBBRASTZAZE
M EERRHEMRZZZEH
RIE__HF£=B=+—H &
UEMES HEMESZHNNTZ
EREZANERREEHESARME
CHEBRARTAZER EH
MEREMZZZHEN (22—
T o

EENRG RANGHZE
K=

RERRERTMEY > HETE
FATFRTNFARRTEER
ERHAEARE (RHEZRH
B WAFRAFEBAUZIEAR
S RPFREN(CEZ—F 18 o



36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit for the year to cash
generated from operations as follows:
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AR RERNE

(a) FNBFEEEXHREE
REHRWOT :

2022 2021
== —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Profit for the year FREF] 56,789 79,616
Adjustments for: P
— Income tax expense —FrEMREAX 6,442 12,388
— Finance income —RRE U A (506) (1,268)
— Finance cost —RRE AR 2,997 2,713
— Depreciation of property, plant and —ME-BERKBITE
equipment 41,765 36,093
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —EREEERE 6,229 10,673
— Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, —HEVE -BERREZ
plant and equipment w18 (K 4,017 (955)
— Gains on lease termination —MHERIEZ WG (150) =
— Net fair value losses/(gains) on financial — 1A FESLABT T
assets at fair value through BEERLFERBE/
profit or loss (Ueem) FE8 102 (150)
— Share-based compensation expenses — R - 91
- Net impairment losses on financial assets —#EEKRTFIERZ
and financial guarantees BB IE R ER 1,957 220
— Impairment loss on interest in an —R—EBRE Bz ER
associate ZRBEREE 975 =
— Share of losses of associates —EEEE AR 9,236 8,634
129,853 148,055
Changes in working capital: EEETET .
— Inventories —#8 (113,510) (85,194)
— Trade and other receivables — N8 5 IR
HAth &R IE 106,192 (150,967)
— Trade and other payables and contract —ERNEZ R REME
liabilities TRERENEE (63,392) 148,305
Cash generated from operations REEBEEZRE 59,143 60,199
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36 &&RZHRERME (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Proceeds from disposals of property, plant (b) HEWME -BERSREZFRF
and equipment comprise: MIE®IE .
2022 2021
- T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Net book value of property, ME-BERREREEE
plant and equipment (Note 6) (Ht&te6) 4,087 44
(Loss)/gain on disposals of property, HEME BERKEZ
plant and equipment (B518) W= (4,017) 955
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BERREBZ
plant and equipment FrigsIE 70 999

(c)

Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the

movements in net debt for each of the years presented.

(c) FEHHIK
A BB REFR E ERF BB D
1R R BB BB o

2022 2021

—EC_HF —E 5

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash and cash equivalents BERREEEY 141,657 127,790
Bank borrowings RITEE (206,000) (138,550)
Lease liabilities HEaR (2,952) (9,537)
Net debt RETS (67,295) (20,297)
Cash and cash equivalents BE&MRIBEEEEY 141,657 127,790
Gross debt — variable interest rates HBEFE—FHFIE (206,000) (138,550)
Gross debt — fixed interest rates BEHR-BETEH X (2,952) (9,537)
Net debt RETS (67,295) (20,297)
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OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Net debt reconciliation (Continued)
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the

movements in net debt for each of the years presented.

(Continued)

maRERERWE ()

(c) FEFHHIK (B)
7885 7S % P T 4E B 6 T 9

1 K B B

8- (@

Other
assets Liabilities from financing activities
Hitng & REEHNEE
Cash
and cash Bank Lease
equivalents  Dividends borrowings liabilities Total
ReRHAE
E3kty) (3! RITEE HERE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET AT FTAET FTAET
Net debt as at 1 April 2021 RIZZ-FNF—HWEERE 127,790 - (138,550) (9,537) (20,297)
Non cash - dividend declared FRE-BERKE - 48,414 - - 48,414
Cash flows RERE 17,617 (48,414) (67,450) 3,793 (95,046)
Derecognition — leases RIEER-HE - - - 2,804 2,804
Foreign exchange adjustments SNERE (3,750) - - (12) (3,170)
Net debt as at 31 March 2022 RZE__&#=A=+—AK
BEE 141,657 - (206,000) (2,952) (67,295)
Net cash as at 1 April 2020 RIZZZFENA—BNERSE 128,459 = (67,750) (10,917) 49,792
Non cash — dividend declared FRE-BERKE - 22,679 = = 22,679
Cash flows Reng (13,742) (22,679) (70,800) 30,337 (76,884)
Acquisition - leases WE-HE - - - (30,177) (30,177)
Derecognition - leases RIFER-HE - - - 1,220 1,220
Foreign exchange adjustments SMNERE 13,073 - - - 13,073
Net debt as at 31 March 2021 RIZZ-EZA=+—HK
REH 127,790 - (138,550) (9,537) (20,297)
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37 BFKiE
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had the following RIEZ_FRIZBEZI—F=ZB=+—
capital commitments: B AxEEE FTHERKIE
2022 2021
—EC BT 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFET
Contracted but not provided for: BRI AERERE
— Property, plant and equipment —E--BERZE 2,591 18,498
— Investment in Huizhou Jiayifu —-REMNEEEZKRE 4,510 4,510
7,101 23,008

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had contingent liabilities
in respect of financial guarantees of HK$10,000,000
(2021: HK$10,000,000) and RMB114,000,000 (2021:
RMB78,000,000), which was equivalent to HK$136,800,000
(2021: HK$97,500,000) for banking facilities granted to its
associate and joint venture respectively. The Group assessed
the risk of default of an associate and a joint venture at the
end of the reporting period and recognised an aggregate loss
allowance of HK$4,478,000 was recognised as at 31 March
2022 (2021: HK$2,521,000).

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
“"MPF Scheme”).
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme managed by

the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the

an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
Group and its employees makes monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% to 10% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(CONTINUED)

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its
employees in the PRC. The Group contributes approximately
7% to 12% of the basic salaries of its employees, and has
no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. The
state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

For employees in Vietnam, the Group contributes to state-
sponsored employees’ social insurance scheme at 18% of the
basic salaries of the subsidiary’s employees, subject to a cap.
The state-sponsored social insurance scheme is responsible for
the pension obligations payable to retired employees.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount
of the Group's contributions to the aforementioned pension
schemes were approximately HK$17,475,000 (2021:
HK$12,355,000). No forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contributions) under the MPF scheme is available
to reduce the contribution payable in current year and future
years.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2022, 38.62% (2021: 38.80%) of the total
issued shares of the Company is owned by Superior View Inc., a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and 18.82%
(2021: 18.91%) of the total issued shares of the Company is
owned by Billion Linkage Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling parties of the
Group are Dr. Ng Chi Ho, a director of the Company, and Ms.
Lee Wai Fun, wife of Dr. Ng Chi Ho, respectively.
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40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
(a) Transactions with an associate

40 BRAEALRS (8B)
(a) BBMERARZRH

2022 2021

g TET—fF

HK$000 HK$'000

FHT TFET

Sales of goods to Mobilogix mIMobilogixi§ & & & 16,868 3,253
Goods are sold at prices mutually agreed by the Group REEREEBBREF ERULEHER

and its related parties in the ordinary course of business.

(b)

Key management compensation

REBREATHEREZERE

€= o
=

(b) FEEIEEIRM

The aggregate remuneration of key personnel TEEEBABZHFNEBEEIES
management, including amounts paid to the Company’s NERBEERETER +§F1EEZ
directors and certain of the highest paid employees, as FIE (MM sE34 K354 &) » &5 W
disclosed in Notes 34 and 35, is as follows: 1S G
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Salaries and other short-term e kEMEIREERT
employee benefits 22,995 17,036
Post-employment benefits BB EE 982 879
23,977 17,915

(c) Year-end balances with related parties

(c) BIRRZEANLTZFRER

2022 2021

—e—-—& —z_-—=#

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

Amounts due from associates JFE Wi Bt = A B FR I8 1,789 1,106
Amount due from a joint venture & Ut — 5] FENE 6,000 =

The terms of balances with related parties are disclosed in
Notes 11 and 12.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board
of Directors on 27 June 2022 and was signed on its behalf.

Ng Chi Ho
REE
Director

EF

41 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT L1 BRSIZEEERRREEE
OF THE COMPANY g
Balance sheet of the Company TAFRIZEE&AR
31 March 31 March
Note 2022 2021
—EF T —
Kz =ZB=+—H =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RWE ARz s 68,166 68,166
Deferred tax assets IRILFRIEE EE 139 280
68,305 68,446
Current assets MENEE
Trade and other receivables FE U B 5 AR =R EAth FE W =R 1B 304 995
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN EPNEIERE! 127,060 142,430
Cash and cash equivalents BeERIBEEEBY 1,750 1,862
129,114 145,287
Total assets BEHEE 197,419 213,733
Current liabilities RENEE
Trade and other payables e & 5 BR A K ELfth FE I =R 18 3,558 3,529
Total liabilities =Ri=pck 3,558 3,529
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners EATEE ANEE#EE
of the Company
Share capital &N 28,479 28,349
Other reserves HhzE (a) 156,426 155,402
Retained earnings RE BT (a) 8,956 26,453
Total equity HEm AR KB 193,861 210,204
Total equity and liabilities EEkEEEEE 197,419 213,733

ARBEERBBRENR ZZE-__FXA
“t+tHESESEeHE - THTIES

REEE-

Ma Fung On
BE%Z
Director

EF
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BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Note (a) reserve movement of the Company

41 FRARZEERARRMHEEGE
2 (48)

fizE(a) B AR HEEH

Share-based

Share Contributed compensation Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
R {7 1 7%
R iEE BARE R 1 RERF EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FTET FAET FET FAET
As at 1 April 2020 RZ2ZZEME—H 88,841 64,872 2,451 48,578 204,742
Employee share option scheme: (BEBERE3)
Valuation of employee services BEMR# 2 BE - - 91 = 91
Options expired BRIz ERE - = (853) 853 =
Loss for the year FREE - - S (299) (299)
Dividends paid BRKRE - - = (22,679) (22,679)
As at 31 March 2021 RZZ2Z-§=A=+-H 88,841 64,872 1,689 26,453 181,855
As at 1 April 2021 R_E2_—ENA—H 88,841 64,872 1,689 26,453 181,855
Employee share option scheme: {EEEBRETE
Proceeds from shares issued ~ {T1EBBIRIER 21T RR1DEY
upon exercise of options FriSaIa 1,743 - - - 1,743
Transfer of reserve upon TEEREREEEAE
exercise of options 130 - (130) - -
Options expired BRI ERE - - (719) 719 =
Profit for the year FERiER - - - 30,198 30,198
Dividends paid BRKRE - - = (48,414) (48,414)
As at 31 March 2022 RZBZZ&=A=+-H 90,714 64,872 840 8,956 165,382
Note: k=

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal amount of
shares issued and the book value of the underlying net assets of subsidiaries

acquired in return.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due,
or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of

its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42 EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

In April 2022, Mobilogix received a proposal provided by an
independent investor for the acquisition of the entire issued
share capital of Mobilogix, which is accounted for by the Group
as an interest in associate (the “Proposed Transaction”). Up to
the date of the report, Mobilogix is in the process of discussing
and agreeing the final terms of the agreement of the Proposed
Transaction with the counterparties. Upon the completion of
the Proposed Transaction, the interest in Mobilogix amounting
to approximately HK$13,862,000 as at 31 March 2022 will be
derecognised.

Save as disclosed above, there were no material subsequent
events from 31 March 2022 up to the date of this report.

42

B %5 ¥R 2R Bd 5

HEHRER

RZZZ"FMA > MobilogixiZ &1L
KREHRHEUWEMobilogix (HAEREA
RARBELABNER) 22 ETR
gz ((BEX5)) BEERSHE
Mobilogix EE XX ZH Feim M B EEZ
RaMNERER - RNEZXZTHRE R
“EZZF=HB=+—HMMobilogix#
e 4913,862,0008 T S EUH D ©

BREXKREEIN B-F__F=8
—t+—HEEEXARSHHEHEERH
BEE-
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFEMBHBE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —ZE - _F=H=+—HIFFEZ

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated assets
and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out

below:

FEBRBTERLEMBFEEZGSFEBELU KA

GEERBEHEBHIWOT -

For the year ended 31 March
BE-A=t-HLEE

S

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
e\ ZZ-AF CT-BF _-P_—&£ | Z®IC
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FTER FTER FET FERT
Consolidated results IREEE
Revenue W 1,510,504 1,681,862 1,615,183 2,101,573 1,855,875
Operating profit ES=pavil 82,934 65,524 34,534 102,083 75,933
Profit before income tax BRErERAE A 79,584 60,011 29,124 92,004 63,231
Income tax expense PSS (6,047) (4,900) (1,586) (12,388) (6,442)
Profit attributable to the owners of KATEE AEEER
the Company 74,111 55,557 27,705 79,274 56,465
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
“2-\f IZZ-hF _B-2F _ZT_—§ I"BI-&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET T T#ER
Consolidated assets and liabilities HAEERER
Land use rights TR E 51,994 48,849 = = -
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEKRERE 297,178 261,580 225,266 300,910 297,115
Right-of-use assets FRESE - - 76,458 95,941 87,393
Intangible assets BYEE 3,319 2,681 = = =
Goodwill S 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates REE N2 @ 3,623 = 25,311 26,338 16,128
Interest in a joint venture R—BeegtErEn = = 6,919 7,862 7,547
Deferred income tax assets BEMBREE 1,782 2,330 1,314 1,950 1,066
Available-for-sale financial asset RHENBEE 6,242 = = = =
Financial assets at fair value through BATEZAEMEZE
other comprehensive income WAZHEEE - 6,910 5,266 6,004 5,888
Financial assets at fair value through BATETZABR2HH
profit or loss - long term BE-RH 3,757 25,576 = = =
Loans receivable EREWIE = 1,063 266 = =
Amount due from an associate e —RBE AR A - = 8,500 = =
Non-current prepayments, deposit and ~ JEREITBTZUE B K
other receivables EEWHIE 3,074 13,374 13,897 8,505 14,959
Current assets RBEE 690,294 676,356 630,816 875,157 899,211
Current liabilities Pk IR (329,344) (317,661) (287,583) (519,735) (500,798)
Net current assets MEEESE 360,950 358,695 343,233 355,422 398,413
Total assets less current liabilities BELERRDEE 735,868 725,007 710,379 806,881 832,458
Long term borrowings REBEE (3,759) = = = (21,250)
Lease liabilities HEEE - = (5,112) (4,430) (1,161)
Deferred income tax liabilities FLFERas (504) (357) (426) (283) (88)
Total equity R 731,605 724,650 704,841 802,168 809,959
252 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/22
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